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Next 15 agencies work with some of the most
innovative and exciting companies in the world.
Our customers are asking more of their business
partners and our agencies are well positioned

to respond. The ability to understand customers,
brands and markets in order to deploy data,
technology and creativity to build profitable
sales is what Next 15 agencies bring to clients,
be they market leaders or disruptors.
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Financial highlights

Net revenue

£224.1mM 4y

19 £2241m
128 . £196.8m
17 €171.0m

Adjusted diluted earnings per share

33.1p viox

o] 331p
18 27.8p
17 234p

Dividend per share

7.56p +20%

19 756p
18 - 6.30p
17 5.25p

Adjusted profit before tax

£36.0m +23x

19 £36.0m
18 £€29.3m
17 £242m

Adjusted measures are reconciled to the statutory results In notes 2, 5 and 10 o the financial statemenls.

Net cash from operating activities

£32.1m +30%

19 £321m
18 £24.6m
17 £30.9m

Statutory profit for the year

£14.5m +s6x
19 £14.5m

18 £9.3m
17 £17m
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At a glance

Emp.loyees
1,979

2Mm8:1.782
2017:1,610

Offices
50

2018: 56
20M7:35

Countries
14

2018:14
201714

Our business

There are many marketing agency groups. Some showcase
flamboyant creativity. Others give the impression that only number
crunching counts. What makes Next 15 different is the unique way
we blend both approaches to create what's next in marketing.
We are passionate about creating marketing and communications
initiatives that get noticed, and we are precisely focused on delivering
marketing and communications that get results.

Our brands and sectors
Next 15 aims to become the warld's fargest and most respected
data and technology-ted marketing group. To do this, the Group
continues to build a portfolio of businesses that cater to the different
needs of the various market sectors and geecgraphies in which
it operates. At the same time, the Group seeks to attract the
best talent in the industry by creating excellent career paths that
enable people to take part in international business and, where
appropriate, help with the formation of new Group businesses,
new service divisions, or new international locations.

Next 15 remains ambitious and is committed to expanding the
international presence of its existing brands, with the possibility
of further acquisitions if the strategic fit and vaiue is compelling.

See page 3 for a list of our brands or find out mare about our
brands at www.next15.com/portfolio.

Our clients

We work with some of the biggest brands in technology and beyond
including Apple, Cisco, Googte, Hasbro, Marrictt, Microsaft, Sony,
Telefénica Digital and YouTube. We have an extraordinary track
record in retaining business in the lang term too because we keep
them ahead of whatever's next in an age of unprecedented change.

Making brands famous is in our DNA and is behind our name,
the origin of which was expiained by Tim Dyson: “Everyone will
be famous for 15 minutes, but we care about what happens next.”



We continue to place the highest priority on
retaining an outstanding and diverse pool of talent.
However keen the strategy, it will succeed only if
the right people are in the right roles, appropriately
incentivised and, importantly, working for the right
clients. So, working with best in class customers,

or businesses committed to becoming best in class,
is a big part of what makes our Group special.



Chairman’s statement

Cur resultsthisyear were good, Revenues and profits have
againreached record levels. Net revenues were 13.9% up
to £2241m (2018; £196.8m) while adjusted profit before
tax rose by 22.9% to £36.0m (2018; £29.3m). Statutory
revenue rose 16.5%t0 £272.4m (2018:£233.9m) and statutary
operating profitrose 20.3%to £207m {2018: £17.2m). Fully
diluted adjusted earnings per share rose by 191%to 331p
and basic earnings per share rose by 50.9% to 17.5p.

Like lastyear, these results were influenced by several
factors: strong organic growth alongside additional well-
executed acquisitions. Organic growth remained well ahead
ofindustry averages at 6.4%. This number masks greater
progress inour data and technology-led businesses and
overthe coming years, 85 these businesses become a
larger part of cur portfolio, we see organic growth that
should remain comfortably ahead of industry averages.

During the year the Group continued to make structural
changes to enhance the rolling reinvention of the Group.
We added Technical Associates Group to expand our
Pubiitek business. We added Activate and Planning-ing
as new stand-alone data-led entities. We also added
Wealth-X to what is now Savanta, the new name for
MIG, which now houses all our research businesses.
We also moved Connections Media to become part of
CutCast. Lastly, we took the big step of merging our
very first business, Text 100, with cur second agency,
Bite, to create Archetype. Through Archetype we aim
to create a new type of global agency.

We continue to place the highest priority on retaining an
outstanding and diverse pocl of talent. However keen
the strategy. it will succeed only if the right people are in
the right roles, appropriateiy incentivised and, importantly,
working for the right clients. So, working with bestin class
customers, or businesses commitiedio becoming bestin
class, is a big pant of what makes our Group special. | am
therefore proud to say that we added Beiersdorf, Capital
One and Pearson to the client list this year.

At Next 15 we believe that diversity and inclusian
are cruchal to our long-term success. We believe that
a diverse workforce is not just a social good but a
commercial advantage. As a result, we will continue
to put a strong emphasis on fair practices in aur hiring
and talent developiment.

GDPR legisiation in Europe has had a positive impact
on the marketing industry in that abuses of customers’
personal privacy have been defined and outlawed. We
believe the impact of this regulation has yet to settle
fully but it is encouraging to see our clients embrace
leading-edge data science while also respecting the
privacy of the users who genecated that data.

Observations about the scale of business disruption are
no longer original, but 1 am struck by the seriousness
with which responsible businesses are now questioning
the resilience of established approaches to markets.
Geopalitical instability, social change and technological
progress only add to the sense that ‘tried and tested’
cannot be trusted.

Next 15 agencies work with some of the most innovative
and exciting companies inthe world. Againstthis backdrop
of uncertainty. our customers are asking more of their
business partners and our agencies are well positioned
to respond. The ability to understand customers, brands
and markets in order to deploy data, technology and
creativity to build profitable sales iswhat Next 15 agencies
bring fo clients, be they market leaders or disruptors.

In truth, some still hire us at the very end of the
development life-cycle to present their brand to the
market. However, our most productive interactions occur
further upstream, before preduct or service design has
become a fait sccompli. Taking the money to polish
up average products is not what Next 15 is best at and
| believe this is why the Group is prospering.

Looking to the year ahead, { ampleasedtorepart thatthe
business remains well placed to deliver further growth
both organically and through judicious acquisition. As
long-standing shareholders wilt know, the Board is averse
tonigh levels of debt, so we are encouragedto sge the
strength ofthe Company's balance sheet atthe year end.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, [ would like to thank
the roughly 2,000 people who make up Next 15. itis
their hard work, creativity and ingenious use of data
and technolcgy that delivered these resulis and that
make the Group what it is today.

Richard Eyre CBE
Chairman
2 April 2019
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Next 15 continues to reinvent itself. We do this
because standing still would lead to our demise and
because it is what our customers — and our people —
want and need. In truth there are very few businesses
that can simply find a winning formula and then sit
back. Almost every company on the planet has to
innovate. Innovation means rethinking what problem
it is that you solve for the customer. This challenge

is a huge one, but thanks to technology and data,

it is one that we are starting to solve.



Chief Executive Officer’s statement

Dear Sharehoider,

Next 15 continues to reinvent itself. We do thisbecause
standing still would lead to our demise and because
it is what our customers — and our people — want
and need. In truth there are very few businesses that
can simply find a winning formula and then sit back.
Almost every company on the planet has to innovate.
Innovation means rethinking what problem it Is that
you solve for the customer. It means looking for friction
and pain paints in the system and deciding how best
o remove them. in our case this means asking what
frustrates businesses the most about their marketing. In
almost every case frustration lies in the unpredictability
of costly marketing projects — that they do not know
until they have run a campaign whether they spent
their budget as effectively as possible. This challenge
is @ huge one but, thanks to technology and data, it is
one that we are starting to socive.

Next 15 has changed a great deal inthe last five years.
We have built a set of data businesses that now account
for 10% of owr net revenue, Five years ago, that was
less than 1%. We have also built a set of technology-led
businesses that account for 30% of our net revenue.
Five years ago, they counted for 12% of our net revenue.
Our brand marketing revenues have also grown but far
maore stowly as we look to evolve them from being content
delivery businesses into more strategic consultancies
that offer deeper corporate marketing and creative
content services. This will take time but | am excited
about where it will take us.

But these changes to our business are just the start.
Better marketing starts with the best companies and
the best products, Going forward we have to challenge
aurselves to help our customers be the best versions of
themselves they canbe. This will require us to challenge
clients to make changes to their businesses, using our
skills not merely to make their products as attraciive
as possible to the buyer. Instead we will be helping
them make the product the best possible selution to a
customer’s challenge, needs and desire. In the words
of the old epithet, we will not be putting lipstick on the
pig; we will be helping them redesign the pig.

To drive this, the Group will invest in businesses that
understand how to help companies undergo this level
of change. In some cases, we wili be helping clients to
reinvent the very business model they have, not just
the brand that goes around it. This will be a multi-year
strategy for Next 15 but | believe it will resultin stronger
and deeper relationships with our customers that will
drive higher levels of engagement and thus revenues.

The last year has been another good one for the Group.
We have again delivered record revenues and profits.
We have aiso added some exciting businesses to the
Group such as Activate and Planning-inc. Lastly, we have
mmade moves to simplify our Group with Connecticns
Media becoming a part of OutCast, and Text 100 and
Hite merging to become Archetype. In short, we have
a strong platform for continued growth in the coming
years. Qur growth and prospects are despite Brexit, the
turmeil in US politics, trade wars, Russian meddling in
elections and the slowdown in the Chinese economy.
Imagine haw well we, and others, could be doing without
these headwinds?

Intruth, | believe that businesses that grow up in these
times wilf be more resilient, more innovative and more
thoughtful about the responsibilities they have to the
communities they serve and the world we live in. In
other words, | am excited about the future we have
as a Group. We are undaunted by the geopolitical
headwinds and | am confident that, as we look to the
future, we are well placed to solve the very challenge
our customers ask of us; make them the best they can
be and let the world know it.

Tim Dyson
Chief Executive Officer
2 April 2018
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Business model

Our vision

Next 15 believes the fuluire of marketing lies inits ability to drive business goals. Marketing
that simply makes brands more attractive isn't enough. Marketing needs to ensure
the organisation is solving its customers' pain points, needs and wanis with the best
possible sclution and through the best possible experiences. It needs to use data and
technology to predict and evaluate the best ways to interact with its audiences and
creativity to demonstrate its personality, values and relevance. Marketing needs to leave
the organisation better than it found it.

Our business services
Next 15 agencies offer one, or a combination, of these business services to some of the
most innovative and exciting companies in the world.

Data

Technology X

Brand marketing

Innovation
consulting



Strategy

Jo build a portfolio of businesses that cater to the different needs of the various market
sectors and gecgraphies in which Next 15 operates.

To attract the best talent in the industry by creating excelient career paths that enable
people to take part in international business and, where appropriate, help with the
formation of new Group businesses, new service divisions, or new internationat lpcations.

Three objectives

1 Build and buy technelogy-enabled brand marketing and data businesses.

2 Leverage strength of US businesses and their relationships with high growth campanies,
3 Drive higher ievel consulting around business-critical activities.

Principles

Data

Data and analytics are increasingly embedded across the
Group; we believe that over time this will drive growth
in our technology and brand marketing businesses as
customers' marketing activities increasingly utilise these
tools to predict campaign success and spend levels,

Innovation consulting

Innovation consulting involves understanding change to
seek out and resolve friction in customer relationships.
Marketing can no Ionger simply put the best face on
a company. To be effective it has to help redesign the
cempany and its products so that it can succeed. As
a business we are keen to move away from simply
putting lipstick on the pig and towaras a business that
is helping design the pig. ’

Brand marketing

The body of content. ideas and expectations surrounding
a product is what constitutes & brand. Developing digital
centent that travels gracefully across technaiogy platform,
‘app andlanguage is essential to consistent brand marketing.

Technology

Technology is now the essential partner of even the
biggest creative idea. By utilising the right platforms
and technologies, businesses can now serve up the
right content to the right pecple at the right time without
the need for a traditional set of marketing activities.
Furthermore, as Google, Facebook and Amazonincrease
their reach to consumers, the ability of agencies to
understand the best ways to use their platforms becomes
increasingly important.

Approach to acquisitions: strength and success
We deliver consistently good resuits for investors because
we stay true to our principles. These include building
a group of businesses that organically fit together,
are passionate sbout what they do, and have strong
leadership teams empowered to pursue their own
vision of success.

Invest in the best talent

Qur people are at the heart of everything we do,
As a Group we focus on the ‘who’ before the ‘what'
This principle, espolused by the author Jim Collins,
creates a different way of running a Group. In essence
it pushes you to trust key talent to drive their business
in the direction they believe is best, instead of the
Group telling leaders what is best.

Growth in core markets

Next 15 will continue to develop its existing brands and
make acquisitions where the strategic fit and value is
compelling. Inthe last few years the bulk of the Group's
efforts have been around strengthening our UK and
LS businesses as we believe these markets will drive
cur long-term success.

Diversity and inclusion

Next 15 believes that a diverse workforce is not just a
social good, but 8 commerclal advantage. Fair practices
in hiring and talent development, as well as maintaining
safe and supportive agency cultures, are key to the
Group's success and the encouragement of diverse
voices within it.

uoday oiBajeng
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The last 12 months have been a period of significant
progress and change across the Group. We have
grown our total group net revenues by almost 14%
and by 6.4% on an organic basis, whilst increasing
the operating profit margin to a record 16.5%.



Financial review

Key performance indicatars

Another year of significant progress

across the Group

We have had another strong year oftrading with our key
mesasures of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted profitbefore
income tax both increasing by over 20%, whilst we have
significantly strengthened our data and analytic capabilities
and invested in our technaology agencies, alongside
simplifying our portfolio of brand marketing agencies.

{n total for the 12 months to 31 January 2019, the Group
delivered net revenue of £224.1m, adjusted operating
profit of £37.0m, adjusted profit before income tax aof
£36.0m and adjusted diluted earnings per share of 331p.
This compares with net revenue of £196.8m, adjusted
operating profit of £30.0m, adjusted profit before incame
tax of £29.3m and adjusted diluted earnings per share
of 27.8p for the 12 months to 31 January 2018.

Year to Year to

31 January 31 January
2019 208 Growth
Adjusted results £m £&m %
Net revenue 2241 166.8 13.5%
EBITDA 417 344 21.2%
Operating profit 370 30.0 23.3%

Operating profit margin 16.5% 15.3%
Profit befare income tax 36.0 293 22.5%

Tax rate on adjusied profit 20.0% 200%
Diluted earnings per share 331p 278p 191%

Statutory results

Revenue 272.4 2339 16.5%
Operating profit 207 7.2 20.3%
Prafit before income tax 188 133 41.4%
Diluted eamings per share 16.3p 10.5p 55.2%

In order to assist shareholders' understanding of
the underlying performance of the business, | have
focused my comments on the adjusted performance
of the business for the 12 months to 31 January 2019
compared with the 12 months to 31 January 2018.
Thie commentary refers to financial measures which
hnave been adjusted 1o take account of items which
are nat related to underlying trading in the current
yearincluding amortisation, impairments, brand equity
incentive schemes, restructuring charges and certain

otheritems. The Group also presents netrevenue which
is calculated as revenue less direct costs as shown
on the consolidated income statement.

Statutory revenue for the year, which has been restated
for the impact of IFRS 15 on the Group, was £272.4m
{2018: £233.9m) which resulted in profit before income
tax of £18.8m, compared with £13.3m in the prior year.
Diluted earnings per share were 16.3p, compared with
10.5p in the previous year.

voday nbaleng
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Financial review continued

Adjusted operating profit Netdebt
£37.0m :23.3% £5.2m

19 £37.0m 19 £5.2m
18 £30.0m 18

17 £25.0m 7

Review of adjusted results to 31 January 2019
Group profit and loss account

The last 12 months have been a period of significant
progress and change across the Group. We have grown
our total group net revenues by almost 14% and by 6.4%
on an organic basis, whilst increasing the operating
profitmargin to arecord 16.5%. Our Twogether, Savanta,
M Booth and Publitek agencies have been stand out
performers, whilst we have achieved solid periormances
pretty much across the portfolio.

Statutory profit before income tax

£18.8m +41.4x

19
£1.6m 18 £133m
E1.4m W £29m

In addition, we have implernented a number of operational
improvements including the merger of our Text and
Bite agencies and their relaunch under the Archetype
brand. Also, we consolidated our market research
agencies under the Savanta brand. This has had the
benefit of simplifying the group's cperating structure
as well as increasing our underlying operating margin,

The Group adjusted operating margin increased to
16.5% from 15.3% in the prior year.

Reconciliation of adjusted operating profit to stotutory operating profit

Yearto Year to

31 January 31 January

2019 2018

£m €m

Adjusted operating profit 370 300
Share-based payment charge and charges associated with equity transactions

accounied for as share-based payments {24) (31

Deal costs (0.6) 0.5

Costs assacisted with restructuring {a.4) {17)

Charge associated with office moves {0.2) 05)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (9.0 7.0}

207 172

Statutory operating orofit

Adjusted results represent the audlted performance, adjusted to axclude amortisation, restructuring charges, brand equily Incentive schemes,
movements in acquisition-related cansideralion and certaln other items. They are reconciled to the statuiory results In notes 2 and 5 ta the

finandial statements,

We incurred £1.3m of share-based payment charges
on new growth shares for M Booth, ODD, Savanta,
Encore and Twogether and £0.8m in relation to
employment-related acquisition payments.

We incurred £0.6m of deal costs in relation to acquisitions.

We incurred £4.4m of restructuring costs in relationto
the merger of Text and Bite and their relaunch under
the Archetype brand, the ¢ensolidation of our market
research activities under the Savanta brand and further
restructuring in the US agencies.

Amortisation of acquired intangibles was £9.0m in
the period.

£18.8m



Net revenue bridge (Em)

240

230

220

210

200

190

+H9.7 . {2.8)

Taxation

The adjusted effective tax rate onthe Group's adjusted
profit for the year to 31 January 2019 was at a rate of
20%, compared to the statutory rate of 23%. The adjusted
effective tax rate was the same as the rate achieved in
the previous period as we continued to benefit from a
higher proportion of aur profit coming from lower tax
regimes such as the UK and the successful resolution
of a number of historical tax queries.

Geographical review

The Group believes that 20% is a sustainable long-term
Effective Tax Rate for Next15. The Group does not have any
opentax audits, nor does it have any complex structures
in place to manage its taxes which could give rise to
future challenges from tax or competition authorities.

Earnings

Diluted adjusted earnings per share has increased by
19% to 33.1p for the year to 31 January 2019 compared
with 27.8p achieved in the prior period, as a result of
improved profitability.

2244
H01% 1.5
0.5% +13.9%

+2.5

£6.4%
(27
196.8 {1.1%)

Year to 31 January 2018 Discontinued Organic growth Acquisitions Foreign exchange Yearto 31 January 2019

UK EMEA Lsa APAC Head office Total
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Year ended 31 January 2019
Net revenue 83,528 8,735 17,911 13,919 — 224,093
Organic net revenue growth' 15.6% 73% 2.8% {21%) — 6.4%
Adjusted operating profit 20,482 1,504 22,047 2,207 (9,284) 36,956
Adjusted operating margin? 24.5% 7.2% 18.7% 15.9% 16.5%
Year ended 3t January 2018
Net revenue 58329 7851 115,941 14,690 — 195,811
Grganic revenue growth 7.6% 3.4% 51% (07%) -— 5.2%
Adjusted operating profit 12,984 752 231814 2,002 {8,893) 30,026
Adjusted operating margin 223% 9.6% 20.0% 136% 15.3%

1 Organic growth Is the constant curency growth for the 12 months to 31 January 2019 compared to the 12 months 1o
31 January 2018, excluding the impact of acquisitions until they have been In the Group for more than one year.

2 Adjusted opevating profit margin Is calculated as the margin an net revenue.

us

Our US businesses have continued to perform steadily
ted by our M Baoth and former Bite brands, with Activate,
our most recent scquisition, performing very well. In
the year to 31 January 2019, total US net revenues
grew by 17% to £117.9m from £115.9m which equated
to an organic growth rate of 2.8%, taking account of

movements in exchange rates. Organic growth has been
impacted in the shart-term by the merger of Text and Bite.
We incurred £2.2m inrestructuring costs pursuant to the
merger of Text and Bite and afurther £0.8m of restructuring
costs in the US generally. The adjusted operating profit
from our LIS businesses was £22.0m compared with
£23.2m in the previeus 12 months te 31 January 2018.

1oday 2iBaleng
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Financial review continued

UK

The UK businesses have delivered a very strong performance
over the last 12 months, with net revenue increasing by
43.2% to £83.5m from £58.3m in the prior pericd. This
growth was parily due to a busy pericd onthe acquisitions
front, but we also delivered organic net revenue growth
in the UK of 15.5% with exceptionally strong performances
from our Twogether and Savanta agencies. The adjusted
operating profitincreasedto £20.5m from £13.0min the
prior year with the adjusted operating margin increasing
to 24.5% from 22.3% in the prior period.

In July we acquired Technical, 8 B2B content marketing
agency with a focus on technology clients, and mergedit
with Publitek, and in January 2013 we acquired Planning-inc,
a data science business focused onthe consumer sector.

EMEA

We have delivered a solid trading performance in EMEA
as we have continued to focus our efforts on markets of
potential scale. Netrevenue increased by 11.3%to £8.7m
{2018: £7.9m) and adjusted operating profitincreased to
£1.5m at an improved adjusted operating margin of 17.2%.

APAC

Net revenue decreased by 5.2% to £13.9m (2018:
£147m), however the operating margin increased to
15.9% from 13.6% in the prior period and the operating
profit increased to £2.2m {2018: £2.0m).

Segmental review

In order to assist shareholders' understanding of the
key growth drivers of the Group, we have enhanced
the disclosure of the Group's performance to include
an analysis of the results by operational segment.
We have prepared the analysis by three operational
segments, namely Brand Marketing, Data and Analytics
and Creative Technology-

Brand Marketing

This segmentincludes our Archetype, OutCast, M Boath,
Blueshirt and Publitek agencies. During the year we
merged our former Text and Bite agencies and then
retaunched themin February 2019 under the Archetype
brand. We also merged the former Connections Media
agency with QutCast. In July 2018 we acquired Technical
and merged it into Publitek. The segment produced
resilient earnings, despite the planned restructuring
actions, led by our M Booth and Publitek agencies.
Total net revenue reduced by 1.1% to £133.2m with an
organic growth of 01% but the adjusted operaling profit
increased by 7.7% to £29.6m at animproved operating
margin of 22.2%,

Data and Analytics

This segmentincludes Savanta, Encere and our recently
acquired Activate and Planning-inc agencies. Dusing the
year we merged all of our market research brands and
relaunched them in January 2019 under the Savanta
hrand. In November 2018 we acquired the LJS-based
lead generation agency Activate and in January 2019
we acquired the data science agency Planning-inc,
The segment produced an outstanding performance
with net revenue growing by 67.3% to £23.2m with
organic growth of 30.6% and delivered operating profit
of £7.2m at an operating margin of 30.9%.

Creative Technology

This segment includes our ODD, Elvis, Brandwidth, Beyond,
Twogether, Agent3 and Velocity agencies. Brandwidth
was acquired in February 2018. The segment delivered
a strong performance with Twogether and Beyond UK
excelling. Overall the segment delivered net revenue
growth of 40.3% to £677m with organic net revenue
growth of 17.0%. The adjusted operating profitincreased
by 19.4%to £9.5m at an operating profit margin of 14.0%.

Brand Data and Crealive Head
Markeling Anatytics Technology office Total

£000 £'000 £000 £000 £1000
Year ended 31 January 2019 ) ’
Net revenue 133,163 23,209 67721 —_ 224,093
Crganic net revenue growth 0% 30.6% 17.0% — 6.4%
Adjusted operating profit 29,580 FAVA 9,489 {9,284) 36,956
Adjusted operating margin 22.2% 30.9% 14.0% - 16.5%
Year ended 31 January 2018
Net revernue 134,678 13,869 48,264 — 196,811
Organic net revenue growth - 1.0% 48.5% 12.2% — 5.2%
Adjusted operating profit ] 27465 3509 7845 (8.893) 30,026
Adjusted aperating margin 204% 25.3% 16.5% — 15.3%




Cash flow
Year to Year lo
31 January 3 January
2018 2018
Cash fiow KPIs €m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 372 331
Changes in working capital 12 a2)
Net cash generated from operations 38.4 289
Income tax paid {6.2) 4.3)
Investing activities (37.2) (19.4)
Dividend paid to shareholders (5.2) 4.4
Neit {decrease)increase in bank borrowings {10.9) 4.5
Proceeds from share placing 19.5 —~

The net cash inflow from operating activities before
changes in working capitatl for the year to 31 January
2019 increased to £37.2m from £33.m in the prior period.
Our management of working capital improved with a
small inflow from working capital. This resuited in our
net cash generated from operations before tax being
£38.4m (2018: £28.9m). Income taxes paid increased to
£6.2m from £4.3min the prior year reflecting increased
Group profitability.

Our strong cash flow, anincreased £60m bank facility
and a £20m cash placing from shareholders have
allowed us to continue to invest in acquisitions, Cur
investment in acguisitions inciudes the acquisitions of
Technical, Activate and Planning-inc and the settlement
of contingent consideration to Encore. The increase in
investing activities to £37.2m also reflects the funding
of property moves in London and New York.

Dividends paig to Next 15 shareholders increased
to £5.2m from £4.1m in the prior period reflecting the
strong trading and our confidence in the future. Net
imterest paid to the Group's banks increased due 1o
higher borrowings to approximately £1.2m {2018: £0.8m).

Balance sheet

The Group's balance sheet remains in a very healthy
position with net debt as at 31 January 2019 of only
£5.2m (2018: £11.6m), representing C.12x adjusted EBITDA.

Treasury and funding

The Group operates a £60m revolving credit facility
{'RCF") with HSBC available until July 2022, having
extended it in February 2018 to include a £20m term
loan. The £40m facility is primarify used for acquisitions
and is due to be repaid from the trading cash flows
of the Group. The facility is available in a combination
of sterling, US dollar and euro at an interest margin
dependent upon the level of gearing in the business,
The term loan of £20m has been fully drawn down
and is repayable in equal annual instalments; the last
repaymentis due in December 2021. The Group also
has a US facility of $7m {2018: $6m) which is available
for property rental guarantees and US-based working
capital needs.

As part of the facilities agreement, Next 15 has ta comply
with a number of covenants, including maintaining the
muitipfe of net bank debt before earn-out obiigations
to adjusted EBITDA below 175x and the level of net
bank debt inciuding earn-out obtligations to adjusted
EBITDA below 2.5x, Next 15 has ensured that it has
complied with all of its covenant abligations with
significant headroom.

Pgter Harris
Chief Financial Officer
2 April 2019
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How we manage our risks

Next 15 is exposed to a variety of risks {both threats
and opportunities) ihat can have financial, cperational
and regulatory impacts on our business performance,
reputation and prosperity. The Board recognises that
creating shareholder retumns is the reward for taking
and accepting risk. The effective management of risk
is therefore critical to supporting the delivery of the
Group's strategic objectives.

Risk management

The focus of the Risk Management Framework is the
annusl risk assessment. The assessment is performed
by brand menagement at an operating company level
and by Next 15 senicr leaders for the Group-wide risks.
The outcome of the bottom-up/top-down assessment
is presented to the Board for review and challenge and
includes detailed progress of any action plans agreed
in the prior year to manage the risks.

In addition to providing oversight of the key risk areas
{being customers, peeple and operations, including
information security), the Board also focuses on acquisition
activities, ensuring management understands the risks
involved in acquiring new businesses and that suitable
controls are in place to manage them.

Internal controls

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group's
system of internal control and regularly reviews its
effectiveness in accordance with revised guidance on
internal control published by the Financial Reporting
Council. This control system, which centres around a
supporting set of minimum contrels, is designed to
manage rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and to provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or material loss, that its transactions
are properly autharised and recorded, and that material
errors and irregularities are prevented or, failing which,
are discovered on a timely basis.

Internal audit

The Group's Internal Audit function, which was established
in 2012, provides assurance over the Group's control
anvironment with lead internal auditors in the US and
the UK. The recently appointed Head of Internal Audit
has helped toincrease the independence of the function
and will lead the initiative to transform how internal
audit services are delivered at Next 15.

The results of internai audit activities are reported to
the Audit Committee at each Audit Committee meeting
and the risk-basad Internal Audit Plan is updated as
required to respond to the risks faced by Next 15.

Board oversight

The Board gains assurance over the adequacy of design
and operation of internal controls across the Group
through the following process:

« significant findings from Internal Audit engagements
are reported to management, the Executive Directors
and the Audit Committee. Reporting covers significant
risk exposures and control issues, including fraud
risks, governance issues and other matters needed
or requested by the Board,

+ depending on the risk associated with any weaknesses
noted, recommendations made are followed up and
reported back to the Audit Committee until they are
adequately resolved, and

« Internal Audit independently reviews the risk
identification procedures and control processes
implemented by management and advises on policy
and procedure changes.

During its review of the risk managermentand internal control
systems, the Board has notidentiied nor been advised
of any failings or weaknesses which it has determined
1o be significant. Therefore a cenfirmation in respect of
necessary actions has notbeen considered appropriate.

Whistle blowing and UK Bribery Act 2010

Whistle blowing procedures are in place for individuals
to report suspected breaches of law or regulations
or other malpractice. The Group has iImplemented
an anti-bribery code of conduct which is intended
to extend to all the Group's business dealings and
transactions in &ll countries in which it or its subsidiaries

and associates operate.



Principal risks and uncertainties

The system of risk management used to identify the
principal risks facing the Group is described on page 16.
Risk identification and evaluation, including the nature,
likelihood and materiality of the risks affecting each Group
business, are owned and assessed by management.
The Board and the Audit Committee review risks and
assess and monitor actions to mitigate them.

Risk description

Based on these assessments, the risks outiined below
are those that the Group believes are the principal and
material risks. The matters described below are not
intended to be an exhaustive list of possible risks and
uncertainties and it should be noted that additional
risks, which the Group does not consider material, or
of which itis not aware, could have an adverse impact.

Millgating actions

Operational risk

Cyber security risk

The Group nates the increasedrisk facing companies
with third-party attempts to exploit weaknesses in brand
infrastructure and Software as a Service ('SaaS’), which
is constantly evolving.

Inadequate security controls could tead to business
disruptions, damage to reputation and loss of assets.

The initiative to devetop a more formalised Information Security
Management System {ISMS’), based on ISO 27001, has greatly
increased our ability to monitor and respond to cyber-related
threats. The programmé of works to roll out this system is expected
to be completed in iate 2019. Athird party has also been engaged
to assess the maturity of our cyber defences and to get external
validation that we have identified the major cyber threats and
risks facing Next 15.

The Graup Infarmation Security team continues to monitor
and improve the Group’s IT security in light of the continually
evolving threat.

Reliance on key customers

Losing a major client unexpectedly can have a significant
impact on the resourcing, revenue and profit of an
individual brand. The impact of this will depend on
the brand.

The Group's strategy is to build a portfolio of brands which is
diversified across different communications markets and geographic
regions, As well as growing organically, the Group expands through
acquisitions, which typically increases the diversification of the Group.

Regular client feedback is sought and appropriate steps are taken
to retain existing clients.

The Board regularly reviews the Group's reliance on key customers
through top ten client analysis in the management accounts and
reviews of customers with revenues greater than $1m per annum.

We note that the overall risk for the Group is decreasing and the
Group is not deemed to be overly reliant on any one customer.

Staff retention and reciuitment

The Group relies on highly skilled employees, who are
vital to its success in building and maintaining client
relationships and winning new waork. The market for
these employees is competitive and there is arisk we
are unable to attract or retain the best talent.

The Group is heavily reliant on the talent of the leaders
of the underlying businaesses and losing one of those
individuals could be particularly detrimental.

The Remuneration Committee considers the retention and incentive
mechanisms in place for key personnel at beth brand and Group
level, and reviews remuneration trends across the Group to ensure
we attract and retain the best talent within the Group.

The Group's Human Resources teams seek torecruit skilled employees
and to offer exciting and chaltenging career opportunities with
competitive remuneration ang benefits. Policies are regularly
reviewed to ensure high levels of staff motivation and development,
which in the past year has included a particular focus on diversity
and inclusion across the Group. Where possible the businesses
ensure that client relationships are maintained as & team rather
than by an individual.

yoday oibajens
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk desciption

Mitgaling actons.

Change
T sk

Operational risk continued

Data protection regulation

The Group stores, transmits and relles on critical and
sensiiive data such as personally ldentiflable informallon
and the intellectual property of customers, Security
of this type of data is exposed to escalaling external
threats that are increasing in sophistication as well as
Internal data breaches.

There Is a risk that if the Group has notimplemented
sutable proceduras and updated relevant business
processes, In the event of a securty Incldent it may be
In breach of its regulatery and contractual requirements
leading te fines, damages and reputational damage.

The development of a defined and more robust Information Security
Framework, Including the rallout of new Group-wide policles, has
strangthened our abliity to preserve the integrity of business
Infermation and ensure compllance withlocaliegal requirements.

In preparation far the implementation of GDPR the Group waorked with
external lawyers 1o perform gap anzlyses and provide remediation
plans for each of the UK brands. Remedlation steps included the
gevelopment of persanal data maps and roliout of employes
privacy netices. Our people were also required to undertake
tralning toincrease thelr awareness and understangding ofthe new
data privacy and security policles, something which will continue
to be monitored and refreshed as required.

The fnalisation of the ISMS Pragramme will continue to enhance
the Group's data security position, and we will cantinue to manitor
any changes to regulation ang assess the potential impact on
the Group.

IT infrastructure

The Group has grown both organically and by acquliing
newbusinesses, which has resultedinthe use of numercus
legacy accounting and operating systems, There is 2
fisk that these various systems do not work effectivaly,
resulting in misreporting of financial information.

There is also a risk that our Cloud infrastructure Is not
fit for purpese with the changing cyber securlty risk
and IT innovatlans. As we become more technology
driven, our {T infrastructure needs Lo keep up.

The Group has |ergely completed ltsimplementation of a common
finance IT platfcrm (Maconamy) and is also working with new
acgulsitions to manage thelr transition. The commen finange
system gives the Group greater visibitty over the effectiveness
and appropiiateness of lecal controls.

Although good progress has been made with the rolt out of
Maconemy, nen-financlal-based [T systems and infrastructure
vary across the Group and require work to standardise and ensura
our security risk is managed,

Qurtechnology and IT Infrastructure, Including the Cloud, is being
reviewed as part of the ISM5 Frogramme.

Business continuity

There Is a risk that unforeseen circumstances could
arise, which mean that the business is unable to operale,
such as natural disasters, property damage, IT fallure
or absence of significant personnel.

=

There are business continulty plans in place across the Group to
ensure that we can continue to deliver world-class sefvice to our
customers in case of a significant business disruption.

The development of these glans, including the consideration of
disaster recovery in the coniext of IT infrestructure, is key. Howaver,
to further ensure the resillence of our netwarks, services and
business critical Informatlon, wark is underway to further develop
and malure our buslness continuity and resilience framework.

In additlon, the Group has Insurance cover In place to
against business disruption.

gate




Risk description
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Mitigating actions

Change
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Operational risk continued

Speed of change in the digital marketing space
The Group continues to innovate and invest to
develop market-leading offerings to its customers.,
However, the speed of change and perceived oppartunities
in the industry has meant more companies,
including non-traditional players, are developing their
digital marketing capability and thus shifting the
competitive landscape.

There is a risk to our ongoing growth and market positicn
if we do not respond to the pace of change and be at
the forefront of technological solutions to stay ahead
of the competition,

The Group follows a strategy of focusing acquisitions on
technology-driven marketing agencies. It also encourages allthe
brands to have data and technology as 8 central part of their
business. This is monitored through regular meetings between
the Executive Directors and the brands, and through our annual
Group-wide strategy session.

The Group alse monitors its performance through three
service segments: digitat content and communications, data, and
technology. The focus on the businesses inthe digital content and
communications segment is to evolve thelr product to incorporate
more data and technology.

Acquisitions — choice of target and integration
into existing business

The Group has always pursued acquisitions as part of
its overatl growth strategy. One of the inherent risks of
acquisitions is that the Group enters unfamiliar markets/
regions and works with new personnel, who may not be
sufficiently aligned with Group strategy. The acquisition
may therefore not generate the financial or commercial
benefit it was intended to.

Integration of acquired businesses within the overall Group,
or as part of an existing business, can be challenging
and time consuming. Without appropriate capacity at
head office, the critical business issues needing to be
enhancedte enabie future growth, as identified during
the due diligence process, may remain uncapitalised,

The Board is very careful when selecting potential acquisition
partners and we spend a significant amount of time upfront on the
chemistry to make sure the individuals are a goad fit for the Group.

Robust due diligence is performed prior to all acquisitions, with
representations, warranties and indemnities being obtained from
vendors where possible. The consideration paid for @ business
typically includes a significant element of deferred consideration,
contingent upon future performance. Vendors are also encouraged
to retain @ minority equity stake to ensure their retention within
the Group.

Internal Audit works with newly acquired businesses to ensure
that they are assimilated into the Group's control environment.

Macroeconomic uncertainty

Turbulence in the macroeconomic environment could
result in fewer client assignments {including client
consolidation), lenger procurement processes and
downward pressure on budgets and pricing, which
may impact revenue growth and operating margins.
There is likely to be continued volatility in markets in
the wake of Brexit and the election of Trump.

The impact ofthis is dependent on sector focus and often brands
which lack diversification are more exposed 1o macroeconomic
risk. For example, strategic financial communications businesses
operating inthe IPC market can see significant volatility in revenues
year on year.

The Group’s strategy of building a portfolio of brands whicht is
diversified across different communications markets and geographic
regions minimises the risk that the Group is overly reliant on any
one territory, sector or client.

Regular client feedback is sought {for instance via client surveys)
and appropriate changes or response plans set.

uoday oiBalens
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk description

Mitigating actions

Change
in risk

Operational risk continued

Impact of Brexit on the Group

If the UK leaves the EU without a deal this could have
consequences for EU nationals working for the Group
in the UK, impact the ability of the Group to efficiently
take excess cash out of Europe, and subject the Group
to withholding taxes on billing to its EU clients/within
the Group.

The ability for Next 15 to access the required talent
may be significantly diminished if the UK becomes
less desirable for working professionals as a result of
Brexit and may also cause wage inflation in response
to the skilled labour shortage.

The Group has set up a Brexit working group consisting of finance,
legal, HR and tax personnel to assess the impact and put a plan
in place for a no-deal scenario. Actions already taken include
encouraging EU nationals working for the Group in the UK to
obtain UK citizenship, taking all excess ¢ash out of Europe and
looking at how we can minimise withholding taxes.

Financial risk

Misappropriation of assets/fraud/misreporting
Particularly in smalter brands with fewer opportunities to
segregate duties, there is a risk that, without appropriate
oversight and review, there could be fraudulent activity
and misfeporting of financfal informatian.

The risk of misappropriation of assets and fraud is
also increased due 1o the siloed nature of the Next 15
opearating model and the level of influence founders
can have within their specific company environments.

Overseen by the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit function
provides assurance of the Group's control environment, with
particular focus given to segregation of duties.

The consolidation of the Group's banking facility under HSBC gives
the Group greater contro! and visibility over its cash balances.

The annual External Audit also provides comfort.

Remuneration and incentive schemes

The Group operates a number of earn-out mechanism
and incentive schemes in order to attract and retain
senior talent across the Group. As we look to be flexible
in how we incentivise our talent these schemes can be
complex. This givesrise to a local risk of management
override and financial misreporting.

4

In addition, culturally, there is a risk that earn-outs will

. encourage a 'silo culture’ and discourage collaboration

between the brands, orthat the incentive mechanisms
in place encourage the wrong behaviour or do not
appropriatety incenlivise our key staff.

The Remuneration Committee reviews, challenges and approves
all incentive schemes across the Group. External advisers are
used where necessary to advise the Board and Individuais on

any new schemes.

Furthermaere, in response to this risk the Group has crealed a
framewark from which all new incentive schemes will be developed.
The new framework will help to create standardisation and set a
minimum expectation for all new acquisitions.




Risk description

Milgating actians

Financial risk continued

Currency risk
As a global business, currency fluctuations continue to
have a potential impact on the Group's translated results.

The Groupislisted inthe UK with sterling as its functional
currency but makes the majority of its profit outside
of the UK.

Most of the Group's revenue is matched by costs arising
in the same currency, but same global contracts are

- in a single currency of the client's chogsing. This has
resulted in significant gains in the UK, in the wake of
Brexit, but is now very volatile.

When acquisitions are made in anon-functional currency,
the foreign exchange impact can be significant.

The Board and Group treasury function ¢onsiders the use of
currency derivatives to protect significant US dollar and eurg
currency exposures against changes in exchange rates on a
case by case basis.

Netinvestment hedges are used where appropriate for significant
foreign currency investments.

The global and local short-term cash flow forecasts are used
to monitor future large foreign cuirency payments, and natural
currency hedging is used where possible across the Group.

The Group generates 60% of its revenues outside the UK, and
a proportion of its UK revenue is also billed in currencies other
than GBP. The Group has therefore been impacted by the recent
weakening of GBP.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group operates in @ targe number of jurisdictions and,
as a cansequence, is subject to a range of reguliations.
Any failure to respond quickly to legislative requirements
could result in civil or criminal liabilities, leading to
fines, penaities or restrictions being placed upon the
Group's ability 1o trade, resulting inreduced sales and
profitability and reputational damage.

The Group has maintained an in-house legal function over the
whale of is life as a public company and also uses external legal
counsef to advise on local tegal and reguiatory requirements.

The Group has an in-house tax function to ensure compliance
with tax legislation giobally, which consults with external advisers.,

The Group aiso tirculates policies/procedures to all staff on joining
so thal the Group is not exposed to any legal issues.

In addition, the Group ensures that it has adequate insurance
cover in place, including professional indemnity.

The Strategic Report as set out on pages 1to 21was approved by
the Board on 2 April 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Tim Dyson
Chief Executive Officer
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Board of Directors

Richard Eyre CBE 4 =

Chairman

Appointed May 201

Richard is Non-Executive Chairman and & member of the Audit
and Remuneration Committees. :

He is also Chairman of the UK Internet Adverlising Bureaw and the
Media Trust.

5kills and experience

Richard has 43 years' experience across the media and marketing
Industries, including time as CEC of ITV Network LTD, CEO of Capftal
Radio plc, and Content and Strategy Director of RTL Group plc. He has
served as Chairman of RDF Media plc, GCap ple, | Play, Rapid Mobile
and The Eden Project. He was also & board member at the Guardian
Media Group plc, Grant Thornton LLP and Results International LLP.
In 2013, he was awarded the prestigious Mackintosh Medal for outstanding
personal and public service ta advertising and in the 2014 New Year
Honours list, Richard was awarded a CBE for services to advertising
and the media.

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer

Appointed March 2014
Peter joined Next 15 as its Chief Financial Officer in November 2013
and was appeinted as Executive Director in March 2014.

Skills and experience

Peter's financial experience spans 30 years ang he has extensive
media experience, having spent the last 20 years in finance roles
in the media sector. From July 2013 until December 2018, he was a
Norn-Executive Director of Communisis ple and Chairman of its Audit
Committee. He was previously the Interim Finance Director at Centaur
Media plc, Interim CFQ of Bell Pottinger LLP, CFO of the Engine Group,
and CFO of 19 Entertainment. Prior to that, e was Group Finance
Director of Capital Radio plc. Peter has considerable experience in UK
and US-listed companies, with international exposure.

.Penny Ladkin-Brand » =
Non-Executive Director
Appointed July 2017

As a Non-Executive Director of Next 15, Penny chairs the Audit Commiittee
and is a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Skills and experience

Penny is also Chief Financial Officer at Future plc, a global platform
for specialist media. She was previously Commercial Director at Auto
Trader Group pic responsible for digital monetisation. Penny brings
considerable experience of digital disruption and transformation to the
Board. Penny qualified as a Chartered Accountant with PwC before
moving into corporate finance, gaining experience of M&A in both
public and private markets.

Tim Dyson
Chief Executive Officer
Appointed August 1988

Tim joined the Group in 1984 straight from Loughborough University
and became CED in 1992.

Skills and experience

As ane of the early pioneers of tech PR, he has warked on major
carporate and praduct campaigns with such campanies as Clscao,
Microscfi, IBM. Sun and Intet. Tim moved from London 1o set up the
Group's first US business in 1995 in Seattle and is now based in Palo
Alto. Tim oversaw the flotation of the Company on the lLondan Stock
Exchange and has managed a string of successful acquisitions by
the Group including The OutCast Agency, M Boath, Activate and The
Blueshirt Group in the US as well as Morar, Elvis, Velocity, Planning-inc
and Publitek in the UK. ’
Qutside Next 15, Tim has served on advisory boards of & number of emerging
technology companies. Tim was named an Emerging Power Piayer by
PR Week US and subsequently in PR Week's Power Baok. Tim was aiso
recognised on the Holmes Report's In2's Innovator 25, which recognises
individuals who have contributed ideas that set the bar for the industry,

Genevieve Shore  a =

Senior Independent Director

Appointed February 2015

Genevieve joined Next 15 as a Non-Executive Director and, in July

2017, was also appointed Senicr Independent Director. She chairs the
Remuneration Committee and is 8 member of the Audit Committee.

Skills and experience

Genevieve brings digital, technology and commercial expertise to
Next 15 from a careerin the media, education and techneclogy sectors.
Previcusly, she was Chief Product and Marketing Officer of Pearson
plc, and Chief Information Officer and Director of Digital Strategy.
Genevieve is also a Non-Executive Director at Samtander UK and
Moneysupermarket.com Group PLC. She is also a Non-Executive
Director at the Rugby Football Union and the independently owned
Arup Ltd. Until early 2018 she was an adviscry board member for Lego
Education. She slso invests in 8 number of education technology
start-ups and works with female executives as a coach and mentor.

Nick Lee Marrison
General Counse! and Company Secretary
Appointed January 2016

Nick spent seven years in private practica at global law firms working
with a wide range of technology, media and communications clients,
In 2013, Nick maved in-house at a global media brand, befare joining
Next 15 as General Counsel and Company Secretary in 2016,

Chair of Committee
A Audit Committee

R Remuneration Committee
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Corporate governance report

Chairman’s corporate governance statement

As Chairman | am responsible for leading the Board and
for its governance of the Group, in the determination
of its strategy and in achieving its objectives. | am
responsible for organising the business of the Board,
ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda, and
for effective communication with our shareholders.

The Board recognises that effective governance
and management of risk are crucial to promoting the
long-term success of our business for the benefit
of our shareholders and our other stakeholders.
The Board is respensible for ensuring that all aspects
of our business are conducted transparently, ethically
and effectively in a way which promotes a sustainable
and successful future for the Company.

Accordingly, on behalf of the Board, | am pleased to
introduce our report on the arrangements which the
Board has established to ensure that, throughout the
Group, the highest standards of corporate governance
are apptied and maintained in a way whichis consistent
with our values and fosters a corporate culture that
encourages growth.

The Board formally adopted the UK's Quoted Companies
Alliance Corporate Governance Code (the '‘QCA Code")
with effect from & August 2018. The Board believes
that our compliance with the QCA Code enables us
not only to serve the interests of our investars, by
maintaining and enhancing long-term shareholder value,
but also those of our other stakeholders including, in
particular, our talented and dedicated colleagues. As
an AIM listed company, the Company is not required
to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code

2016 (the 'UK Code’), however, the Board supports the
UK Code and considers its application when appropriate
given the Group's size and operations.

The Board seeks to promote the long-lerm success
of the Campany for the benefit of our shareholders
and, as Chairman, my role is to provide the leadership
to enable the Board to do so effectively.

I look forward to meeting you at our AGM.

Richard Eyre CBE
Chairman
2 Apiit 2019

Statement of compliance

Next 15 has adopted the QCA Code and is compliant
with its principles. Disclosures required by the QCA
Code have been made both in this Annual Report and
on our website.

The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for the strategic
direction, investment decisions and effective contro!
of the Group. During the year ended 31 January 2019
the Board comprised two Executive Directors, a Nan-
Executive Chairman and two Non-Executive Directors.

Biographies of each of the Board Directors, including
the Committees on which they serve and chair, are
shown on page 23.

The Board is satisfied that, between the Directors, it
has an effective and appropriate balance of skills and
knowledge, including a range of financial, commercial and
entrepreneurial experience. The Board is also satisfied
that it has a suitable balance between independence (of
character and judgement) and knowledge ofthe Company
to enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities
effectively. The Non-Executive Directors are considered
to be independent. No single Director is dominant in
the decision-making process.

The Boeard aims to convene once a month, with additional
meetings being held as required. As Tim Dyson is
located in San Francisco, some of the Board meetings
are held by telephone conference. The Board meetsin
person whenever possible and aims to do sc at least
quarterly, Details of Board and Committee meetings
held during the financial year and the attendance
records of individual Directors can be found on page 27.



In addition, the Board meets once a year to discuss the
Group's strategy, typically face-to-face over three days,
including meetings with each of the Group's businesses.

Prior to their appointment the Company informed each
Director of the nature of their role, their responsibllities
and duties to the Company, and the time commitment
involved. On appointment each Director confirmed that,
taking into account all of their other commitments, they
were able to allocate sufficient time to the Company to
discharge their role effectively. The Board is satisfied
that the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors
each devotes sufficient time to the Company and
that there have been no significant changes 1o their
other commitments.

The Board's responsibilities and processes
The principal matters considered by the Board during
the period included;

- the Group's strategy, budget andfinancial resources;

- the Group's performance and outlook, including
that of individual brands;

- the Group'sfinancial results for the interim and year end;

- Information Security Management System (ISMS')
arrangements across the Group including cyber
security;

- review of the Group's risk management and
internal controls;

- review of opportunities to expand by acquisition;
- post-integration monitaring of acquisitions; and

« corporate governance mattersincluding QCA Code
compliance, GDPR and succession planning.

There is a schedule of matters specifically reserved for
decision by the Board which is regularly reviewed and
available from the Group's website at www.next15.com

At each Board meeting, the Chief Executive Officer
provides a business review and the Chief Financial
Officer provides, a financial review. Board members
receive monthly trading results, together with detailed
commentary. Each Director recelves a Board pack in
advance of each meeting which includes a formal
agenda together with supporting papers for items to
be discussed at the meeting.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, whois responsible for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and that the
Company complies with all applicable rules, regulations
and obligations. Directars may take independent
professional advice at the Company's expense,

as and when necessary to suppori the performance of
their duties as Directors of the Company. Appropriate
induction and training for new and existing Directors
is provided where required.

Appointment, efection and re-election of Directors
Appointments to the Board are the responsibility of
the Board as a whole.

The Directors' service agreements, the terms and
conditions of appointment of Non-Executive Directors
and Directors’ deeds of indemnity are available for
inspection at the Company's registered cffice during
normal business hours.

The Company's Articles of Association provide that st
each AGM of the Company one-third of the Directors
must retire by rotation. At the forthcoming AGM Richard
Eyre along with Peter Harris will offer themselves for
re-glection by the shareholders.

with regard tathe Directors who are offering themselves
for re-etection at the next AGM, the Board is satisfied that
the contributions of both Richard Eyre and Peter Harris
continue to be effective and demonstrate sufficient time
commitment to their respective roles. The Board also
believes that each Director standing for re-election is
Independent in character and judgement. The Board
acknowledges that Richard Eyre will exceed nine years'
tenure on 12 May 2020 and is already considering its
succession arrangements and, after consultation with
key investors, will report on them in our annual report
and accounts next year. In any event, if Richard Eyre
continues on the Board after 12 May 2020, it would
be his intention to see re-election annually consistent
with the QCA Code. The Board therefore recommends
that the Company and its shareholders support the
re-election of each of the Directors listed above.

Biographical details of each Director standing for
re-election can be found on page 23 of this report.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive
The Chairman of the Board, Richard Eyre CBE, leads
the Board in the determination of its strategy and in
achieving its objectives. The Chairman is responsible
for arganising the business of the Board, ensuring
its effectiveness and setting its agenda, and is also
responsible for effective communication with the Group's
shareholders. At the time of his appointment as Chalrman,
Richard Eyre CBE was considered independent in
accardance with the provisions of the UK Code.
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The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive
continued

The Chief Executive Officer, Tim Dyson, oversees the
Group on a day-to-day basis and Is accountable to the
Board for the financial and operaticnal performance of
the Group. The Chief Executive Officer has responsibility
for implementing the agreed strategy and policies of
the Board.

Senier independent Director

Genevieve Shore holds the position of Senior Independent
Director of the Company. Any shareholder concerns
not resolved through the usual mechanisms for investor
communication can be conveyed to the Senior Independent
Director. Genevieve is considered to be independent
as defined by the UK Code and in accordance with
the principles of the QCA Code.

Board performance evaluation, succession
planning and diversity

The performance of the Board is key to the Company’s
success. The performance of the Board and its Committees
is evaluated regularly, and the evaluations are conducted
with the aim of improving their effectiveness. The last
Board evaiuation was facilitated Internally during the
yearto 31 January 2018 and involved a questionnalre
to each Board Director. During the year to 31 January
2019, the Board reviewed its governance arrangements
agalinst the principles and guidance set outin the QCA
Code and s satisfied thatitis compliant. The next Board
evaluation is scheduled for the summer of 2019 and will
include a review of the matters reserved for the Board
and of the terms of reference of its Committees. It is
envisaged that, as the business continues to develop,
the Board's governance practices will continue to evolve.
In this regard, the Beard is open minded to change
and welcomes insight that may come from a number of
different sources including industry bodies, institutional
investors, advisers and emerging practice.

The Board has agreed that its succession planning
framework should ensure that Board appointments

. provide an appropriate mix of skills and experience

and a [evel of independence which will support the
Group's objectives for business growth and its key
strategic goals. The cutcomes from the Board's regular
evaluation pracesses will help inform these assessments
and, in particular, can highlight where gaps in Board
skills or experience might exist or arise, either as the
business evolves and new skills are needed or as a
resuit of future vacancies.

Corporate governance report continued

The Board believes inthe importance of diverse Board
membership. Our Board has 40% female representation
which meets the recommendation set out by Lard Davies
on diversity for a minimum of 33% female representation
fapplicable to FTSE 350 boards) by 2020. The Board
considers that gender is not the only diversity factor
and account is also taken of a range of other factors
in assessing the balance of the Board, We set out our
Group-wide approach to diversity and inclusion in our
Report of the Directors on page 44.

In place of having a separate Nomingtion Committee, the
Board as a whole leads Board recruitment and appointment
processes. It aiso has responsibility for reviewing the
balance of the Board to ensure that, collectively, the
Board: has a good range of skills, knowledge and
experience; comprises diverse individuals who can bring
different perspectives to the Board's discussions; has
oversight of senior management and Board succession
plans; and makes recommendations on matters such
as Directors’ independence and commitment.

Directors’ conflicts of interest

Directors have a statutory duty to avoid conflicts of
interest with the Company. The Company's Articles of
Association allow the Directors to authorise conflicts
of interest and the Board has adopted a policy for
managing and, where appropriate, approving potential
conflicts of interest, The Board s eware of the other
commitments and interests ofits Directors, and changes
to these commitments and interests are reported Dy
the Directors. A review of Directors’ conflicts of interest
is conducted annually.

Committees of the Board

The Board is supported by the Auditand Remuneration
Committees. The Board appaints the Committee members.
The reports of these Commiitees can be found on
pages 30 to 42,

Each Committee has access to such external advice as
it may consider appropriate. The Company Secretary
or his nominee acts as secretary to the Committees.
The terms of reference of each Committee are reviewed
regularly, updated as necessary to ensure ongoing
compliance with best practice guidelines and referred
to the Board for approval. Copies of the Committees’
terms of reference are available from the Group's
website at www.nextib.com.



The Audit Committee comprises three Non-Executive
Directors: Penny Ladkin-Brand (Chair}, Richard Eyre
and Genevieve Shore. Peter Harrfs also attends most
meetings at the invitation of the Chair of the Audit
Committee. Broadly, the Audit Committee is responsible
for reviewing financial reporting, the relationship with
the External Auditor, internal controls, and oversight of
the effectiveness of risk and risk management systems.

The Remuneration Commiltee comprises three
Non-Executive Directors: Genevieve Shore (Chair},
Penny Ladkin-Brand and Richard Eyre. The Executive
Directors also attend these Committee meetings at the
invitation of the Chair of the Remuneration Committee,
exceptwhen discussing matters af their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing
and approving executive remuneration policies and
practices, taking account of pay practices and policies
across the Group's workforce.

During the year to 18 September 2018, the Company
had a Nomination Committee comprised of Richard
Eyre (Chair), Penny Ladkin-Brand, Genevieve Shore
and Tim Dyson. On 18 September 2018, the Board
dissolved the Nomination Committee with immediate
effect as it was agreed that nomination matters such
as Board recruitment and appointment processes as
described on page 26 were best dealt with by the
Board as & whole for the time being.

Our corparate culture

We have a strong corporate culture based on personal
responsibility and treating stakeholders fairly. Businesses
within the Group are given a high degree of sutonomy in
line with the Group’s emphasis on personal responsibility;
however, the Board and its Committees set a high
standard for ethical behaviour and ensure the Group
complies with applicable laws and regulation.

The Group determines that ethical values and behaviours
are recognised and respected through:

« the emphasis on the ‘'wha’ before the 'what’ during due
ditigence when the Group acquires new businesses;

« presentations by each businessto the Board during
the Greup's annual strategy sessions;

- quarterly Executive Committee meetings with the
CEQ and senior management; and

» HR policies, appraisals and training within each

business.

Board and Committee attendance for the year ended 31 January 2019

Attendance records for the scheduled Board and Committee meetings held during the year are shown befow.
Further unscheduled Board, Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee meetings were convened &s
reguired throughout the year. Additional committees of the Board were also constituted to review and approve
certain acquisitions, and regulatory news announcements. Other members of the senior management and
brand management teams, as well as advisers, attended Board and Committee meetings by invitation as

appropriate throughout the year.

Beard Audit  Remuneration
Richard Eyre 9ofg 4 0f 4 6ofb
Tim Dysen 9of9 — —
Peter Harris 90of9 — —
Penny Ladkin-Brand 90f9 4 of 4 6of6
Genevieve Shore 80of9 40f4 6of6
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Our communities and wider society

We take our social responsibitities seriously and are
committed to advancing policies and processes across
the Groupto ensure we address and menitor all aspects
of social responsibility and community engagement
that are relevant to our business. These range from
concern for employee health and safety, care for the
environment. protection of any personat data which
we hold and community involvement.

Specific activities undertaken by owr businessesinclude
the following:

- developing fair and equitable employee practices
including programmes that encourage diversity;

» minimising environmental impacts through recycling
and offsetting flight emissions;

» monitoring  potential  risks  and  applying
mitigating policies;

- involvement i community activities and
encouraging our employees to give back through
volunteering programmes,

- implementing and monitering health and safety practices,
including implementing employee mental health
awareness initiatives and wel-being pragrammes; and

» corporate matching of charity donations and
fundraising activities.

Qur shareholders

The Board recognises the impartance of maintaining an
effective dialogue with its shareho!ders, to ensure that
its strategy and performance are clearly understood.
We communicate with our shareholders through our
annual report and accounts, full-year and half-year
rasults announcements, trading updates, AGMs and
face-to-face meetings. A range of corporate information
is available from the Group's website at www.nextls,
com {inctuding copies of presentations, announcements,
historical annual reports, historical notices of general
meetings, AGM voting records, and other governance-
related materials for the last five years).

The Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the
Chairman, the Chair of the Remuneration Committee and
the Chair of the Audit Committee will be available at the
AGM to answer shareholders’ questions. Proxy votes
are disclosed at the meeting following a show of hands
on each shareholder resolution and are subsequently
published onthe Group's website at www.nextiS.com.

Corporate governance report continued

In the event of a significant proportion of votes ever
being received against a particular resolution, the
Board would take steps to understand shareholder
concerns and consider what action they might want
to take in response. After the AGM, shareholders can
meet informally with the Directors. Shareholders are
also encouraged to submit questions to the Board
throughout the year.

The Board is happy ta enter into dialogue with institutional
shareholders hased on a mutual understanding of
objectives, subject to its duties regarding equal
treatment of shareholders and the dissemination of
inside information. The Chief Executive Officer andthe
ChiefFinancial Officer meet institutional sharehelders
on a regular basis.

The Board as a whole is kept informed of the views and
concerns of the major shareholders. When requestedto
do so, the Non-Executive Directors will attend meetings
with major shareholders and are prepared to contact
individual shareholders should any specific area of
concernor enquiry be raised. The Senior Independent
Director is also available in any circumstances where
the usuaf channels of investor communication have
not resolved concerns.

Qur employees and workers

We invest in people and Next 15's people are at the
heart of everything we do. As a Group we focus on
the ‘who’ before the ‘what’. We trust key talent to drive
their businesses in the direction they believe is best,
instead of the Group telling leaders what is best. We
encourage the businesses in the Group to take the
same approach.

Qur employees are key to the Group's success and we
rely on a committed workforce tohelp us to achieve our
short-term and long-term objectives. It is right that our
employees share inthe success of Next 15, Accordingly,
a number of incentive arrangements operate across
the business to reward colleagues for the contribution
they are making, as a result of their efforts to grow
the business, towards generating the rewards which
our investors enjoy. In addition, the Group regularly
keeps employees appraised of the Group’s financial
performance, through a combination of meetings and
electronic communications.



Knowing what our people think and feel is key to our
growth as a Group. Our businesses manftor engagement
and act on feedback in a variety of different ways,
including yearly engagement surveys, pulse surveys,
360-degree appraisals and cenbral reporting of HR
issues. Trands and Issues are reported to our Chief
Executive Officer at quartesly Executive Committee
meetings of senior management.

We leverage the feedback to halp develop a people
strategy for each business that creates a work emviranment,
benefits package and policles that add o business
culture and maintain compliance.

The Group has established arrangements by which
individuals may, fn confidence, raise concerns about
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting
and other matters, The Group has an anti-brivery code
of canduet which is intended to extend to all the Group's
business dealings and lransactions in all coun!
which it, or its subsi

Qur customers

Client focus is critical to the success of each of our
businesses. By thelr nature our businesses work [n
collaboration with their cllents: we embed teams within
client organisations, use agile processes, and build
businesses to belter serve client needs based on
what they tell us.

Cur suppliars

Because of the nature of our business, our longterm
success as a Group is not dependent on any one
supplier; nevertheless, we belleve in treating our
suppllers fairly, for axample by ensuring that wa pay
our suppliers promptly in accerdence with the prevailing
terms of business.

The Group has a zero-lolerance approach lo practices
which are at odds with our values and culture, for
example cormuplion, bribery and modern slavery. We
are committed to acting ethically and with Integrity in ali
business dealings and relationships and to implementing

. and enforcing effective systems ang conttals to ensure

such practices are not taking place anywhere [n our
businesses or supply chain.

Environment

Due to the nature of 1ts businesses, the Board conslders
thatine Sroup's direct orindirectimpact enthe environment
Isminlmal and of low risk. However, the Group still seeks
to minimise the environmental Impact of its activities
and its business practicas suppon environmental good
practice, such as reducing paper wastage through
reuse, -ecycling, using electronic communications,
and reducing business travel by replacing face-to-face
meetings with canference calls where practicable.

Risk

Our arproach to risk management is set out on
page 16, and the principal risks 1o our business, and
the actions we have taken to mitlgate them, are set
out on sages 17 to 21

Financial reporting and going concern statement
The Directors have, at the time of approving the financlal
statements, a reasonable expectstionthat the Company
ang the Group have adequate resources to conlinue
in operational existence for the foresesable future.
Accord ngly, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements,

The Directors have made thls assessment in iight of
reviewi 19 the Group's budget and cash requirements
for a period In excess of one year fram the date of
signing of the Annual Report and considered outline
plans fcr the Group theresfter

The Greup's business activilies, togetherwith the factors
kely to affectlts future development, performance and
position, are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 1
to 21, Tre financisl positton of the Group, its cash flows,
liquidity positlon andt bomewing facilties are described
in the F nancle| Review on pages 111015,

In addition, note 19 to the finendal statements includes:
the Grcup's cbjectives, policles and processes faor
managing its capital; its financlal risk management
objectives; detalls of its financial instruments and
hedgin] activities; and tis exposures to credit risk
and liquidity risk,

The Directors’ Responsibliities Statement in respact of
the financlal statements is set out on page 47
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Audit Committee report

1am pleasedto presentthe report of the Audit Committee
(the 'Committee’) for the year to 31 January 2019.
This report details the Committee’s roles, responsibilities
and key activities during the period. The principal
aims of the Committee are to review and report to
the Board on the Group's financial reporting, to ensure
the integrity of the financial information provided to
our shareholders, and to support the development
and maintenance of the Group's risk management
and internal control environment.

1look forward to meeting our shareholders atthe AGM
and will be happy ta answer any questions you may have.

Penny Ladkin-Brand
Audit Cornmittee Chair
2 April 2019

Composition of the Audit Committee

The Committee is composed entirely of Non-Executive
Directors who between them possess a range of commercial
and financial experience as detailed on page 23.
The current members of the Committee are Penny
Ladkin-Brand (Chair), Richard Eyre and Genevieve Share.
The Board is satisfied that the Committee members
are sufficiently competent in financial matters and that
the Chair has recent and relevant financlal experience.

The Committee meets periodicelly, st least three times
a year, and the External Auditor, other Directors, the
Head of Internai Audit and other management atterd by
invitation. Attendance records of meetings held during
the year can be found on page 27 The Committee
Chair is in frequent contact with the Chief Financial
Officer, the Head of internal Audit and'the External
Auditor and preparatory meetings are held ahead of
some Committee meetings to identify and discuss key
areas for consideration by the Committee.

Provision is made for the External Auditor and Head of
Internal Audit to discuss any concerns they may have
with the Commiitee in the absence of management,

Roles, respansibilities and activities during the
reporting peried . .

The Committee works to a programme of activities
aligned to key events in the financial reporting cycle,
standing items which occur regularly as required by
the Committee's terms of reference, and other agenda
items that the Committee identifies.

The main roles and responsibilities of the
Commitiee include:

- monitoring the integrity of the Group's financial
statements and other announcements relating to
its financial performance;

« considering the Group's accounting policies and
practices, application of accounting standards and
significant judgements;



- overseeingthe relationship withthe Group's External
Auditor, including consideration of the objectivity
and effectiveness of the external audit process and
making recommendations to the Board in relation
to the External Auditor's re-appointment and fees;

+ keeping underreview the effectiveness of the Group's
internat control and risk management systems; and

- monitoring the remit and effectiveness ofthe Group's
Internal Audit function,

The Committee’s terms of reference are available from
the Group's website at www.next!s.com.

During the period the Commiitee’s activities included:

- considering significant financial reporting issues
and judgements arcund adjusting items, tax
matters, goodwill impairment, earn-out liabilities,
and acquisition accounting;

assisting the Board in its assessment of the
Group’s risk environment, internal controls and risk
management processes,

- reviewing reports from the Internal Audit function;

- discussing the impact of upcoming changes to
accounting standards and legal, tax and regulatory
requirements; and

- overseeing the relationship with the External
Auditor, including agreeing the external audit plan,
reviewing the non-audit fees policy and assessing
their independence.

During the course of the year, the Committee reviewed
the Internal Audit function with a focus on increasing
the seniority and independence ofthe function. A key
activity for the Committee in the forthcoming year will
be evaluating the progress of this change.

Auditor independence, objectivity and fees

The External Auditor, Deloitte LLF, was first appointed
in 2014, for the financial year ended 31 January 2015.
The Board is satisfied that the Company has adequate
policies and safeguards in place to ensure that Celoitte
maintain their objectivity and independence. The External
Auditor reports annually on its independence from
the Company. The Group has a formal policy an the
engagement of the External Auditor for non-audit
services. The objective of the policy is to ensure that
the provision of non-audit services by the External
Auditor does not impair, or is not perceived to impair,
the External Auditor's independence or objectivity. The
policy sets out monetary limits and imposes guidance
on the areas of work that the External Auditor may be
asked to undertake and those assignmenis where the
External Auditor should not be involved. The policy is
reviewed regularly, and its application is monitored by
the Committee. The fees paid to Deloitte in respect of
non-audit services are shown in note 4 to the financial
statements. This work is not considered to affect the
independence or objectivity of the External Auditor.
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Directors’ remuneration report

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the
Directors' Remuneration Report for the year ended
31 January 2019. The report explains the work of our
Remuneration Committee (the "*Committee’) during
the year and our strategic approach to pay, benefits
and incentives. We also report upon the remuneration
arrangements in place during the year for the Directors
and how these both suppert our pay for performance
strategy and align management’s short and long-term
goals with the aspirations of our sharehalders.

In @ highly competitive environment for talent, within a
disruptive marketplace, our remuneration philosophy
is to ensure a competitive remuneration framework is
in place, which incentivises our senior management
teamand engbles us to attract and retain the key talent
we rely upon throughout the Group. It is our talent
which continues to fuet our growth. As you will note
in our Group strategy: "Our people are at the heart
of everything we do”, We focus on the 'who' before
the ‘what’ and it is important that our remuneration
arrangements continue to reflect this.

It has been another year of strong performance for the
Group. Over FY19, growth was at 2 level that outran the
sector average for revenue growth and also exceeded
industry average orgénic growth. Asreferenced inthe
Financial Review, andin our Chairman's Statement, net
revenues were 13.9% up to £2241m (2018: £196.8m)
while adjusted profit before taxrose by 22 9% 10 £36.0m
{2018:£29.3m). Fully diluted adjusted earnings per share
rose by 191%to 33.1p. Last year the Group enhanced its
portfolio with a number of acquisitions in line with our
strategy, adding Brandwidth, Planning-inc, Technical
and Activate to the Next 15 Group.

As reported last year, FY18 saw a focus on the Group's
wider strategic approach to rermuneration but without

making further structural changes to the Group's
remuneration framework as significant changes had
been made following consultation with our shareholders
in FY17. In response to some concerns around the
Long-Term Incentive Plan {the ‘LTIP'), we introduced
holding periads (so that the total of any vesting ang
holding period would always be at least three years},
along with new obligations regarding malus, a mechanism
for clawback and a shareholding reguirement of 200%
of base salary.

LTIP awards to the Executive Directors made during FY19
will vest annually up to a maximum of 20% of the total
award over a five-year period {subject to performance
conditions and continued employment), with hoiding
periods such that vested awards are only released
after years three and five.

We believe this even more closely aligns the objectives
of the LTIP with the interests of our shareholders and we
were delighted to obtain a vote of 97.53% for the FY18
Directors’ Remuneration Report and an understanding
that our frameworks continue to be aligned with the
creation of shareholder value.

As a result of the ongoing monitoring of our LTIP
performance, industry guidance andthe ever-evolving
regulatory landscape during the period we will now
also change the way targets are set for future LTIP
awards, such that 60% of any executive LTIP award from
FY 20 will be subject to performance measured over 8
three-year period, based on performance targets over
each financial year. We will also introduce additional
holding periods such that 100% of any award made
during FY20 onwards will be subjectto a total vesting
and holding period of five years from award.

As in previous years we continue to develop our
equity-based schemes for our brands. They are an
important mechanism for attracting and retaining our
entrepreneurial talent and growih share plans are in
place orinthe process of being implemented at 11 of our
brands. Further details of the Group's equity incentive
schemes are shown atnote 21to the financial statements.

"Although the Company is not required, due to its size

and structure, to report under the Equality Act 2010
{Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017 our
internal review of cur approach to gender pay in FY18
also prompted the Committee to review our wider
diversity and inclusion strategy during FY19. The Group's
CEQ is leading our brands’ approach to diversity and
inclusion, identifying and seeking to measure relevant
data and enabling the sharing of best practice across
the Group. The initial resuits of this review are available
on our website at www.next15.com but this will be an
ongoing project for our leadership team.



As the Company is AlM listed, our Directors are not
required to prepare a Directors’ Remuneiation Report
for each financial year under section 420{}} of the
Companies Act 2006. However, the Company sdopted
the Quoted Companies Ailiance Corporate Governance
Code (the ‘QCA Caode’) with effect from 6 August 2018
and, where practicable, also seeks to consider those
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
2016 {the 'UK Code’ywhich are most appropriate, given
the size of the Group and the nature of its operations.
The Remuneration Report will, as in previous years,
be subject to an advisory vote at the AGM.

You will have seen that the Company is committed
to review continually its remuneration practices and
disclosures and accordingly we have also increased
the tevel of reporting this year to improve transparency
and align with best practice. We have made these
changes where it has been possible to do so, and we
will continue to monitor developments. We thank our
investors for their continued guidance and input and
look forward to our ongoing dialogue and support at our
AGM where | will be available to answer any questions.

Genevieve Shore
Remuneration Committee Chair
2 April 2013

Key activities of the Committee during the year
The principal matters considered by the Commitiee
during the year included:

- reviewing the ongoing approprigteness and relevance
of the rermuneration framework as it aligns to Greup
strategy and our pay for performance goals;

- undertaking the annual review of remuneration for
both Executive Directors;

- setting both financial and non-financial targets for
the annual bonus plan FY19;

- reviewing and setting appropriate stretching
performance targets for LTIP awards FY19;

- considering pay trends across the Group's
brands and the remuneration arrangements of brand
senior management;

- undertaking an external benchmarking exercise
for senior roles to review market competitiveness;

- reviewing the extent to which performance
conditions have been met for both the annual and
long-term incentive ptans, and agreeing the cash
and equity paymenis arising including the processes
and communication to Executive Directors andg
senior executives;

« reviewing the design, policies and targets of the

Group's equity incentive plansincluding theirimpact

on dilution and headroom;

+ closely reviewing changes to laws, regulations
and guidelines or recommendations regarding
remuneration, including in relation to tax; and

continuing to review the Group’s approach to gender
pay, diversity and inclusion policies.

Key activities of the Committee for the year ahead
The principal matters for consideration by the Commitiee
for the year ahead will include,

- areview of the pension arrangements for Executive
Directors, and how these compara with the pension
opportunity for the majority of the workforce;

- consideration of post-employment shareholding
sequirements for Executive Directors;

- consideration of the principles governing the
Group's brand equity schemes and any adjustments
required; and

- consideration of additiona! disclosures including
pay ratios.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Remuneration framework
To ensure that the Group continues to grow, organically and inorganically, we must have the right remuneration framework in place
to incentivise our senior management team and attract and retain key talent throughout the Group. We are committed to creating
strong alignment with the interests of our shareholders and are mindful of changing regulatory quidance and best practice.

In setting our remuneration framewoerk the Committee considers;

- the responsibilities of each individual's role, their experience and performance;

+ the need to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors and senior management of the right calibre, ensuring an appropriate
mix between fixed and variable pay; '

- the pay and benefits arrangemenits elsewhere in the Group and in the sector,

periodic external benchmarking to ceonsider market conditions and remuneration practices for roles of a simitar size and complexity, and

the need to align the overall reward arrangements with the Group's strategy, both in the short and long term.

Cur Executive Director and Non-Executive Director remuneration frameworks are set out below to assist with understanding the
following sections of this repornt and demonstrate alignment with short and long-term strategic objectives for each element of pay.

Executive Director remuneration framework :
In the case of hiring or appointing a new Executive Director, the Committee may make use of any or all of the existing components
of remuneration, as described below. The Commitiee will take into consideration all relevant factors (including quantum, nature of
remuneration and the jurisdiction from which the candidate operates) to ensure that the pay arrangements are in the best interests

of the Company and its shareholders.

Elemant of
remuneration

Key features

Purpose and kHnk
to strategy

Max!mum opportunlty

Performance measures

Malus and clawback

Base salary

Reflects external
market and geography
and an individual's
performance and
contribution.

Reviewed annually
in February.

Attracts and

retains the best talent
with the necessary
expertise to detiver
the Group's strategy.

No prescribed maximum,

Account will be taken
of increases applied tg
employees as a whole
when determining
salary increases.

Committee discretion to
award Increases when it
considers it appropriate,
Including where base
safary af outset may have
been set at a relatively
low level, or where there
has been a substantial
change in responsibilities
of the role,

The Committee
considers the individual's
performance and
contribution in the period
since the last review,

NfA

Allowances
and benefits

The Chief Executive
Officer is entitled to
acontributionto a
deferred benefit plan;
private health, dental
and vision insurance;
life assurance; KPMG
tax fees paid on

his behalf; and car
allowance (lease

and associated fees).

The Chief

Financdial Officer

is entitled to private
medical insurance.

The Commiitee may
determine that other
tenefits may be added
where appropriate.

Provides market
competitive and
cost-effective
benefits.

Provides reassurance,
and risk mitigation,
and suppaorts personal
health and wellbeing.

The value of benefits
isnotcapped asitis
determined by the cost
1o the Company, which
may vary.

N/A

N/A




Element of
remuneration

Key features

Purpose and link
to strategy

et —— - —

Maximum oppeortunity

Performance measures

— .
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Malus and clawback

Pension

Directors are entitled
to receive employer
contributions to a
Group pension plan.

Provides
market equivalent
retirement benefits.

Maximum contribution,
currently 10% of
base salary.

N/A

N/A

Bonus

Discretionary

annual cash bonus
plan. Targets cfosely
aligned with the Group’s
short and longer-term
strategic aims.

Targets are
reviewed annuaily
by the Commiltee.

N¢t pensionable.

Reinforces

and rewards
delivery of annual
performance

and strategic
business priorities.

Delivers value

o sharehclders
and consistent with
the delivery of the
strategic plan.

The maximum bonus
opportunity is currently
60% of salary.

The Committee
chooses measures

that help drive and
reward the achievement
of the Group's strategy.
Metrics and their
refative weightings are
reviewed each year.

N/A

Long-Term
Incentive Plan
{'LTIP?)

Awards are granted
under the 205 LTIP
(Details of awards
made during the
period can be found
on page 38} and may
be performance share
awards or nil-cost
options as considered-
appropriate.

LTIPsvestona
phased basis over
a total period of
five years.

Following vesting

of each tranche,
shares will be subject
to a holding period,
such that the total

of any vesting and
holding periog will not
be less than five years
{for awards granted
during FY20 onwards)
or three years {for
awards granted
during the period).

The Commiitee may
adjust and amend
awards in accordance
with the LTIP rules.

Rewards

long-term
sustainable
performance,

in line with the
Company's strategy.

Focuses

Executive Direclors
on delivering
oulstanding

value creation

for shareho!ders.

100% of salary.

The Committee

chooses performance
measures that support
delivery of the Company's
strategy and provide
alignment between
Executive Directors

and shareholders,

Performance metrics
and their regpective
weightings may vary
from year to year
depending on financial
and strateqic pricrities.

Performance targets are
currently based on the
annual rate of increase
of EPS over the relevant
financial year and other
stralegic financial KPls.
The strategic financial
KPis include Operating
Profit against Budget,
Warking Capital, Organic
Revenue Growth and
QOperating Profit Margin
against Budget.

The Commitiee retains
certaln discretions, In
line with market practice,
in relation to the operation
and administration

of the plan as further
described below.

Right to cancel or
reduce LTIF awerds
which have not yet
vested, in the event of &
material misstatemant
of the Company’s financial
results, miscalculation
of 3 participant's
entittement, individual
misconduct or an avent
resulting in materiat loss
or reputational damage
to the Company or any
member of the Group.

The Committee also has
the right to recover all or
part of the value of LTIP
awards and dividend
equivalent amounts
recelved within two years
of the date that such
awards vested and
became exercisable,

in the event of a material
miscalculation of 8
participant’s entitliement,
a material misstatement
or restatement of the
Company's financial
results for the years to
which the performance
periods relate, or material
perscnal misconduct that,
would justify summary
dismissal, or result in
significant reputational
damage to the Company,
ar have a material adverse
effect an the Company’s
financial position, or reflect
a significant failure of
the Campany’s risk
management or control.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Executive Director remuneration framework continued

Element of

remuneration Key features

Purpose and link to
sirategy

Maxlmum opportunity

Perfarmance measures

Malus and clawback

Executive Directors are
expected to build apd
maintain a helding of
shares in the Campany
of 200% of base salary.

Shareholding
guidelines

Increases alignment
between Exacutive
Directors and
shareholders

and shows a clear
commitment by all
Executive Direclors
to creating value for
shareholdersinthe
longer term.

Minimum shareholding
guidelines to be satisfied
within five vears of
appointment no less than
200% of salary for all
Executive Directors.

If any Executive Director
does nol meet the
guideline they will be
expected tao retain up

to 50% of the net of tax
number of shares
vesting under any of the
Company’s discretionary
share incentive
arrangerments untit the
guideline is met.

N/A

Executive Directors
shall not dispose

of shares needed ta
meet their minimum
shareholding
requirement except
as approved by

the Commiiitea.

The Committee may
give such approval in
limited circumstances
such as to comply with
legal obligations or to
avold financial distrags,

Non-Executive Director remuneration framework

Element of

Remuneration

Key features

Purpose and link te strategy

Maximum apportunity

Perfermance measures

Internal evaluation of the
Board's end its Committees’
effectiveness takes

place periodically.

The aggregate Directors’
service fees (excluding
salary or other remuneration)
is limited to £300,000 under
the Company's Articles.

Cash fees, determined

by the Executive Directors,
reflecting the time
commitrment required, the
respansibility of each role,
and the level of fees in
comparable companies.

Supports recruitment and retention
of Non-Executive Directors with
the necessary breadth of skills

and experience to advise and assist
with establishing and monitoring
the Group's strategic objectives.

Fees

No entitlement to
compensation for
early termination.




Lorg-Term Incentive Plan
Historic awards vesting during FY19

U S

During FY19, performance share awards of 150,000 granted to Tim Dyson and 150,000 Ordinary Shares granted to Peter Harris
vested in full. These awards were made on 14 November 2014 under the previous Next Fifteen Communications Group plc Long-Term

Incentive Plan 2005.

The historic awards granted to the Executive Directors under the Company's previous 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan which vested

during FY19 are summarised befow:

Numbar of Percentage

Executive performance Actual of award Number of Gain on
Director shares Targets performance vesting shares vested vesting
Tim Dyson 150,000 Average annual EPS Proportion 48%* 50% 150,000 £675,000

growth in best three vesting:

of four years target’;

Less than 3% 0%

abave inflation

3% above inflation 10%

Between 3% and 10% 10%-50%

above inflation (straight-line basis})

10% or more 50%

above inflation

Average profit Proportion 110%32 50%

against budget: vesting:

80% or less 0%

For every 1% below budget 5% of award will not vest

100% or more 50%
Peter Harris  150.000 Average annual EPS As above As above 50% 150,000 £675,000

growth target

Average profit against As above As above 50%

budget target

i As previously disclgsed, these awards were granted In November 2014 under the Group’s previous 2005 LTIP which did permit vesting on *best three years cut of four basis',
The petformance period for these awards ended on 31 January 2018, Following the changes te the Group's incentive structures previously disclosed, na further LTIP awards
benefiting from a ‘bye-year' have been granted, and there are no further unvested awards benefiing from a bye-year,

2 This has been calculated based on the growth in adjusted diluted EPS less the growih In the consumer price index {'CPI'} based on years to 31 January.

3 This has been calcvlated based on the budgeted profit before Interest, amortisation, restructuring costs and share scheme charges at budgeted exchanged rates against
actual profit before Interest, amortisation, restructuring cosls and share scheme charges at actual exchange rates based on years to 31 January,
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Long-Term Incentive Plan continued

New gwards made during FY19 .
The FY19 awards to Executive Directors, including holding periods, are summarised below. As with last year, we have shared more

detail this year, inctuding the EPS targets and the key areas of strategy to which a portion of these awards relate. Qur progress in
each of these long-term strategic areas is covered in more detail throughout this annual report.

Executive Director Tim Dyson Peter Harris

Number of performance shares 134,105 67,889

Vesting criteria {for both Executive Directors)

Up to 70% of maximum award Target Proportion of tranche vesting

for that year
Annual rate of increase Less than 5% 0%
in earnings per share over
relevant financial year
5% 17.5%
Between 5% and 15% 17.5%-70% (straight-line basis}
15% or more 70% totsl award

Up to 30% of maximum award

KPls These include metrics relating to operating profit 0%—30%
{excluding acquisitions) ageinst budget, working capital,
organic revenue growth against budget and operating
prafit margin against budget

Vesting tranches (for both Executive Directors)

Financial year following which tranche vests Maximum proportion of
award availabie for vesting
(subject to performance)

FY19 20%
FY20 20%
Fy21 20%
Fy22 20%
FY23 20%
Helding periods {for both Executive Directors)
Financial year following which tranche vests Released following
FY19, FY20 and FY21 Fy21

FY22 and FY23 Fv23




Directors’ interests in share plans for the year to 31 January 2019
As at 31 January 2019, the following Directors held performance share awards over Crdinary Shares of 2.5p each under the 2005
LTIP, 2015 LTIP and 2016 Share Award Agreements, as detailed below:

Number of Number of
performance performance
shares al shares at
1February 2018 Shares 31 Japuary 2019
{or date of Shares Shares granted for date of End of Totai galn
appaintment  lapsing during  vesting during during resignation performance on vesling
Executive Clreclor If later) the peilod the period the period if earlier) Grantdate period £'000
Tim Dyson
150,000 — 150,000 — —_ 14.11.2014 31.01.2018 675
225,000 — — " — 225000 17102016  3101,20i9" —
162,597 — — — 162,597 02.05.2017 310120227 —

—_ - — 134,105 134,105 10.04.2018 31.01.2023° —

Peter Harris

180,000 — 150,600 — - 14.11.2014 31.01.2018 675
225,000 — — — 225,000 17102016  31.01.2018' —
75,367 — - — 75,367 020520177 310120222 —
— - — 57,889 67,889 10.04.2018 31.012023° —

1 As reported previously these awards reflect ihe retroactive modification discussed with sharehalders as pan of the exensive review of LTIP arrangements during FY17,
with the remeval of the bye-year, performance for this award will be measured over three years only, bringing forward vesting by one year, The performance iargets were
otherwise unchanged.

2 Asreparted praviously, the LTIP awards under the 2015 LTIP {granted from 2017} vest on a tranched basis over a totzl five-year perlod.

3 Executive Directors will become unconditionally legally and beneficially entitled 1o up to 60% of the tolal awarded performance shares on the date on which vesting
is determined in relation to the pertormance period ending 31 January 2021 {expected April 2021, and up 10 the remalning 40% on the dale on which vesting is deteimined
in relation to the performance perlod ending 31 January 2023 {expected Aprl 2023}

Shert-term incentives
The Executive Directors’ remuneration also Includes an element of annual performance-related pay so that awards can be aligned
to improvements in both short and long-term shareholder value.

The targets are closely aligned to the Company's sirategic aims and the interests of shareholders, being based on the performance
of the Group against market expectations, the delivery of budget targets and the robust management of cash flow and financial KPis.

Our strategy is to atiract the best talent in the industry by creating excellent career paths that enable people to take partin international
businesses and, where appropriate, help with the formation of new Group businesses, new service divisions or new international
locations. This is supported by our choice of KPis for our incentive plans, which are detailed further in this report.

During the year the Committee reviewed the Executive Directors' annual bonus framework and agreed a continued annual maximum
opportunity set at 60% of salary.

After a close review ofthe performance against targets, for the year ended 31 January 2019, an award of 25% salary for each Executive
Director has been agreed by the Commiittee. These are summarised below. -

Actual
performance
{for bath
MaxImum bonus Executive Total bortus
Executive Director avallable for FY1& Targets {for both Executive Directars) Directors) awarded
Tim Dyson £399.504 Budgeted operating profit excluding acquisitions Uptc 25% 7.5% £166,460
Working capital Upto 25% 13%
($530.456%) {$221,026)
Peter Harris £189,113 Qrganic revenue growth Up to 25% 0% £78,797
Operating profit margin excluding acquisitions Upto 25% 25%
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Directors’ remuneration for the 12-month period to 31 January 2019

Tim Dyson’s basic salary was increased by 2.5% 1o £665,840 ($884,102) per annum effective 1 February 2018. Peter Harris' basic
salary was increased by 2.5% to £315,188 per annum effective 1 February 2018, These increases are in line with those awarded to

the wider workforce.

Performance-

Satary related Pension Other
and {ees honus contributions benefits Total Total
2019 2009 2019 20019 2019 2018
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Executive Directors
Tim Dyson 666 166 75 169 1,076 1,063
Peter Harris 315 79 30 1 425 444
Non-Executive Directors
Richard Eyre 150 — — - 150 150
Penny Ladkin-Brand 46 - - - 46 24
Genevieve Shore ’ 63 — —_ - 63 49

Directors’ interests in the shares of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc
The interests of the Directors in the share capital of the Company at 31 January 2018 and 31 January 2019 are as follows:

Ordinary Shares LTIP performance shares

31January 31 January 1 February 31 January
2018 2019 2018 2019
(or date of {or date of {or date of {or date of
appointment resignation appointment resignation
If later} if earlier) if 1ater) it earlier)
Executive Directors

Tim Dyson 5077997 5,077,997 537,697 521,702
Peter Harris 142,372 242,372 450,367 368,256

Non-Executive Directors ’ -
150,000 100,000 — -

Richard Eyre
Penny Ladkin-Brand
Genevieve Shore




- e

Directors’ service contracts

Executive Directors have rolling contracts that are terminable on six months’ notice, There are no contractual entittements to compensation
on termination of the employment of any of the Directors other than payment in lieu of notice at the discretion of the Company and
a paymeni for compliance with post-termination restrictions. The Executive Directors are allowed to accept appointments and retain
payments from sources outside the Group, provided such appointments are approved by the Board.

Date of current service contract Notice period
Executive Directors
Tim Dyson 1 June 1997 & months
Peter Harris 25 March 2014 & months

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment
All Non-Executive Directors are engaged under letters of appointment terminable on three-months’ natice at any time. Non-Executive
Directaors are not entitled to any pension henefit or any payment in compensatian for early termination of their appoirtment.

Date of current letter of appointment Notlce period
Non-Executive Directors
Richard Eyre 12 May 2017 3 months
Penny Ladkin-Brand 21 July 2047 3 months
Genevieve Shore 3 July 2047 3 months

Management equity incentive schemes

In order to drive revenue growth and improved margins, the Group has established equity incentive schemes for the senior management
teams at a number of its brands. It is a key strategy for the Group that providing senior management with a direct stake in their brand
will foster an entrepreneurial spirit, focus on fostering profitable growth in the business and assist with the long-term retention of
key individuals and team members.

Under the schemes, new units in the relevant brand subsidiary entity are issued to senior management, granting rights to a percentage
of future eguity appreciation for the participant’s brand and thereby creating a partnership between the Group and the individual
executives. Additianally, the units in certain plans hold value based on access to non-cumulative and restricted profit distributions on
the business' operating earnings. Equity appreciation is measured based on a multiple of the brand’s operating earnings achieved
in subsequent years over base line value determined at the date of grant.

At the end of the minimum holding period following an award of equity, the holders of the non-controlling interest have the option
10 sell a percentage of their brand equity back to Next 15, while the remaining percentage can be sold in subsequent years or held
indefinitely (subject in some cases to a call option on the part of Next 15). Value is realised on any subsequent sale of the brand equity
units to the Group, restricted by defined terms around the timing and pricing formula. The purchase of the brand equity units will be
settled in Next 15 shares, for which there is in some cases no minimum holding period. Under certain plans, if the unit holder leaves
the business before the end of the minimum holding period, the Group retains the right to repurchase the shares under a consistent
pricing formula or require the participant to wait until the minimum holding period has elapsed.

Further details of the Group's equity incentive schemes are shown in note 21to the financial statements.

The nature of the equity incentive schemes means that the forecast of the number of shares to be issued centains significant
judgements, including forecasting the underlying performance of the business, movement in the Group’s share price and foreign
currency fluctuations. In the event that the Company is required to issue shares to participants in excess of the authority given
by shareholders, the Company's employee trust will purchase shares in the market. In order to ensure that sufficient shares are
available, the Company regularly reviews its headroom and hzas agreed to create a buy-back policy whereby the employee trust wil
purchase shares as and when required. As at 31 January 2019 no shares had been purchased to settle future vesting of the equity
incentive schemes.

The Company’s headreom remains within permitted limits and continues to improve. As at 31 January 2019 it was in the low
doubte-digits and is forecast to further improve in the year ahead.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Consideration of shareholder and broader stakeholder views
Next 15 values the views of its investors and has undertaken significant communication with shareholders and shareholder advisory

bodies over the Iast few years, obtaining voting support of 97.53% for the FY18 Directors’ Remuneration Report. The Company seeks
the support of its shareholders on matters relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors when required, and the Commitlee
ensures that it considers all of the feedback which it receives from its shareholders in this regard. In addition, our brend equity
schemes give Us & unigue way to stay in touch with our senior management and their senior teams.

Composition of the Committee
The Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors: Genevieve Shore (Committee Chair}, Richard Eyre and Penny Ladkin-Brand.

The Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attend the Committee meetings by invitation and assistthe Commitiee
in its deliberations, except when issues relating to their own remuneration are discussed. No Director is involved in deciding his or
her own remuneration. The Company Secretary or his nominee acts as secretary to the Committee. The Committee is authorised,
where it judges it necessary to discharge its responsibilities, to obtain independent professional advice at the Company's expense
and has sought advice from Pearl Meyer during the period. Details of the cost can be found below.

Terms of reference and activities in the year
The activities of the Committee are governed by its terms of reference, which were reviewed during the period and are available

from the Group’s website at www.nextt5.com. The Commiltee had six scheduled meetings during the year and details of attendance
can be found in the Cosporate Governance Report on page 27

Payments for ioss of office
There were no payments for loss of office during the period.

Payments made to remuneration advisers
During the period the Committee was assisted in meeting its responsibilities by Peart Meyer & Partners UK LLP, who provided advice
relating to the remuneration framework, for which they received fees of £18,998 excluding VAT. The Commiittee is satisfied that the

advice it receives is objective and indepandent.

Total shareholder return
The Company's total shareholder return performance for the seven financial years to 31 January 2019 is shown on the graph below

compared with the FTSE Meadia Index.
The Directors consider that 8 comparison of the Company's total shareholder return to that of similar businesses on the Main Market
is more relevant than a comparison with the FTSE AIM All-5hare Index.
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This graph shows the value on 31 January 2019 of £100 invested in the Company on 31 fanuary 2012 compared with £100 invested
in the FTSE Media Index.



Report of the Directors

The Directors present their Annual Report together
with the audited financial statements of Next Fifteen
Communications Group plc [the ‘Company’) and
its subsidiaries {the 'Group’) for the vear ended
31 January 2019,

The Group has chosen, In accordance with section
414C(11 of the Corpanies Act 2008, o include such
matters of strategic importance to the Group in the
Strategic Report which otherwise would be required
to be disclosed in this Directors’ Report.

Group results and dividends

The Group's results for the period are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on
page 57 The Directors recommend a final dividend
of 5.4p per Ordinary Share {2018: 4.5p) to be paid
on 26 July 2019 for the year ended 31 January 2019
which, when added to the interim dividend of 216p
(2018: 1.8p) paid on 23 November 2018, gives a total
dividend for the period of 7.56p per share {2018: 6.3p).

Directors

Details of Directors who served during the year and
hiographies for Directors currently in office can be
found on page 23.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration, share oplions,
service agreements and interests in the Company's
shares are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 32 to 42.

Except for Directors’ service contracts, no Director
has a material interest in any contract to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party.

Directors’ indemnity

in accordance with its Articles of Assaciation the Company
has entered into contractual indemnities with each of
the Directors in respect of its liabilities incurred as a
result of their office. In respect of those liabilities for
which Directors may noi be indemnified, the Company
maintained a Directors’ and ORicers’ Liahility Insurance
policy throughout the period. Although the Directors'
defence costs may be met, neither the Company’s
indemnity nor the insurance policy provides coverin
the event that the Director is proved to have acted
dishonestly or fraudulently. No claims have been made
under the indemnity or against the policy.

Acquisitions

The following is a summary of Group acquisiticns
made in the year to 31 January 2019, more detailed
disclosure of which can be found in note 26 to the
financial statements.

On 6 February 2018, Next 15 acquired the Brandwidth
Group Limited, a UK-based digital innovation agency.
The initial consideration for the acquisition was £6.2m,
which was settled with £4.9m of cash and the issue
of 282,235 new Ordinary Shares in Next 15, Further
deferred consideration may be payable this year of
up to £3.3m and around Aprit 2020 of up to £0.8m
based on the EB(T performance of Brandwidth in the
year ending 30 June 2018.

On 12 July 2018, Next 15 acquired the Technical
Associates Group (‘TAG') through the purchase of
the entire issued share capital of Technical Publicity
Limited. The initial consideration for the acquisition
was £2.2m, which was settled with £1.9m of cash and
the issue of 67750 new Ordinary Shares in Next 15.
Further geferred consideration of £0.6m is payable in
April 2020, Contingent consideration dependent onthe
combined EBIT performance of TAG and Publitek, an
existing Next 15 business, is also payable in April 2020.
The maximum total expected consideration of £3.6m
represents a bx multiple on TAG's average adjusted
EBIT performance over the last three years ending
31 March 2018.

On 1 November 2018, Next 15 acquired Activate
Marketing Services LLC (Activate’), a B2B demand
generation company based In San Francisco and
New York. The initial consideration for the acquisition
was approximately $9m settled in full in cash. Deferred
top-up contingent consideration of up to $2.25mis
payable in 2019 based on performance targets for
Activate for the nine months ending 31.July 2013 payable
in cash or up to 75% in shares at Next 15's discretion.
Further deferred contingent consideration is payable
over the next five years, in cash or at Next 15's discretion
upto 25%inshares, dependent on Activate’s profitability
and a multiple driven by margin and revenue growth post
the acquisition. Taken together the initial consideration
and top-up paymentrepresented a valuation of Activate
of 64x on the forecast 2018 normalised EBIT. The total
consideration payable is capped at $48m.
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Report of the Directors continued

Acquisitions continued

On 10 January 2019, Next 15 acguired Planning-Inc Limited
{Planning-inc'), a predictive analytics and data markeling
business. The initial consideration for the acquisition was
approximately £6.3m, which was settled with £5.4min
cash and the issue of 187,943 new Ordinary Shases in
Next 15, Further deferred contingent consideration may
be payable around April 2019 with a top-up payment
based on the EBITDA performance of Planning-inc
for the year ended 3t December 2018, and around
April 2021and April 2023 based on the EBIT performance
of Planning-incin the two-year periods ending 31 tanuary
2021and 31 January 2023 respectively. The maximum
total consideration is expected to be £15m.

Placing

On 1 November 2018, the Company undeitook a
nen-pre-emptive cash placing o reise gross proceeds
of up to £20m (before expenses){the "Placing’) to fund
the acquisition of Activate (as described above) and
associated costs and to support future identified
acquisition opportunities in the near term. The Placing
was conducted througn an accelerated bookbuild and
was completed an 2 November 2018, Atotal of 4,210,526
new Ordinary Sharesin the Company of 2.5p each (the
‘Placing Shares’) were placed by Nurmis at a price of
475p per Placing Share (the 'Placing Price'). The Placing
Shares issued represented approximately 5.3% of the
issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company prior to
the Placing. The Placing Price represented a discount
of approximately 2.2% to the closing Ordinary Share
price on 1 November 2018.

Significant post-balance sheet events
There are no significant post-balance sheet events.

Likely future developments in the business

of the Company

The Group's priorities for 2019/20 are disclosed inthe
Strategic Report on pages tto 21.

Employees and workers

Cur employees and workers are considered one of
the Company's principal stakeholders as described in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 28to 29,

Equal opportunities

The Group seeks to recruit, develop and employ
throughout the organisation suitably qualified, capable
and experienced people, irrespective of sex, age, race,
disatility, religion or belief, marital or civil partnership
status or sexual orlentation. The Group gives full and
fair consideration to all applications for employment
made by people with disabilities, having regard to their
particular aptitudes and abilities.

Any candidate with a disability will not be excluded unless
itis clear that the candidate is unable to perform aduty
that is intrinsic to the role, having taken into account
reasonable adjustments. Reasonable adjustments to
the recruitment process will be made to ensure that
no applicant is disadvantaged because of his or her
disability. The Group's polictes for training, career
development and promaotion do not disadvantage
people with disabilities.

Diversity and inclusion

The Group's spproach to diversity and inclusion is set
out on our website at www.nextis.com. Qur approachto
Board diversity is set out on page 26 of the Corporate
Governance Report.

Health and safety

The Group recognises and accepts its responsibilities
for health, safety and the environment. The Group is
committed to maintaining a safe and healthy working
environmentin accordance with applicable requirements
atalllocations in the UK and overseas. The Chief Financial
Officer is responsible for the implementation of the
Group policy on health and safety.



Cyber security

In response to the growing global threat of third-party
attempts to exploit weaknesses in [T security systems,
the issue of cyber security is now a standing item
on the Board’s agenda. During the year the IT team
has continued its efforts to strengthen the security
stature across the Group. In addition to implementing
standardised policies, processes and procedures,
technical conirols and education toois have been
added to reduce the risk of threats to the Group’s
businesses, These indude laptop encryplion, vulnerability
assessments, patch management, phishing campaigns
and penetration testing.

Politicat donations

Itis the Group's policy not ta make donations far political
purposes and, accordingly, there were no payments
te political organisations during the year (2018: £Nil).

Charitable donations
During the year ended 31 January 2018, the Group
donated £41,440 to various charities (2018: £75,774).

Acquisition of shares

Acquisitions of shares by the Next Fifteen Employee
Trust purchased during the period sre as described
in note 23 to the financiat statements.

Financial instruments .
Information on the Group's financial risk management
objectives, palicies and activities and on the Group's
exposure tarelevant risks in respect of financialinstruments
is set out in note 19 and in the Strategic Report.

External Auditor

The Board appeointed Deloitte LLP to act as External
Auditor forthe year ended 31January 2019. A resolution to
reappoint Defoitte LLP as External Auditor of the Company
and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Disclosure of information to the Externat Auditor
Each of the persons who s a Oirector at the date
of approval of this report confirms that:

1. so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant
audit informatlon of which the Company's External
Auditor is unaware; and

2. the Director has taken all steps that they ought to
have taken as a Directorin order to make themselves
aware of any relevant auditinformatian and to ensure
that the Company’s External Auditor is aware of that
information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted
in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM will be held at the Company's offices at
75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF at 430 p.m.
on Wediesday 26 June 2019. The Notice of AGM and
explanatory notes regarding the ordinary and special
business to be put to the meeting will be set outin a
separate circular to sharehotders, which will be made
available on the Group's website atwww.nexti5.com and
mailed to shareholders who requested a paper copy.
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Report of the Directors continued

Significant shareholdings
As at 28 February 2019 the Company had received the notifications below of the following significant beneficial

holdings in the issued Ordinary Share capitaf carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of the Company.
The percentage holding Is based on the Company's issued share capital af the date of the notification.

2018

Total %

Octopus Investments 11,107,816 13.29
Liontrust Asset Management 10,159,510 12.15
Aviva Investors 7,997,630 9.57
Aberdeen Standard Investments - 6,752,539 8.08
Tim Dyson 5,077897 6.07
Canaccord Genuity Weaith Management 4,527,050 5.42
BlackRock 4,467,053 5.34
Herald Investment Management 3,841,419 4.59
Stater Investments 3,224,152 385
3,008,119 3.60

Bestinver Asset Management

Approved by the Board ¢n 2 Apyil 2019 and signed cn its behalf by:

At fm
Nick Lee Morrison

General Counsel and Company Secretary
2 April 2019



Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law
ithe Directors are required to prepare the group
financial statements in accordance with Intarnational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adapted by
the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation
and have elected to prepare the parent company
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law), including
FRS101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, Linder company
law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit
or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements,
the Directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently,

- make judgments and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

- state whether FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framewaork”
has been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained inthe financial statemenis; and

« prepare the financial statements en the going concern
basis unless It is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

In preparing the group financial statements, International
Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

- properly select and apply accounting policies;

- presentinformation, including accounting policies, in
amanner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information;

- provide additional disclosures when compliance with
the specific requirémems in IFRSs are insufficientto
enable users to understand theimpact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions onthe entity's
financial position and financial performance; ang

- make an assessment of the company's ability to
continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and enable them te enswe that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2008. They are alsc responsible for safeguarding the
assets af the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance
and integrity of the corporate and financial information
incluged on the company's website. Legisiation in
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdiclions.

Respansibility statement
We confirm that to the best of cur knowledge:

- the financial statements, prepared in accordance
with the relevant financial reporting framewaork, give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financiat
pasition and profit or loss of the company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken
as a whole;

the strategic report includes a fair review of the
development and perfarmance of the business and
the position of the company and the undertakings
included in the consclidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks
and unceriainties that they face; and

- the annual report and financial statements, taken as
awhole, are fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary forshareholders
to assess the company’s position and performance,
business model and strategy.

This responsibility statement was approved by the
Board of Directors on 2 April 2019 and Is signed on
its behaif by:

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc

Repart on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

- the financial statements of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc {the ‘parent company') and its subsidiaries {the 'Group’) give atrue and fair
view of the state of the Group's and of the parent campany's affairs as at 31 January 2013 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance wiih International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union;

+ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
We have audited the financial statements, which comprise;

« the consolidated income statement;

+ the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

+ the consclidated and parent company balance sheets;

- the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

- the consolidated cash flow statement; and

+ the related notes t to 30 and Parent Company notes 1to 12,

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework thai has been applied in the preparation of the parent
company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure

Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our auditin accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) {ISAs {UK)) and applicable law. Qur responsibilities
underthose standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are Independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are refevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, incluging the 'FRC's' Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a hasis for our opinion.

Summary of our audit approach

Key audit maotters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

- impairment of acquired goodwill . wvaluation of acquisition-related liabilities

. valuation of acquired intangibles . classification and presentation of Adjusting items

Materiality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was £573m, which was determined based on
a blended measure and represents 4.8% of adjusted profit before tax and 0.6% of revenue. Adjusted profit

before tax is disclosed in note S o the financial statements.

Qur scoping is based on both a qualitative and quantitative assessment of the individual brands. 73% of Group
revenue was subject to full audit scope and a further 10% was subject to specified audit procedures performed
by the Group auditor.

Scoping




Conclusions relating to going concern

We are requireo by 1SAs (UK} to report in respect of the following matters where: We have nothing to report in

- the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial

respect of these matters.

statements is not appropriate; or

- the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncentainties
that may cast significant doubt sboutthe Group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve manths from
the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Key audit matters

Key audit mattess are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether of not due to fraud) that we
identified, These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in
the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

Thase matters were addressed In the context of our audit ofthe financial statements as & whole, and in forming our opinion therean,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matiers.

Impairment of acquired goodwill

Key audit matter
description

As at 31 January 2019 the Group had recognised goodwill of £79.5m (2018: £65.9m).

Determining whether the carrying value of acquired goodwill is recoverable is a significant judgement
given the acquisiiive business model of the Group, the number of cash generating units {'{CGUs") within
the Group with matenal Soodwill balances and e significant assumptions underpinning the Directars’
impairment assessment of Brang CGUs.

In determining forecast growth and profitability assumptions within their impairment medels, the Directors
considered the possible impact of Brexit on Brand performance across the Group, particularly on UK centric
Brands. Aithough there is not 8 ctear consensus across commentator that Brexit will lead to recession.
the Directors sensitised down short and medium-term growth rates for UK Brands 1o 0.5%, to model a
prudent scenario of the impact of Brexit. This scenarie would not resultin an impairment and the Directors
have not recognised an impairment in the current year.

For futher detalls, see notes 1, 2 and 1.

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key cudit matter

In order to address this key audit matter, our audit work included:

- evalusting the design and implementation cf key controls arcund the impairment review process
and the budgeting process;

- considering historical ferecasting accuracy;

+ assessing the relevance of growth rate assumptions based on our knowledge of that brand, in the
context of Brexit;

» benchmarking the forecast growth and retention rates against other Group companies and available
industry data;

- involving valuation specialists to benchmark the discount rate as well as the key inputs used in the calculation;
- considering the appropriateness of CGUs and the changes in CGUs in the year;

reviewing the disclosure in the financial statfements to assess whether it is compliant with 1AS 36
Impairment of Assets; and

- performing sensitivity analysis of the critical assumptions to assess whether a reasonable change would
trigger an impairment which would require additional disclosure.
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Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc

Impairment of acquired goodwiil continued

Key observations

The discount rate spplied Is within our acceplable range, The rate used by the Directors is towards the
higher end of our acceptable range for the UK {ihat is, more prudent) and towards the lower end for the
US {that is, more optimistic).

We are sallsfied that the growth retes applied in the Impairment mode| zre appropriate in the context of
the wider unceralnty related to the UK economy and Brexit.

We are satisfied that the mechanics of the Group's estimate and the application of the assumptions
comply with 1AS 36.

Based on the evidence recelved, we concluded that the valuation of goodwill for the businesses above
and the disclosures under IAS 36 in the Group financial statements are appropriate,

Valuation of acquired intangibles

Key oudit matter
description

The Group acquired Brandwidth, TAG, Activate & Planning-Inc In the year resulting 1n the recognition of
£24,3m of intangible assets and £10.8m of goodwiil, Acquired intangibles typically include brand names,
customer lists, non-compete agreaments and Intellectual property.

Glven the value of acquisitions In the year, there is a risk that the identification and valuatlon of separately
identiflable intangible assets are natin accordance with IFRS 3 Business Comblnations, or that the Directors
useinappropriale assumptions such as the discount rates and future cash flows of the acquired businesses
in thelr valuation models, teading to material errors In the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets.

For further details, see the Repon of the Directars, the Rnancial Review and notes 1, 2, 1t and 26.

How the scope of our
oudit responded to
the key oudit matter

in order to address the risk relating to Identification and valuation of intanglble assets, our audit work included:

evaluating the deslgn and implemantatlon of contrals around acquisition accounting, as well as Group
revlew of the complance of the calculation with [FRS 3 Business Combinations;

considering the appropriateness of the Group's process for identifying and valuing acquired intangibles;

benchimarking the Useful Ecanomic Life {"UEL"} of acguired intangibles against industry peers:

reviewing the Share Purchase Agreement {SPA) and holding discussions with management to understand
the nature of the businesses acquired in order to assess whether all intangibie assets have beenidentifled;

reviewing the mechanical accuracy of the Group's valuation models;

challenging the assumptions against historicai data, comparable external data and performance of
other Group companies; and

challenging 1he individual discount rates used including benchmarking agalnst the year-end Group
Waighted Average Cost of Capital, reviewing the risk adjustments made in either the discount rate or
cash flows and benchmarking against discount rates used for similar brands acquired across the Group,

Kay vbservotions

We conslder the Group's valuation models applied o identify andvalue the separately identfiable intangible
assets as appropriate and consistent with prior periods.

The discount rate applied is within our acceptable range.




Valuation of acquisition-related liabilities

Key oudit motter
description

As at 31 January 2019 the Group had £311m of acquisition related liabilities (2078: £25.6m) which consist
mainly of contingent consideration payable based on a share of the average profit of the businesses
acquired. The vaiue of these liabilities can be highly judgemental as they are based cn forecast future
performance of specific brands, whilst they are also sensitive to changes in exchange rates and the
discount rate applied. There is a risk that these liabilities are inappropriately valued if they are based on
inappropriate assumptions.

For further details, see and notes 1, 2 and 17.

How the scope of our
qudit responded to
the key audit motter

Qur audit work relating to acquisition-related liabilities included:

- evalusting the design and implementation of controls aroynd the recognition and calculation of the

acquisition related liabilities, including appropriste review of the forecasts used and assumptions made
by the respective brand management teams; |

reviewing terms of the SPAs of all new acquisitions inthe year (o assess whether any acquisition related

liabilities should be included at year-end and thatthe lfabilities are calculated in accordance with the terms;

challenging revenue growth and profit margin assumptions considering historical accuracy of budgeting
and benchmark dats;

challenging forecasting estimates to determine whether changes in estimate are based on information
obtained post-acquisition;

invalving valuation speciafists to benchmark the discount rate as well as the key inputs used in the calculation,
benchmarking the forecasts against other Group companies and available industry data; and

performing sensitivity analysis ot the criticai assumptions lo assess whether a reascnable change would
trigger an impairment which would require sdditional disclosure.

Key observations

We consider the Directors’ judgements regarding future performance of the brands with acquisition-
related liabllities to be appropriate, although we note that they are sensttive to these judgements as set
out in Note 17.

The discount rate applied is within our acceptable range.
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Independent auditors’ report continued
to-the members of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc

Classification and presentation of Adjusting items

Key oudit matter
description

The Group present Profit Before Tax adjusted for certain Adjusting items to ald users understanding of
the financial performance of the Group. The Group receive certain income and incur certain costs that are
either one-off in nature or relate to multiple years, and the Directors therefore provide Adjusted metrics
which seek to reflect the underlying performance of the Group. Profit Before Tax for the year was £18.8m
compared to Adjusted Profit Before Tax of £36.0m.

Judgement is required when determining the accounting policy for Adjusting ltems and subsequently
when determining the classification of Adjusting items in accordance with that policy. While there Is no
definition of adjusting items within IFRS, this is an area of focus for regulators and there is a risk that
iterns may be classified as Adjusting items which are underlying or recurring items and may distort the
reported Adjusted profit.

The key audit matter is focused on whether the following Adjusting items in particular are appropriate
and whether they are adequately disclosed by the Group in the financial statements:

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (debit of £9.0m): In line with its peer group, the Group classifies
amortisation on acquired intangibles as Adjusting items. Judgement is applied in the allocation of the
purchase price between intangibles and gocdwill, and in determining the useful economic lives of the
acquired intangibles. The judgements made by the Group are inevitably different to those made by thelr
peers and as such amortisation of acquired intangibles been added back to aid comparability.

Restructuring costs {debit of £4.4m): For these 1o be classified as Adjusting itemns, they typically relate to
clearly identifiable initiatives and do not recur year on year or for an undefined period,

Growth share schemes {debit of £1.3m); Share-based payments are a cost of acquiring a business and
relieve companies of an alternative cash expense. The Directors have however excluded growth share

scheme charges from Adjusted metrics as the legal form of the Group’s scheme means that while the
mechanism is aimed at incentivising management performance over a period of time, the charge is booked

upfront as there is no vesting period.

For further details, see the Financial Review and notes 1, 2 and 5.

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key oudit motter

¢

Our audit work relating to classification and presentation of Adjusting items included:

- understanding the rationale for classifying balances as Adjusting items, considering whether this is
reasonable, in line with the Group's accounting policy and whether there is a consistent treatment of

items that increase and decrease the Adjusted profit measure;

- challenging whether any other items of income or expense ought to be included in or excluded from
Adjusting items;

« considering whether the classification of Adjusting items is consistent with Industry peers;

- evaluating whether the Group's policy to exclude each cost from Adjusted is appropriate in light of
IFRS requirements, ESMA and FRC quidance; and

- @ssessing whether the disclosures within the financial statements adequately explain the nature of
these items and how adjusted resuits are reconciled to statulory resulis.

Key observotions

We concur with the Directors’ assertion that the Adjusting items are in line with the Group's accounting
pelicies and that the presentation of Adjusting items is consistent between the periods presented.




Our application of materiality

Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed ar influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit
work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materislity for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Materiality

£173m

£1.55m

Basis for determining
materiality

We have considered the adjusted profit before tax, statutory
profit before tax and revenue measures in determining
materiality. Adjusted profit before tax is disclosed innote 5to the
financial statements.

Materiality equates to 4.8% of the adjusted profit before tax
figure of £36.0m and 0.6% of the revenue figure of £272.4m.

Parent company materiality represents 1.4%
of net assets which is capped at 90% of
Group materiality.

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

We considered a number of relevant benchmarks in our
determination of materiality. Adjusted profit before tax is the
main measure used in reporting the results for Next Fifteen
Communications plc as this is the key performance indicator for
the users of the financial statements of the Group, In addition, we
incorporated revenue and netrevenue as additional benchmark
as it reflects the growth of the Group.

The Parent company is & holding company,
and net assets is indicative of the company's
ability to support its subsidiaries.

Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a lower level than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Group performance materiality was set at 65% of Group
materiality for the 2019 audit. This equates to £1.12m and £1.0m for the audits of the Group and parent company financial statements
respectively. In determining performance materiality, we considered the following:

.+ Prior period errors: our experience of the audit has indicated a low level of corrected and uncorrected misstatements in prior

periods; and

- Statutory audit of components: For UK components in scope for the Group audit, which constitute 32.4% of consolidated Group
revenue, we use entity specific statutory materiality figures. These range from £0.1m to £0.4m and are lower than we would otherwise
have required for the purposes of the Group audit.

Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.08m for the Group,
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted repoiting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit
Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the averall presentation of the financial statements. :
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Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc

An overview of the scope of our audit

As a result of the disaggregated nature of the Group, a significant portion of audit planning time is spent so that the scope of our
work Is appropriate to address the Group's identified risks of material misstatement. In selecting the components that are in scope
each year, we obtained an understanding of the Group and its environment, including an understanding of the Group's system of
internal controls, and assessing the risks of material misstalement at the Group level. The components were also selected to provide
an appropriate basis on which to undertake audit work to address the identified risks of material misstatement.

Such audit work represents a combination of procedures, all of which are designed to target the Group's identified risks of material
misstatement in the most effective manner possible, Based on our assessment, we focused our audit wark on 22 componaents, 17 of
which were subject ta fult audit scope and 5 were subject to specified audit procedures. Gur procedures of these 22 components
provided coverage of 83% of the Group's consolidated revenue and 82% of the Group’s profit before tax.

Qur audit work at the components, excluding the parent company, is executed at levels of materiatity appropriate for such components,
which in all Instances are capped at 45% of Group materiality.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information  We have nothing to report in
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s repori thereon.  respect of these matters.

Qur opinion on the financial statements dees not cover the ather information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit ofthe financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infarmation
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financisk
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatemnent of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ respansibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsibfe for assessing the Group's and the parent company's ability
te continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters relsted to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liguidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic glternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonsble assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected te Influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements is lacated an the Financial Reporting Council's
website at: www.frc. org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditer's report.



Report on other legal and requlatory requirements

Opinlons on other matters prescribed by the Companiles Act 2006
In our apinlon, based on the work undertaken In the course of the audit

« the Information given In the strategic report and the directors” report for the financlal year for which the financial statements are
prepared Is consistent with the financial statements; and

- the strateglc report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and or the parent company and thelr envirenment obtalned In the
course of the audit, we have notidentified any materia! misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are requlred to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations recefved and accournting tecords We have nothing to report in
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinlon: respect of these molters,

+ we have not received all the Information and explanations we require for our audit, or

« adequate gccounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

the parent company flnancial stetements are not [n egreement with the accounting records
and retums.

Directars’ remuneration We have nothing to report in
Unger the Companles Act 20085 we are also required lo repont If in our opinion certain disclosures  respect of these matters.
of directars’ remuneretion have not been made. .

Use of our report

This report Is made solely to the company’s members, as a bedy, [n sccordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparles Act
2006. Our audit wark has been undertsken s6 that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to
state 16 them In an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or gssume
respensibllity to anyone other than the company and the compeny’s members as & body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

*A"\tﬁmu Cé/m-

Andrew Evans (Senfor Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Dgloitie LLP
Statutory Auditar

London

United Kingdom

2 April 2019
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Consolidated income statement

for the year ended 31 January 2019 and the year ended- 31 January 2018

Year ended Year ended
Year ended Year ended 31 January 31 January
31 January 31 january 208 2018
2019 2019 £'000 £000
Nole £'000 £'000 Restated’ Restated®
Billings 291,037 243,485
Revenue 2 272,413 233922
Direct costs (48,320) (37111
Net revenue 224,093 186,81
Staff costs 3 153,247 136,346
Depreciation 412 4199 3,985
Ameortisation 41 9,624 7.413
Other operating charges 36,346 31,842
Total operating charges [203,416) (179,586)
Operating profit 25 20,677 17,225
Finance expense 5} (6,584) (5.833)
Finance income 7 4,667 1878
Net finance expense (1,917} (3,955)
Share of profit fram associate 65 26
Profit before income tax 5 18,825 13,296
Income tax expense : : 8 (4,299) {4.000)
Profit for the year 14,526 2296
Atiributable to:
Owners of the Parent 13,887 8,632
Non-controlling interests 639 664
14,526 9,296
Earnings per share
Basic (pence) 10 175 n6
Biluted {pence) 10 16.3 10.5

1 Restated following the adoption of IFRS 15; refer 1o note 1.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consolidated Income Statement.

All results relate to continuing operations.



Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 January 2019 and the year ended 31 January 2018

Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2019 2018
Nete £'000 £'000
Profit for the year 14,526 9,296
Other comprehensive [expense)/income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value {loss)/gain on investments in equity instruments designated as FVTQCI (682) -
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2,886 5,427
{LossYgain arising on hedging instruments designated in hedges of the net assets
in foreign operation 19 {(700) 1190
Total other comprehensive income/{expense) for the year 4,504 (4,237)
Total comprehensive income for the year 16,030 5,089
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 15,391 4,395
Non-controlling interests 639 664
16,030 5,059

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,

All results relate to continuing operations.
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 January 2019 and 31 January 2018

31 January 31 January 31 January 31 January
2019 2010 Mg 208
Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Assets
Property, plant and eguipment 12 15,870 13,567
Intangible assets 1 126,149 594,843
Investment in equity-accounted associate g8 132
Investments in financial assets 1,587 1211
Deferred tax assets 18 10,521 9,794
Other receivables 13,19 803 535
Tatal non-current assets 155,028 120,082
Trade and other receivables 1319 66,123 49,538
Cash and cash equivalenis 19 . 20,501 24,283
Corporation tax asset 799 784
Total current assets 87,423 74,605
Total assets 242,451 194,687
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 19 20,678 34,465
Deferred tax liabilities 18 4,503 3,869
Qther payables 14,19 4,622 4,290
Pravisions 1519 1,825 141
Deferred consideration 1719 2,464 1,784
Contingent consideration 1719 20,147 13,271
Share purchase obligation 1719 128 955
Total non-current liabilities {54,367) (58,775}
Loans and borrowings 19 5,000 14086
Trade and other payables 1419 60,173 45,003
Provisions 159 1118 1,408
Corporation tax liability 1,985 2,154
Deferred consideration 1719 2,182 4,255
Contingent consideration 1719 4,565 5,368
Share purchase obligation 1719 1,608 -—
Total current liabilities {76,631) {59,591
Total liabilities (130,998) (118,366}
Total net assets 111,453 76,321
Equity
Share capital 20 2,089 1,892
Share premium reserve 62,993 28,61
Share purchase reserve {2,673) {2.673)
Foreign cusrency translation reserve 7.697 4,81
OCther reserves 24 1,019 1719
Retained earnings 41,404 42,604
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent 112,529 76,964
Non-controliing interests {1,076) {643)
11,453 76.321

Tota! equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consolidated Balance Sheet.

These financial statements were approved and authorised by the Board on 2 Aprit 2019.

fl2 .

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer

Company number 01579589
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 January 2019 and the year ended 31 January 2018

Forelgn Equity
Shara Share Curengy attributeble Non-
Share premium purchase translation Other Retalned toowneisof  controlling Totat
capital reserve reserve resemnve reserves' earnings the Parent Interasts equity
Note £900 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £:000
At 31 January 2018
as previously stated 1.892 28,61 (2,673) 4,81 1719 42 604 76,964 (643) 76,321
Change in accounting
policy (IFRS 9)? — - — - — 48 48 - 48
At 1 February 2018
as restated 1,892 28,61 (2,673) 4,81 1,719 42,652 77012 (643) 76,369
Profit for the year - — - - —_ 13,887 13,887 6339 14,526
Other comprehensive
incomef{expense) for
the year — —_ 2,886 {700) (682) 1,504 — 1,504
Total comprehensive
incomel{lexpense) for
the year — — — 2,886 (700 13,205 15,391 639 16,030
Shares issued on
satisfaction of vested
performance shares 20 68 10,593 — - — (10,697) {36) — {36)
Shares issued |
on acquisitions 20,26 24 4,433 — - - — 4,457 — 4,457
Shares issued
on placing 20 105 19,356 — — — — 19,481 — 19,461
Ohbligation to purchase
non-controlling interest — — - — — —_ — (515) (519)
Movement in relation to
share-based paymenis - - — — - 2,510 2,510 - 2,510
Tax an share-based
payments 8 — - - - —_— 203 203 - 203
Dividends to owners
of the Parent 9 — — — - — (5,243) (5,243) — (5,243)
Movement due to ESOP
share purchases — - — - (12) — {12} - (12}
Movement due to ESCOP
share option exercises — — — — 12 — 12 — 12
Movement on reserves
for non-conirolling
interests — — — — — {1,226) {1,2286) 1226 -
Non-controlling interest
purchased in the perod — — — — — — — (383) (383)
Non-controlling dividend - - - - - - - 1400}  (1,400)
At 31 January '2019 2,089 62,993 (2,673) 7,697 1,019 41,404 112,529 {1,076) 111,453

1 Other reserves include the ESOP reserve, the treasury reserve, the merger reserve and the hedging reserve; see note 24.
2 Refer ta note 1 for the restatement required following adoption af IFRS 9.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued

for the year ended 31 January 2019 and the year ended 31 January 2018

N M e e—— .-
e —— - —

Foreign Equity
Share Share cuirency atiributable Non-
Share premium purchase translation Other Retained toownersof  contreling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserves’ eamings  the Parent Interests equity
Note £900 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 €000 £/000

At 31 January 2017 1,834 25,681 {2,673) 10,238 529 31,962 67571 926 68,497
Profit for the year — — - — — 8,632 8632 6564 9,296
Diher comprehensive
{expense)/income for
the year — — — (5427 1190 - (4,237} - {4.237)
Total camprehensive
{expense)income for
the year — — — (5,427} 1180 8,632 4,395 664 5,059
Shares issuved on
satisfaction of vested
performegnce shares 20 40 — - — — (t)) {37) - 37)
Shares Issued on
acquisitions 20,26 18 2,930 — — — — 2,948 — 2,948
Movement in relation to
share-based payments —_— — — — — 4,284 4284 — 4,284
Tax on share-based
payments 8 — — — — — 1,240 1.240 — 3,240
Dividends to owners
of the Parent 9 — — — - — {4121) {4127) — {4121}
Movement cue to ESOP
share purchases — — — — 39 — {39) — (39)
Movement due to ESQP
share option exercises -~ — — — 39 — 39 -~ 35
Movement on reserves
for non-controlling
interests — - — — — 684 684 (684} —
Non-controlling dividend - — — — — - — {1,549} {1,549)
At 31 January 2018 :
as previously stated 1,892 28,61 (2.673) 4811 1719 42,604 76,964 (643) 76,321
Change in accounting
policy (IFRS 9)? — — — - — 48 48 — 48
At 1 February 2018
as restated 1,892 . 2861 (2,673) 4811 1,719 42,652 772 {643). . 76,369

1 Otherreserves include the ESQP reserve, the treasury reserve, the merger reserve and the hedging reserve; see note 24,

2 Refer to note 1{or the restatement required foliowing adoption of IFRS 9.

The accompanying notés are an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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Consolidated statement of cash flow 3
for the year ended 31 January 2019 and the year ended 31 January 2018 5
@
=
©
3
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended 5;
. 31 January 31 January 3i Janueary 31 January
2019 2019 2018 2018
Note €000 £000 £'000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 14,526 9,296
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 412 4,199 3,985
Amortisation 411 9,624 7413
Finance expense 6 6,584 5,833
Finance income 7 4,667 1.878)
Share of prefit from equity-accounted associate {65) (26}
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 202 147
Income tax expense 4,299 4,000
Share-based payment charge 2,510 4,284
Net cash inflow from operating adtivities befere changes
in warking capital 37,212 33,054
Change in trade and other receivables (8.013) {5,860) '
Change in trade and other payables 7,629 2143
Movement in provisions 1,554 (472}
Change int working capital 1170 {4,189}
Net cash generated from operations 38,382 28,865
Income taxes paid (6,237} (4,284}
Net cash inflow {from operating activities 32345 24,581
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries trade and assets, net of cash acquired 26 {19,281) {9,824}
Payment of contingent consideration {9,265) (5,062)
Purchases of equity instruments designated at FVTOCI {1,008) (464)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (5,648) {2.974)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 71 : 7
Acquisition of intangible assets (2,384) {1193}
Net movement in long-term cash deposits 132 (%)
Interest received 7 229 17
Net cash outflow from investing activities {37154) {19,359}
Net cash [outflow}/inflow from operating
and investing activities (5,009) 5,182

a1
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Consolidated statement of cash flow continued

for the year ended 31 January 2019 and the year ended 31 January 2018

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January 3% January 31 Janvary
2019 2019 28 2018
Note £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Net cash {outflow)/inflow from operating
and investing activities (5,009) 5182
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds on issue of share capital 20,000 —
Issue costs on issue of Ordinary Shares (539) —
Capital element of finance lease rental repayment (5) (17)
Increase in bank borrowings and overdrafts 39,096 8,000
Repayment of bank borrowings and overdrafts (50,018) {3.518)
Interest paid 6 {1,246) 834
Dividend and profit share paid to non-controlling
interest partners {1,400) (1,549)
Dividend paid to shareholders of the Parent 9 {5,243) (4.121)
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from financing activities 645 (2.,034)
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents {4,364) 348
Cash and cash eqguivalents at beginning of the year 24,283 22,072
Exchange gain/{loss) on cash held 582 {937)
20,501 24,283

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 19

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow.



Notes to the accounts
for the year ended 31 January 2019

1 Accounting policies
Next Fifteen Communications Group plc {the 'Company’) is a public limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom {UK") and
registered in England and Wales. The consolidated financial statements include the Company and its subsidiaries {together, the

‘Group’) and its interests in associates.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are sel out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

A. Basis of preparatian

The Group’s financial statements have been prépared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted by the European Union {Adopted IFRSs') and the parts of the Companies Act
2006 applicable io companies repotiing under Adopted IFRSs. These financial statements are presented in pounds stesfing because
that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis {as set out in the Report of the Directors) and
on a historical cost basis, except for the remeasurement to fair value of certain financial assets and liahilities as described in the

accounting poticies below.

B. New ond omended standords gdopted by the Group

Impact of initial application of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers™ which Is effective for annual periods
beginning cn or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 introduced a five-step approach to revenue recognition. Details of the new requirements
as well as their impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements are described below. In accordance with the transition
pravisicns in IFRS 15, the Group has sdopted the new rules retraspectively and has restated comparatives far each prior period
presented in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assessed whether the adoption of IFRS 15 had any impact on the timing of revenue recognition. Under IAS 18 the Group
recognised revenue based on stage of completion whergas JFRS 15 established a five-step model where the recognition should he when
contractual performance obligations are satisiied by transferring control of the goods or services to the customer Following assessment
ot the contracts held by the Group, it was determined that the impact of aligning the Group's revenue recognition with performance
obligations to the customer did not have a material impact on the revenue in the prior periods. Therefore, no restatement has been made.

For certain of our contracts, the adoption of IFRS 15 resulted in a change in our accounting for certain third-party costs which are
billed onto clients. Revenue earned from billing on third-party costs are included in revenug when the Group acts as principal with
respect to the services provided to the client and are excluded when the Group acts as egent. Under IFRS 15 the Group is considered
principal for certain third-party costs which are billed onto clients, where the Group previously accounted for these costs as agent,
An adjustment to increase revenue by £37m for the year ending 31 January 2018 has therefore been made ta reflect this change,
with a corresponding increase in direct costs. As a result, there has been no impact to net revenue or profit for the prior periods.

Year ended
31 January
2018
£'000
Revenue

Increase due to principal versus agent considerations 37

Direct costs
37m

Increase due to principal versus agent considerations

Impact on net revenue/profit for the year

Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments’

[n the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments’ and the related consequential amendments to other Adopted
IFRSs that are effective for periods beginning an or after 1 January 2018, The transition provisions of IFRS 9 allow an entity not to
restate comparatives. The adjustments arising from the impact of IFRS 9 are not reflected in the balance sheet at 31 lanuary 2018,
however, they are recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 February 2018.

IFRS 9 introduced new requirements for:
i). the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities;
2}. impairment of financial assets; and

3). general hedge accounting.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

1 Accounting policies continued

B. New and amended standards adopted by the Group continued

Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 *Financial [nstruments’ continued

Details of the impact of these new requirements on the Group's consolidated financial statements are described below,

1. The classification and measurement of financiol ossets and finoncial liabilities

The date of initial application {the date on which the Group has assessed its existing financial assets and financigl fiabilities in terms
of the requirements of IFRS 9) is 1 February 2018. All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required
to be measured subsequently at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity's business model for managing the financiat
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Specifically, for the Group, the financial assets held (such as trade receivables) are held within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal. They therefore continue to

be measured at amortised cost.

The Group does hold investments in equity instruments and has made the irrecoverable designation to measure these &t fair value
through other comprehensive income ((FVTOCH) as they are not held for trading. These investments were previously held at cost and
an adjustment has been made to opening retained earnings to reflect the adjustment to fair value for these ungquoted investments
at 1 February 2018; the adjustment increases the value of the equity instruments by £48,000.

The application of IFRS 8 has had no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.

2). Impairment of financial assets
In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model which requires the Group to account

for expected credit losses to reflect the credit risk of those financial assets. Specifically, the Group is required to recognise a loss
allowance for its trade recelvables and contract assets. Given the Group's historical low level of bad debt losses, this has had a
minitnal impact on the Group.

3). General hedge accounting
The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting and introduces greater flexibility to

the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting. The Group has only used net investment hedging in the current and prior
period. The Group has opted to continue to account for its net investment hedges under IAS 39 rather than transition 1o IFRS 9.

4). Disclosure requirements for initial application of IFRS 9

There were no financial assets or {inancial liabilities which the Group has had to reclassify or redesignate as a result of the transition
to IFRS 9. The Group has elected to designate its investmeat in equity instruments as FVTOCI on transition to IFRS 9. The Group
has opted to not restate comparatives. The only adjustment required to opening retained earnings is on revaluing the investment in
equity investments as at 1 February 2018 which has increased equity by £48,000.

The application of IFRS 9 has had no impact on the consolidated cash flows of the Group or on earnings per share.

C. Bgsis of consolidation
The Group's financial statements consolidate the results of Next Fitteen Communications Group plc and all of its subsidiary undertakings,

and its interests in associates.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control Is achieved where the Company has existing rights that give
it the ability to direct the activities that affect the Company's returns and exposure or rights to variable returns from the entity. The
existence and effect of patential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.

In the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially recognised at
their fair values &t the acquisition date. The results of acquired operations are included in the Consolidated Income Statement from
the date on which control is obtained. :

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately fram the Parent's ownership interests
in them. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interast in the acquiree either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. Each of these approaches has been used by
the Group. Non-controlling interests are subsegquently measured as the amount of those non-controlling interests at the date of the
original combination and the non-controlling interest's share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.



1 Accounting policies continued

C. Basis of consolidation continued

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Associates
are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The Consolidated income Statement reflects the share of the results of
the operations of the associate after tax.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interests in the acquired entity are remeasureg o s
acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the Consofidated Income Statement. Ameounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the scquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement, where such treatment would be appropriste if that interest were disposed of.

If the initizl accounting for 8 business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies {Next Fifteen Communications
Group plc and its subsidiaries) are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting peoticies for subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

D. Merger reserve (included in other reserves)

Where the conditions set cut in section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 or equivalent sections of previous Companies Acls are met,
shares issued as part of the consideration in a business combination are measured at their fair value in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet, and the difference between the nominal value and fair value of the shares issued is recognised in the merger reserve.

£. Revenue and other income
Billings represant amounts receivable from clients, exclusive of VAT, sales {axes and trade discounts in respect of charges for fees,
commission and rechargeable expenses incurred on behalf of clients.

Revenue comptises commission and fees earned and Is recognised when a performance obligation is satisfied, in accordance with the
tering of the contrattual agreement. Typically, performance obligations are satisfied over time a8 services are rendered. Paymentierms
across the Group vary, but the Group is generally paid in arrears for its services and payment is typically due between 60 and 90 days.,

Revenue recognised over time is based on the proportion of the level of service performed. Either an input methed or an output
method, depending on the particular arrangement, is used to measure progress for each performance obligation. In the majority of
cases, relevant output measures such as the completion of project milestones set cut in the contract are used to assess propoiticnal
performance, Where this is not the case then an input method based on costs incurred to date is used o measure performance. The
primary input of substantially all work performed is represented by labour. As a resuit of the relationship between labour and cost
there is normally a direct correlation between costs incurred and the proportion of the contract performed to date.

The amount of revenue recognised depends on whether we act as an agent or as a principal. The Group acts as principal when we
control the specified good or service prior to transfer. When the Graup acts as a principal the revenue recorded is the gross amount
billed. Out-of-pocket costs such as travel are also recognised at the gross amount billed with a corresponding amount recorded as a
direct cost. Certain other sirangernents with our clients are such that cur responsibility is 1o arrange for a third party to provide a specified
good or service to the client, In these cases, we are acting as an agent and we do not control the relevant good or service before it is
transferred to the client. When the Group is acting as an agent, the revenue is recorded at the net amount retained. There is deemed to
be no significant judgements in applying IFRS 15 and in evaluating when customers ¢btain control of the promised goods or services.

Direct costs comprise fees paid to external suppliers when they are engaged to perform part or all of & specific project and are
charged directly to clients but where the Group retains quality control oversight, such as production or research costs.

Further details on revenue recognition in terms of the nature of contractual agreements are as follows:

- retainer fees relaie to arrangements whereby we have an obligation 10 perform services 1o the customer on an ongoing basis
over the life of the contract. In these instances, revenue is recognised using a time-based method resulting in straight-line revenue
recognition;

« where project fees relate to assignments carried out under contractual terms which entitle the Group to payment for its performance
to date inthe event of contract termination, then fees are recognised over the period of the relevant assignments. Revenue is typically

recognised in line with the value delivered to the customer which is the amount assigned to the project milestones completed set
out in the contract. Where this is not the case then an input methad based on costs incurred is used, and

- revenue c¢an be derived from media placements, for which the revenue for commissions on purchased media is typically recognised
at the point in time the media is run.
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1 Accounting policies continued

F. Intangible assets continued

Nen-compete

Certain acquisition agreements comain non-compete arrangements restricting the vendor's ability to compete with the acquinng
business during an earn-out period. The non-compete arrangements have a finite useful lifa equivalent to the length of the earn-
out period and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the

length of the arrangement.

The amorisation of acquired intangibles recognised as a result of IFRS 3 is added back for the Group’s adjusted performance
measures (o better represent the underlying trading from business operations and to enhance comparability of the Group's profitability
year on year.

G. Property, plant and equipment

Propesty, plant and equipment is stated at cost. net of depreciation. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment at
annual rates calculated to write off the cast, less estimated residual value, of each asset evenly over its expected useful life as follows:

Short leasehold improvements  —  Owver the term of the lease

Office equipment - 20% to 50% per annum straight-line basis
Office furniture —  20% per annum straight-line basis

Motor vehicles ~  25% per annum straight-line basis

H. Impairment
Impairment tests on goadwill are undertaken annually st the financial year end. Other non-financial assets (excluding deferred tax) are

subject to impairment tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is measured as the higher of value in use end fair value
tess costs to sell, the asset is impaired accordingly.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the asset's
cash-generating unit, defined as the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows. Goodwill is allocated on initial recognition to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the synerqgies of the combination giving rise to the goodwill. The cash-generating units represent the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Impairment charges are included within the amortisation and impairment line of the Consclidated Income Statement unless they
reverse gains previously recognised in other comprehensive income, An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed.

I. Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by Group entities in a currency other than the currency of the primary economic environment in which
they operate {their functional currency’) are recorded at the exchange rates ruling when the fransactions occur, Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement. In
the consolidated financial statements, {oreign exchange movements on intercompany toans with indefinite terms, for which there is
no expectation of a demand for repayment, are recognised directly in equity within a separate foreign currency translation reserve.

On consalidation, the results of overseas operations are transiated into sterling at the average exchange rates for the accounting period.

All assets and liabilities of overseas operations, including goodwill arising on the acquisition of those operations, are translated at
the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on translating the opening net assets at opening
rates and the results of overseas operations at average rates are recognised directly in the foreign currency transiation reseve
within equity. The effective periion arising on the retranslation of foreign currency borrowings which are designated as s gualifying
hedge is recognised within equity. See note 19 for more detail on hedging activities.

On disposal of a fareign operation, the cumulative translation differences recognised in the foreign currency transiation reserve
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are transferred to the Consolidated Income Statement as part of the profit or
loss on disposal.

On a reduction of ownership interest in a subsidiary that does not affect control, the cumulative retransiation ditference is only allocated
to the non-controlling interests (NCI') and not recycled through the Consolidated Income Statement.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

1 Accounting policies continued

J. Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker,
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the Board of Directors. The operating segments have changed in the current period to be both regional and
service segments. See note 2 for more detail on the change in operating segments.

K. Finoncial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group's Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes party to the

contractual provisions of the asset or liability. The Group's accounting policies for different types of financial asset and liability are
described below. ’

Financial assets and financialliabilities aré initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directiy attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financlal assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial fiabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Trade receivables
Alltrade receivables held by the Group are financial assets held within a business mode| whose objective is to hold financial assets in

order to collect the contractual cash flows. Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and will subsequently be measured
at amortised cost less allowances for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and shart-term call deposits heid with banks, with whom we determine there is

a low credit risk. Bank overdrafts are shown within loans and borrowings in current liabilities on the Censolidated Balance Sheet,
except where there is a pooling arrangement with a bank that allows them to be offsel against cash balances. in such cases the net
cash balance will be shown within cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recagnition of the respective financial
instrument. The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using & provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors

that are specific to the debtors.

Such provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account, with the loss being recognised as an expense in the other operating
charges line in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Contingent consideration

Oninitia recognition, the liability for contingent consideration relating ta acquisitions is measured atfair value. The liability is calculated
based on the present value of the ultimate expected payment with the corresponding debit included within goodwill. Subsequent
movements in the present value of the ultimate expected payment are recognised in the Consolidated Income Staterment within

finance income/expense.

The Group has a portion of contingent consideration which is payable subject to continuing employment of the previous owner
within the Group. The expected liability is recognised within operating costs evenly over the required employment term of the seller,

Share purchase obligation

Put-option agreements that allow the non-controlling interest sharehoiders in the Group's subsidiary undertakings to require the Group
to purchase the non-controlling interest are recerded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as liabilities. On initial recognition, the liability
is measured at fair value and is calculated based on the present value of the ultimate expected payment with the corresponding
debit included in the share purchase reserve. Subsequent movements in the present value of the ultimate expected payment are

recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement within finance income/expense.

The Group adjusts for the remeasurement of the acquisition-related liabilities within the adjusted performance measures in order
to aid comparability of the Group's results year on year as the charge/credit can vary significantly depending on the underlying
brand's performance.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter at amortised cost.



1 Accounting policies centinued

K. Fingncial instruments continued

Bank barrowing

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recognised at their fair value, net of direct issue costs and, thereafter, at amortised
cost. Finance costs are charged to the Consclidated Income Statement over the term of the debt so that the amount charged is at a
constant rate on the carrying amount, Finance costs include issue costs that are initfally recognised as a reduction in the proceeds
of the associated capital instrument.

Hedging activities
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of hedges of net investments in foreign operations.
The Group has chosen to continue to account for these under IAS 39 as allowed by the transition provisions for IFRS 9.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging Instruments used in hedging transactiocns
are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of hedged items.

Where a foreign currency loan is designated as a qualifying hedge of the foreign exchange exposure arising on retranslation of
the net assets of a foreign operation, any gain of 1ass on the hedging instrument relating 1o the effective portion of the hedge is
recognised in other comprehensive income in a separate hedging reserve included within other reserves. This offsets the foreign
exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the foreign operation's net assets, which are recognised in the separate foreign
currency iranslationreserve, The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised timmediatetly inihe Consolidated Income
Statement within finance income/expense.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity on retranslation of the foreign currency leans are recycled through the Consolidated Income
Statement when the foreign operation is sofd or is partially dispesed of so that there is a loss of control. At this point the cumulative
foreign exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the net assets of the foreign operation are similarly recycled through
the Consolidated Income Statement, Where the hedging relationship ceases to qualify for hedge sccounting, the cumulative gains
and losses remain within the foreign currency translation reserve until control of the foreign eperation is lost; subseguent gains and
losses on the hedging instrument are recognised in the Conselidated Income Statement.

Where there is a change in the ownership interest without effecting contral, the exchange differences are adjusted within reserves.

L. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present abligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will be
required to setlle that obligation, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. Provisions are created for vacant
or sublet properties when the Group has a legal obligation for future expenditure in relation to onerous leases. Provisions comprise
liabilities where there is uncertainty about the timing of the settlement and are measured at the present value of the Group's best
astimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date.

M. Retiremnent benefits :
Pension costs which relate to payments made by the Group to employees’ own defined contribution pension plans are charged to
the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred.

N. Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees via the Group’s Long-Term Incentive Plan. The share-

based payments are measured at fair value at the date of the grant and expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. -

The cumulative expense is adjusted for failure to achieve non-market performance vesting conditions.

Fair value is measured by use of the Black-Scholes maodel on the grounds that there are no market-related vesting conditions.
The expected life used in the mode| has been adjusted, based on the Board's best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavicural considerations.

The Group grants brand equity appreciation rights to key individuals in the form of LLC units or restricted Ordinary Shares in the
relevant subsidiary. The LLC units or restricted Ordinary Shares give the individuals a rigntto a percentage of the future appreciation in
their particular brand's equity. Appreciation is measured based on a muitiple of the brand's operating earnings in subsequent year{s),
over the base line value determined at the date of grant. Since any brand apprecialion payments are to be settled in Group equity,
they are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments. The Group fair values the LLC units or restricted Ordinary Shares
at the date of grant and expanses them fully at that point as there are no vesling criteria. The Group determines that these brand
appreciation rights {or growth shares) should be excluded from underlying performance as the cost accounting s not aligned to the
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

1 Accounting policies continued

N. Share-based payments continued :
timing of the anticipated benefit of the incentive, namely growth of the relevant brands. Therefore, adjusting for these within the

Group's adjusted performance measures gives a better reflection of the Group's profitabitity and enhances comparability year on year,

0. Leased assets
Where substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are nottransferred to the Group (an 'operating lease’), the totat

rentals payable under the lease are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a strafight-line basis over the lease term, The
aggregate beneafit of lease incentives is recognised as a reduction to the rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The land and buildings elements of property leases are considered separately for the purposes of lease classification.

Where Group assetls are leased out under operating leases with the Group acting as lessor, the assetis included in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and lease income is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

P. Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Consolidated

Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in otheryears and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible, The Group's ligbility for current tax is calcutated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Q. Deferred tax

Deferred tax asseis and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability In the Consclidated Balance Sheet
differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on;

- the initial recognition of goodwill;

- the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit; and

- investments in subsidiaries ang jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
difference and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeabie future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the asset can be utilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected o apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/{recovered).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right {o offset current tax assets and liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on either:

. the same taxatle Group company; or

- different Group entities which intend either to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, orto realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected

to be settled or recovered.

Where a temporary difference arises between the tax base of employee share options and their carrying value, a deferred tax asset
should arise. To the extent that the future tax deduction exceeds the related cumulative IFRS 2 'Share-Based Payment’ (IFRS 2')
expense, the excess of the asscciated deferred tax balance is recognised directly in equity. Te the extent that the future tax deducticn
matches the cumulative IFRS 2 expense, the associated deferred tax balance is recognised in the Consolidated income Statement.

R. Dividends
Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are recognised when paid. Final equity
dividends are recognised when approved by the sharehclders at an Annual General Meeting.

S. Employee Share Ownership Plon (‘ESOFP’)

As the Group is deemed to have control of its ESOP trust, the trust is treated as a subsidiary and is consolidated for the purposes
of the Group accounts. The ESOP’s assets (other than investments in the Company’s shares), liabilities, income and expenses are
included on & line-by-line basis in the Group financial statements. The ESOP's investment in the Group's shares is deducted from
equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as if they were treasury shares and presented in the ESOP reserve.



1 Accounting policies continued

T. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncerainty

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are deatt with separately below}, that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amaounts recognised in financial statements.

L identification of acquired intangible assets

As part of the acquisition accounting under IFRS 3, the Group must identify and value the intangibles it has acquired. The identification
of the intangibles acquired, such as customer relationships, intellectual property, non-compete agreements and brand names, requires
judgement following an assessment of the acquired business, This involves reviewing the past performance of the acquiree and
future forecasts to ascertain the intangibrle assets which the purchase price should be allocated to.

. identification of adjusting items

The identification of adjusting tems is a judgement in tetms of which costs or credits are not associated with the underlying trading
of the business and impact the comparability of the Group's results year on year. Adjusting items for the Group include amortisation
of acquired intangibles, the change in estimate and unwinding of discount on acquisition-related liabilities, deal costs, growth share
charges and certain other costs related to specific transformational events in any one year.

Key scurces of estimation uncertainty
The key assumpticns concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period that may have
8 significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

discussed below,

I, impairment of goodwili

In line with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets' the Group is required to test the carrying value of goodwill, at least annually, for impairment.
As part of this review process the recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined using value-in-use calculations, which requires
estimates of future cash flows and as such is subject to estimates and assumptions around revenue and cost growth rates from the
Board-approved budget and discount rates applied. Further details are contained in note 11

The Group has performed sensitivity analysis on the assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the purposes of the
goodwill impairment review. The Group performed two scenarios. Firstly, with all other variables unchanged, if revenue and costs
do not grow past the FY20 budget, and there is no growth in perpetuity, no impairment would be required. Secondly, with all other
variables unchanged, if the discount rate increased by 2% to 14.4% then this would indicate an impairment of £0.7m.

It. Contingent consideration, share purchase obligation ond valuation of put options

Contingent consideration and share purchase obligations relating to acquisitions have beenincluded based on discounted management
estimates of the most likely outcome. The difference between the fair value of the liabilities and the actual amounts payable is charged
to the Consolidated Income Statement as noticnal finance costs over the life of the associated liability. Changes in the estimates
of contingent consideration payable and the share purchase obligation are recognised in finance income/expense. These require
judgements around future revenue growth, profit margins and discount rates, which, if incarrect, could result in a material adjustment
to the value of these liabilities within the next financial year. Further details, including sensitivity analysis, are cantained in note 17.

U. New stondards and amendments not applied

The Group has not vet adopted certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards which have been
published byt are only effective for our accounting periods beginning on or after 1 February 2018 ar later periods. These new
proncuncements are listed below;

- IFRS 16 ‘Leases' (effective periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019);

- IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts’ (effective periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021);

- Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’ (effective periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019);
« Amendments to IAS 28 ‘Long-term Interestin Associstes and Joint Ventures' (effective periods beginning on or after1January 2019);

- Annual iImprovements to IFRS Standards 2015-17 Cycle — Amendments to IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’, IFRS 1 Joint Arrangements’,
IAS 12 "Income Taxes and IAS 23 '‘Borrowing Costs’ {effective periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019y,

« Amendments to 1AS 19 'Emplayee Benefits, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (effective pericds beginning on or after
1 January 2019);
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

1 Accounting policies continued
U, New standards ond amendments not applied continued
- IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ and JAS 28 (amendments), Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture; and
« |IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ {effective periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019),

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements
of the Group in future pericds except as follows:

- IFRS 16 requires the recognition of ali lease assets and liabilities by lessees on the balance sheet and is effective for the Group’s
vear ending 31 January 2020. The Group will be required to recognise a right-of-use asset and related liability for the majority
of their operating leases and show depreciation of leased assets and interest on lease liabilities separately in the Consolidated
Income Statement. The Group anticipates that the impact will be a reduction in profit of approximately £300,000 for the year ending
31 January 2020 when comparing to the current accounting for operating leases. A preliminary assessmentindicates that the Group
will recognise a right-of-use asset of £50m and a corresponding lease liability of £55m. The Group has chosen the cumulative
catch-up approach of IFRS 16 in accordance with IFRS 16:C5(b). The profile of the Group's principal leases is shown in note 25,

2 Segment information

Reportable segments

The Board of Directors has identified the operating segments based on the reports it reviews as the chief operating decision-maker
{CODM') to make strategic decisions, assess performance and allocate resources. These are deemed to be bothregional and service
segments, This has changed in the current period from regional segments as the CODM now reviews information split by service
as well as by geography to determine how to make strategic decisions and allocate its resources. The Group has restated the prior

year information based on this change in segments.

The Group's business is separated into a number of brands which are considered to be the underlying cash-generating units (CGUs).
These brands are organised into service segments based on the work they do for thelr custorners and into geographical segments
based on where the brand is located; within these reportable segments the Group operates a number of separate businesses which
generally offer complementary products and services to their customers.

Measurement of operating segment profil
The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the gperating segments based on a measure of adjusted operating profit before

intercompany recharges, which reflects the internal reporting measure used by the Board of Directors. This measurement basis excludes
the effects of certain fair value accounting charges, amartisation of acquired intangibles and other costs not associated with the
underlying business. Other information provided to them is measured in a manner consistent with that inthe financial statements. Head
office costs relate to Group costs before allocation of intercompany charges to the operating segments. Inter-segment transactions
have not been separately disclosed as they are not material. The Board of Directors does not review the assets and liabilities of the
Group on a segmental basis and therefore this is not separately disclosed.

Brand Oata and Creative

marketing anatytcs iechnology Head office Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £0600 £'000
Year ended 31 January 2019
Revenue 158,316 33,757 80,340 — 272,413
Net revenue 133,163 23,209 67721 o 224,093
Segment adjusted operating profitfloss) 29,580 FAYE 9,489 {9,284) 36,956
Adjusted operating profit margin' 22.2% 30.9% 14.0% — 16.5%
Organic net revenue growth 0.1% 30.6% 17.0% — 6.4%
Year ended 31 January 2018 {restated for new segments)
Revenue 155,995 21040 56,787 — 233922
Net revenue 134,678 13,869 48,264 —_ 196.81
Segment adjusted operating profit/{loss) 27465 3,509 7.945 (8,893) 30,026
Adjusted operating profit margin' 20.4% 253% 16.5% — 15.3%
Organic net revenue growth 1.0% 48.5% 12.2% — 5.2%

1 Operating profit margln 1s calculated as a percentage of net revenue.



2 Segment information continued
Measurement of operating segment profit continued

UK EMEA us Asia Pacific Head office Total
£000 £900 £000 €000 £'aca £000
Year ended 3t January 2019
Revenue 109161 10,267 136,290 16,695 — 272,413
Net revenue 83,528 8,735 17,91 13,919 — 224,093
Segment adjustéd operating profit/loss) 20,482 1504 22,047 2,207 {9,284) 36,956
Adjusted operating profit margin’ 24.5% 17.2% 18.7% 15.9% — 16.5%
Organic net revenue growth 15.5% 7.3% 2.8% (2.1%) - 6.4%
Year ended 31 January 2018
Revenue 77,378 8,951 131,045 16,548 — 233922
Net revenue 58,329 7,851 15,941 14,690 — 196,811
Segment adjusied operating profitioss) 12,984 792 23381 2,002 {8,893 30,026
Adjusted operating profit margin' 22.3% 9.6% 20.0% 13.6% — 15.3%

Organic net revenue growth 7.6% 3.4% 51% (0.7%) — 5.2%

1 Operatng profit marginis calcuiated as a percentage of nelrevenue.

A reconciliation of segment adjusted operating profit to statutory operating profit is provided as follows:

Year ended Year ended

3 January 3iJanuasy

2019 2018

£000 £'000

Segment adjusted operating profit 36.856 30.026
Share-based payment charge and charges associated with equity transactions accounted for as

share-based payments' (2132) (3.050)

Deal costs ‘ (575) {490)

Costs associated with restructuring?® {4,353) {1,700}

Charge associated with office moves® (173) (525)

Total adjusted costs in operating profit excluding amortisation {7.233) (5.765)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles® (9.046) (7.036)

Total adjusted costs in operating profit (16.279} (12.801)

Operating profit 20,677 17,225

1 £13m of this charge relates ta transactions whereby a restricied grant of brand equity was glven to key managament in M Booth & Associates LLC, Encore Digital Medls
Limited, Twogether Crestive Limited, Savanta Group Limited and ODD London Limited (2018: Text 100 LLC, Encore Digital Media Limlted, Bite Communications LLC apd
The OutCast Agency LLCY 5t nil cost which holds value in the form of access to future profit distributions as well as any future sale value under the performance-related
mechanism set out [n the share sale agreement, This value IS recognlsed as a one-off share-based payment In the inceme statement in the year of grant as the egreements
do not include service requiremeénts. It also Includes charges associated with equity transactions accounted for as share-based payments. The Group determines that these
brand apprecialion rights {or growth shares) should be excluded from underlying performance as the cost accounting is not aligned Lo the timing of the anticipated beneft
of the incentive, namely growth of the relevant brands. The remainder of this charge of £0.8m, relates to employment refated acquisition payments.

2 In the current perlod the Group has Incurred redundancy casts in relation to the restructurlng and merger of the Text 100 and Blte businesses and their relaunch under
the Archetype brand In the LIK and US. The Group has alsc incurred resinsciuring costs In the merging and rebranding of its research businesses under the Savania brand.
These costs relate ta these specific ransformational events; they do net relate to undedying trading and therefore have been added back to ald comparabllity of parformance
yaar on year, These costs are made ¢p of £3.4m staffrelated costs and £1.0m of other casts relating to the rebrandlng of the businesses.

3 inthe current year the Group has recognised an onerous lease provislon for excess property space within the portialio following the merger of Blle and Text 100, The Group
has adjusted far the cast of the onerous property leases as the additiona! rent cost deoes not relate 1o the underlying trading of the business.

4 Inline with its peer group, the Group determines that amortisation of acquired intangibles is not reflective of underlying performance, Judgement is applied in the sllacation
of the purchase price between Intangibles and geodwill, and In determining the useful economic lives of the acquired Intangibles. The judgements made by the Group are
Inevilably different ta those made by our peers and as such amortisatlon of acquired intangibies has been added back to aid comparability.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

3 Employee information
Staff costs for all employees, including Cirectors, consist of:

—— [ p——

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss

Year ended Year ended
3 January 31 January
2019 2018
£'900 £'000
Wages and salaries 136,421 120,541
Social security costs 10,292 8,906
Pension costs 3,202 2,544
Share-based payment charge {note 21) 3,332 4355
153,247 136,346
The average monthly number of employees during the period, by geographical location, was as follows:
Year ended Year ended
31January 31 January
2019 2018
UK 800 599
Europe and Africa 94 85
us 739 710
Asia Pacific 324 332
Head office a7 47
2,004 1777
. Key management personnel are considered to be the Board of Directors as set out on page 23.
Directors’ remuneration consists of: )
Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2013 2018
£'000 £000
Short-term employee benefits 1,226 1,300
Pension costs 1085 06
Share-based payment charge 1,094 a85
2,425 2,291
The highest paid Director received total emoluments of £1,076,000 {2018: £1,063,000).
4 Operating profit
This is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Year ended Year ended
31 fanuary 31 January
2019 2008
£000 £000
Depreciatlon of owned property, plant and equipment 4,199 3,583
Depreciation of assets held under finance leases .- 2
Amortisation of intangible assets 9,624 7413
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 202 147
Share-based payment charge 1,933 1,305
Share-based payment charge - adjusted (note 2) 2132 3,050
Opersting lease income (611} (640)
Cperating lease rentals — property 9,409 8,208
— plant and machinery 131 90
(660) 1,043




4 Operating profit continued

Auditor’s remuneration

Puring the year the Group {including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company's auditor and
their associates:

Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2019 2018
£000 £'000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the statutory audit of the Company accounts and consolidated
annual statements 237 205
The auditing of financial statements of the subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 230 174

Non-audit services:

Tax agvisory services 1 13
Other assurance services 5 5
483 397

B Reconciliation of pro forma financial measures
The following reconciliations of pro forma financial measures have been presented to provide additional information which will be
useful to the users of the financial statements in understanding the underlying performance of the Group.

The Group includes non-GAAP measures as they consider these measures to be both useful and necessary. They are used by the
Group for internal performance analyses; lhe presentation of these measures facilitates comparability with other companies, although
the Group's measures may nct be calculated in the same way as similarly titted measures reported by other companies, and these
measures are useful in connection with discussions with the investment community. The adjusting items have been explained in note 2.

The adjusted measures are also used for the performance calculation of the adjusted earnings per share used for the vesting of
employee share options (note 10}, banking covenants and cash flow analysis.

Adjusted profit before income tax and earnings to ordinary shareholders

Year ended Year ended

31 January 3 January

2019 2018

£000 £000

Profit before income tax 18,825 13,296
Unwinding of discount on contingent and deferred consideration (note 17)° 2,679 2,255
Unwinding of discount on share purchase obligation (note 17) 127 255
Total adjusting items in operating profit {noie 2) 16,279 12,801
Change in estimate of future cantingent consideration payable (nate 17)' {1,966) 1140
Change in estimate of future share purchase cbligation [note 7} 60 {409)
Adjusted profit before income tax 36,004 29,338

1 The Group adjusts for the remeasurement of the acqulsition-related liabilites within the adjusted performance measures In order te aid comparability of the Group's results
year on year as the charge/credit from remeasurement ¢can vary signlficantly depending on the underying brand's performance. [ Is non-cash and its directional impacl to
- the income statement is opposite to the brand's performance driving the valuations.
2 The unwinding of disceunt on these liabilities Is also excluded from underlying performence on the basis thal Itis non-cash and the batance is driven by the Group's assessment
of the time velue of menay 2nd this exclusion ensures comparability.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

5 Reconciliation of pro forma financial measures continued

Adjusted EBITDA
Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2019 2018
£'000 £'000
Operating profit 20,677 17,225
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment (note 12} 4,189 3,983
Depreciation of assets held under finance leases {nate 12) - 2
Amaortisation of intangible assets (note 11} 9,624 7413
EBITDA 34,500 28623
Total adjusting itermns in operating profit excluding amortisation {note 2) 7,233 5765
Adjusted EBITDA 41,733 34388
Adjusted staff costs
Year ended Year ended
31January 31 January
2019 2018
£000 £000
Staff costs 153,247 136,346
Reorganisation costs (3,383) {1,344)
Charges associated with equily transactians accounted for as share-based payments (note 2) {2,132) (3.050)
Adjusted staff costs 147,732 131,952
6 Finance expense
Year ended Year ended
21 January 31 January
2019 2018
£000 £000
Financial liabillties at amortised cost
Bank interest payable 1,235 831
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and lass
Unwinding of discount on share purchase cbligation {note 17) 127 255
Change in estimate of future share purchase obligation {note 17) 126 —
Unwinding of discount on contingent and deferred consideration [note 17} 2,679 2,255
Change In estimate of future conling;ent consideration payable {note 17) 2,408 2,492
Qther
Other interest payable 1 —
Finance expense 6,584 5,833
7 Finance income
Year ended Year ended
31 January 3 January
2018 2018
£000 £000
Financial assets at amortised cost
Bank interest recejvable 82 98
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Change in estimate of future share purchase obligation (note 17) 66 409
Change in estimate of future contingent consideration (note 17) 4,372 1352
Other
Gther interest receivable 147 19
4,667 1,878

Finance income




8 Taxation
The major components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 January 2019 and year ended 31 January 2018 are:
Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2019 2018
£000 £000
Consaolidated Income Statement
Current income tax
Current income tax expense 6,750 5770
Adjustments in respect of current income tax in prior years (293) {498)
Deferred income tax
Relating to the origination and reversal of temperary differences (2,205) {1.459)
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax for prior years 47 197
Income tax expense reported in the Consolidated Income Statement 4,299 4,000
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Tax credit relating to share-based remuneration (203) 1,240}
Income tax benefit reported in equity (203) (1.240)
Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%
(2018: 1917%). The difference is explained below:
Profit before income tax 18,825 13,286
Corporation tax expense at 19% (2018: 19.17%) 3,577 2,549
Effects of:
Disallowed expenses 517 1,688
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses (58) (396)
Non-utilisation of tax losses 3 2
Higher rates of tax on overseas earnings 506 1183
Deduction for overseas taxes - (715)
Adjustments in respect of prior years (246) (3n)
4,299 4,000
Reconciliation of tax expense in the Consolidated Income Statement to adjusted tax expense:
income tax expense réported in the Consolidated Income Statement 4,299 4,000
Add back:
Tax on adjusting items
Costs associated with the current period restructure and office moves (note 2) : . 803 630
Unwinding of discount on and change in estimates of contingent and deferred consideration (note 17} . 162 (25)
Share-based payment charge {note 2) 90 552
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1746 1,530
Impact of US tax reform : - (817)
Adjusted tax expense 7200 5,870
Adjusted profit before income tax (note 5) 36,004 29,338
Adjusted effective tax rate 20% 20%

The Group presents the adjusted effective tax rate to help users of this report better understand its tax charge. In arriving at this
rate, the Group remavas the tax effect of items which are adjusted for in arriving at the adjusted profit before income tax disclosed
in note 5. The Group considers that the resulting adjusted effective tax rate is more representative of its tax payable position.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

8 Taxation continued
The income tax expense for the year is based on the UK effective statutory rate of corporation tax of 13% (2018: 1217%). Overseas

tax is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Net corporation tax paid during the year totalled £6.2m (2018; £4.3m).

9 Dividend
Year ended Year ended
3t January 31 Janwuary
2019 2018
£'0300 £'000

Dividends paid during the year

Final dividend paid for prior year of 4.5p per Ordinary Share (2018: 3.75p) 3,535 2760
Interim dividend paid of 2.16p per Crdinary Share (2018: 1.80p) 1,708 1,361
5,243 4121

1,400 1549

Nan-controlling interest dividend'

1 During the yesr, a profit share was paid to the hoiders of the nan-controliing fnterest of Vrge of £27760 (2018; £35.037, Blueshint of £136,460 (2018 £152.284), OutCast
of £335,814 (2018: £313,729), M Booth of £206,776 (2018: £166,687), Bayond of £455,171 (2018 £686,524), Bite US of £36,139 (2018; £27,847, Conneclions Media of £41,488
{20i8: £142,956), Story of £nil {2018: £2,305) and Text 100 of £120,503 {2018: £22,058).

The ESOP waived its right to dividends in the financial years ended 31 January 2019 and 2018.

A final dividend of 5.4p per share {2018: 4.5p) has been propased, which is a tatal amaount of £4,512 455 (2018: £3,405,841). This has
not been accrued. This makes the total dividend for the year 7.56p per share (2018: 6.3p). The final dividend, if approved at the AGM
on 26 June 2019, will be paid on 26 July 2019 to all shareholders on the Register of Members as at 14 June 2019. The ex-dividend

date for the shares is 13 June 2019,

10 Earnings per share
Adjusted and diluted adjusted earnings per share have been presented to provide additional usefutinformation. The adjusted earnings

per share is the performance measure used far the vesting of employee share options and performance shares. The only difference
between the adjusting items in this note and the figures in notes 2 and 5 is the tax effect of those adjusting items.

Year ended Year ended

31 January 31 January

2049 2018

£'000 £000

Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 13,887 8632
Unwinding of discount on contingent and deferred consideration 2,602 2,245
Unwinding of discount on share purchase ohligation 96 200
Change in estimate of fulure contingent consideration payabie (2,036) 1131
Change in estimate of share purchase obligation 77 (309)
Costs associated with the current period restructure fnote 2) 3,501 1241
Share-based payment charge {note 2) 2,042 2498
Charge associated with office maves (note 2) 136 354
Deal costs (note 2) 560 489
US tax rate change —_ B8i7
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 7,300 5506
28165 22,804

Adjusted earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders




10 Earnings per share continued

Number Number
Welghted averasge number of Ordinary Shares 79,225,075 74,344,883
Dilutive LTIP shares ‘ 1,193,361 1,297,444
Dilutive growth deal shares' 3,733,183 5 336,533
Other potentially issuable shares 864,585 1,099,352
Diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 85,016,204 82,078,212
Basic earnings per share 17.5p né6p
Diluted earnings per share 16.3p 10.5p
Adjusted earnings per share 35.6p 307p
Diluted adjusted earnings per share 331p 278p
¥ This relates to he brand equity appreclation rights as discussed In sole ).
11 Intangible assets
Customer
Software Trade name relatienships Nan-compste Goodwill Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £a00 £'000
Cost
At 31 January 2017 7462 6,544 26,180 2,296 68,159 10,641
Additions 365 — —_ — - 365
Capitalised internatl development 828 - —_ — — 828
Acquired through business combinations 22 3,020 8,642 1.014 1,159 23,857
Disposals M3 - - -— — m3)
Exchange differences (86) {447) (667) {2) (2,744) (3,946)
At 31 January 2018 8,478 oanz 34,155 3,308 76,574 131,632
Additions 402 - - —_ — 402
Capitalised Internal development 1,982 - — — — 1,982
Acauired through business combinations’ 877 4,743 16,801 2,406 11,959 36,786
Disposals 43) — — — — (43)
Exchange differences a0 281 41 1 1737 2,490
At 31 January 2019 1,756 1441 54,367 5715 90,270 173,249
Amortisation and impairment
At 31 January 2017 5157 2,170 11,595 952 10,788 30,662
(Charge for the year 1145 1.029 4628 811 — 7AM3
Disposals {113) — - — - 13y
Exchange differences . .79 (259} {626) (2) (107) (1173}
At 31 January 2018 6,010 2,940 15,597 1,501 10,681 36,789
Charge for the year? 834 1759 6,242 789 — 9,624
Disposals 27) — —_— — — 27
Exchange differences 47 176 405 2 84 714
At 31 January 2019 6,864 4,875 22,244 2,352 10,765 47100
Net book value at 31 January 2019 4,892 9,266 29123 3,363 79,505 126,149
Net book value at 31 January 2018 2,468 6177 18,558 1,747 65893 94,843

1 During the year, the Group acquired Srandwitith, Technical, Activate and Planning-inc, as well 85 a number of trade and assel purchases, none of whilth are Individualy

significant to the Group {note 26). The Group recognised software intangibles of £877,000 through the acqulisiions of Brandwidih and Planaing-inc.

2 Amoriisation charge for the period Includes acquired intangibles of £789,000 for non-compate agreements, £6,242,000 for customer relationships, £1.759,000 for trage

names and £256,000 relating to software.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

11 Intangible assets continued
{mpairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to cash-generating units {CGUSs) for impairment testing as follows:

2019 2018

£000 £000

Text 100 (UK) 6,701 5189
OulCast (US)? 9,646 7435
M Booth {US) 7144 6,607
Blueshirt {LS) 5,212 4820
MIG® 7175 5,877
oDD 2,458 2,458
Publitek* 9,879 8,884
Twogether 9,226 9,226
Velocity 5,653 5726
Elvis 2179 2179
Activate [note 26) 5,622 —
Brandwidth {note 26) 2,212 —
Planning-inc (note 26} 1,906 e
Other® 4,492 7492
79,505 65,893

The goodwill in Text 100 (UK} has increased due to the transfer of the Bite (UK) CGU inte the existing Text 100 {UK) CGUL

The goodwilk In CutCast {LIS) has increased due to the transfer of the Connections Media CGU Into the existing OutCast {US) CGU.

The goodwill in MIG (formerly known as Morar} has Increased In the year due to the trade and asset purchases of Thing {£203,000) and Wealth-X {£1,095,000).
The goodwill in Publitek has Increased In the year due to the acquisition of Technical (E847,000) and the trade and asse! purchase of McBro (£148,000).

Other geodwill represents goodwill on 8 number of CGUs, nene of which Is Individually signlficant in comparisan 1o the total casrylng value of goodwill.

L T

Goodwill is allocated on Initial recognition to sach of the Group's CGUSs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination giving rise to the goodwill, The CGUs represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. This is a lower level than the operating segments disclosed in note 2; the CGUs are allocated to
operating segments based on their geographical location or the product or service they provide.

The Group performs an impairment testing process by considering:

Stage ) The performance of the brands during the previous financial year and the value in use of the brands at 31 January 2019,
The value in use is calculated by taking the present value of expected future cash flows based on minimum expected
standard growth rates applied to the Board-approved FY20 budget.

Stage 2} Thevalue in use ofthe brands, calculated by taking the presentvalue of expected fiture cash flows based on management's
best estimate of brand-specific growth rates for the following four years applied to the Board-approved FY20 budget.

Note that the growth rates in stages 1 and 2 applied for year five are dependent on the geographical region'of the respective brand.
The long-term perpetuity growth rates applied for year five onwards for the US, UK and APAC regions are 1.5% (2018: 1.5%), 1%
{2018: 1.5%) and 1% (2018: 1.5%) respectively. The growth rates applied for years two to five for the US, UK and APAC regions are 2%
{2018: 2.5%), 0.5% (2018: 2.5%) and 1% {2018: 2.5%) respectively. The UK growth rate for years two to five has been risk affected for Brexit.

Cash flow projections

The recoverable amounts of alt CGUs have been determined from value-in-use calculations based on the pre-tax cperating profits
before non-cash transactions including amortisation and depreciation taken from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for the next financial year. The Board-approved budgets are based on assumptions of client wins and losses, rate card
changes and cost inflation as well as any other one-off items expected in the year for that particular CGU. The cash flow forecasts
extrapolate the FY20C budgeted cash flows for the following four vears based on the estimated regional growth rates, which is
applied to revenue and costs. This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets. The value in
use is compared with the combined total of goodwill, intangible assets and tangible fixed assets The growth rate in relation to the
geographical region of the brand is then applied into perpetuity after five years.
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11 Intangible assets continued

Pre-tax discount rate

A pre-tax rate, being the Board's estimate nfthe discount rate of 12.4% {2018:12.7%), has been used in discounting all projected cash
flows, The Board considers a pre-tax discount rate of 12.4% to be appropriate as this is already in the higher end of the spectrum
amongst its peers, and views the rate as accurately reflecting the return expected by a market participant. The Board has considered
whether to risk affect the discount rate used for the different brands. Given the nature of each business, that they operate in well-
developed territories and are largely similar digita! media communication businesses dependent on the mature economies in which
they operate, the Board has considered no risk adjustment to the individual discount rates is required. Further, 8 scenario run using
a higher discount rate reflective of US expected market returns indicated no goodwill impairment. Instead, the CGU forecast cash
flows have been risk adjusted to reflect the economies in which they operate. ’

Change to CGUs

In the current year, a5 part of a strategic decision, the Text 100 and Bite CGUs have been merged following the merging of these
two businesses under one leadership team. The businesses formally merged on 1 February 2019 and have rebranded under the
Archetype brand post year end. Also the Connections Media CGL) has now been included within the existing O Cast CGU following
the management of QutCast taking over Connections Media and now running them both as one combined OutCast business. It is
believed that there are both revenue and cost synergies to be realised immediately naw that these agencies are respectively
managed together,

12 Property, plant and equipment

Short leasehold Office Office Motor
Improvements equipment furniture vehicles Total
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
Cost
At 31 January 2017 15,412 7056 2,548 2 2509
Exchange differences {1.47%) (593) (334) — (2.398)
Additions 1.236 1467 27t — 2,974
Acquired through business combinations 127 158 26 — 3N
Disposals (628} (558) (107) — {1,293)
At 31 January 2018 14,676 7530 2,405 2 24,613
Exchange differences 969 351 203 - 1,523
Additions 2796 1785 1,067 — 5,648
Acquired thraugh business combinations — 307 — — 307
Disposals (628) (1,238) {399) — (2,265)
At 31 January 2019 17,813 8,735 3,276 2 29,826
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 January 2017 3,760 4,832 563 — 9,255
Exchange differences (436} (442) {177} — (1,055)
Charge for the year 1,795 . 1577 61 2 3,985
Disposals (610} (480} {49) — (113%)
At 31 January 2018 4,509 5,587 948 2 11,046
Exchange differences 333 270 18 — 721
Charge for the year 1,899 1515 785 — 4,199
Disposals (545) {1,156) (309) - {2.010)
At 31 January 2019 5,196 6,216 1,542 2 13,956
Net book value at 31 January 2019 11,617 2,519 1,734 - 15,870
Net book value at 31 January 2018 10,167 1,943 1,457 - 13,567
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

12 Property, plant and equipment continued
The net ook value of property, plant and equipment for the Group includes assets held under finance lease contracts as follows:

£Nil of office equipment and furniture (2018: £2,000). Depreciation charged in the year in respect of finance leases was ZNil
(2018: £2,000). The Group has contraciual commitments for short leasehold improvements of £Nil (2018: £Nil).

132 Trade and other receivables

2018 20/8
£000 £'000
Current

Trade receivables 48795 35,676
Less: pravision for impairment of trade receivables {378) ‘ {492)
Trade receivables — net 48,417 35,184
Other receivables 1.479 2,509
Prepayments 4,023 3.491
Accrued income 12,204 8,354
66,123 49,538

Non-current
803 535

Rent deposits

Trade receivables disclosed above are classifiad as loans and receivables and are therefore measured at amortised cost. There
were no significant changes in the accrued income balances during the reporting period.

As of 31 January 2019, trade receivables of £378,000 (2018: £492,000) were impalired. Movements in the provision were as follows:

2018 2018
£'000 £000
At stant of period 492 1.067
Provision for receivables impairment 141 126
Receivables written off during the year as uncoilectable (81) {226)
Unused amounts reversed {(200) (442)
Foreign exchange movements 26 (33
378 492

At end of period

The provision for receivables impairment has been determined using an expected credit loss model by reference to historical default
rates. Owing to the immaterial level of the provision for impairment of receivables, no further disclosure is made. The Group considers
there to be no materiai difference between the fair value of trade and other receivables and their carrying amount in the balance sheet.

As at 31 January, the analysis of trade receivables that were not impaired is as follows:

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Not pastdue 23,360 23,233
Up to 30 days 9,873 7825
31to 60 days 2706 2,410
Greater than 61 days 2,378 1716
48,477 35184

At end of period




14 Trade and other payables

2018 2018
£000 £000
Current

Trade creditors 13,498 9,591
Finance lease cbligation — 5
Other taxation and social security 4179 2,876
Shon-term compensated absences 1,815 1,625
Other creditors 2,317 4181
Accruals 18,568 12,030
Deferred income 19,796 14,715
60,173 45,003

Non-current
Renial lease liabilities 4,622 4,250
4,622 4,290

The Group considers that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates ta their fair value with the exception of
obligations under finance leases; refer to note 18.

There were no significant changes in the deferred income balances during the reponting period. All the brought forward deferred
income balance was recognised as revenue inthe current reporting period. There was no revenue reécognised in the current reporting
peried that related 1o performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

15 Provisions

Oneraus

1ease’ Property” Other? Totsl

£:000 £000 £000 €000
At 31 January 2017 192 464 2,045 2,70
Additions 446 62 162 670
On acquisition of subsidiary — 122 653 775
Used during the year (362) (133) (2,082) (2,577
Exchange differences (20) 2 (1] 23)
At 31 January 2018 256 513 777 1.546
Additions 536 190 1,430 2,156
On acquisition of subsidiary —- 60 — 80
Used during the year (2N (305) {263} (839)
Exchange differences 20 4 (@ 20
At 31 January 2012 ' 541 462 1,940 2,943
Current 208 18 792 1118
Noan-current 333 344 1,148 1,825

1 Oaerous lease provisians are calculated based on the remaining term of the lease and associated cost where the Group expedts e cost te outweigh the benefit
2 Propertly provisions are primarily for dilapidations and Include assumptions of a cost per square foot required to make good the property at the end of the lease.
3 Otherincludes provisions for potential tax llabilitles, redundancy provisions and provisions for empleyment-related acquisition liabllites.
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16 Amounts due under finance leases

Minimum lease paymenis

Present vaiue of minimum

lease payments

2019 2018 2019 2018

£000 £'000 £000 £000
Amounts payable:
Within one year - 5 — 5
Present vaiue of lease cobligations e 5 — 5
17 Other financial liabilities

Deferred Contingent  Share purchase
consideration consideration' obligation Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000

At 31 January 2017 — 14,905 3,433 18,338
Arising during the year 500 8,286 — 8786
Changes in assumptions’ — 1140 {a09) 731
Exchange differences — (105) (127) (232)
Utilised (360) (3.719) (400} {4.479)
Written off — (21 — 29
Reciassification 5586 (3.789) {1,797) e
Unwinding of discaunt 313 1,942 255 2,510
At 31 January 2018 6,039 18,639 955 25,633
Arising during the year’ —_ 15,516 765 16,281
Changes in assumptions® - {1,966) 60 (1,908)
Exchange differences —-_ (312) 78 (234}
Utitised? (5,068) {6.171) (249) {11,486)
Reclassification* 3,072 {3,072} — —
Unwinding of discount 601 2,078 127 2,806
At 31 January 2019 4,646 24,712 1,736 31,094
Current 2182 4,565 1,608 8,355

2,464 20,147 128 22739

Non-current

1 Contingent consideration on acquisitions — during the year, the Group acquired a controliing stake In Brandwidth, Technical, Activate and Planning-inc {2018; Eivis, Velocity,
Circle and Chanterhouse). See note 26 for additional Information on these acquisitions.

2 Gross movements in changes In assuymptions are disciosed in notes 6 and 7,

3 The amgunis ulllised were seltled £9.5m in <ash and £2.0m in shates, The difference to the cash flow statement is due to non-cantrolliing Interest purchased in the year

relating to an existing subsidiary.

4 The contingent consideration and share purchase obligation In refation to ODD, Circle and Charerhouse were reclassified to the deferred consideration due to a fixing

of the amounts due on amendment aof their deal.

The estimates around contingent consideratian and share purchase obligations are considered by management to be an area
of significant judgement, with any changes in assumptions and forecasts creating volatility in the income statement. Management
estimates the fair value of these liabilities taking into account expectations of future payments. The expectation of future payments
is based on an analysis of the approved FY20 budget with further consideration being given to current and forecast wider market
conditions. An assumed medium-term growth expectation is then applied which is specific to each individual entity aver the course

of the earn-cut period and discounted back to present value using a pre-tax discount rate.

- — e -



17 Other financial liabilities continued

Sensitivily onalysis

A five percentage point increase or decrease in the estimated future revenue growth rate, estimated future profit margin, and the
discount rate used would increase or decrease the combined liabifities due to earn-cut agreements by approximately £3,395,000,
£3,729,000, and £2,351,000, respectively. The most sensitive earn-owt individually would increase or decrease by £3,048,000,
£2,709,000 and £1,528,000 due to & five percentage point increase or decrease in revenue growth, profit margin and discount rate.
There is also sensitivity around the timing of certain earn-out payments; the effect of deferred timing o0 the earn-out agreements
would have approximately a £33,000 impact on the ligbilities. An increase in the liability would resultin a reduction in the revaluation
of financial instruments, while a decrease would result in a further gain.

18 Deferred taxation
Temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and their relevant value for tax
purposes result in the following deferred tax assets and liabilities:

Excess book
Proviston for basls over
Accelerated Short-term Impaliment  tax basls of Other
capltal compensated Share-based of trade intanglble termporacy
allowances absences remunerstion  receivables assets differences Tax losses Total
£'600 £'D00 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 €000
At 31 January 2017 (570) 569 4750 103 1,326) 3278 491 7295
Credit/{charge) to income 159 (276) 376 1 1023 (564} 553 1,272
Exchange differences 145 (4} — {12} (353} {513) (38] (775}
Acquisition of subsidiaries 20 — _— — {2,287 124 — (2,083)
Taken to equity — - 216 — — — — 216
At 31 January 2018 (246} 289 5,342 92 {2,943) 2,385 1,006 5925
(Charge)/credit to income (143) 9 - (2,277) (46) 3,571 1123 79) 2158
Exchange differences {43) 20 — 7 17 268 18 387
Acquisition of subsidiaries (34) — —_ — (2,294) 65 — {2,263)
Taken to equity — _— (183) — — — — (189}
At 31 January 2019 {466} 318 2.876 53 {1,549) 3.841 345 6.018

After netting off balances, the following are the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet:

2019 2018
£000 €000

Net deferred tax balance
Deferred tax assets i 10,521 9,794
Deferred tax liabilities {4,503) . (3.869)

Net deferred tax asset 6,018 5925

Deferred tax has been calculated using the anticipated rates that will apply when the assets and lisbilities are expected to reverse
based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is supported
by the expected level of future profits in the countries concerned.

The estimated value of the deferred tax asset not recognised in respect of tax losses available to carry forward is £0.6m (2018: £0.9m).

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of the temporary differenées in relation to the investment in subsidiaries for

which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was £6m (2018: £6m). No liability has been recognised in respect of these

differences as the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and the Group considers
that it is probable that such gifferences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

19 Financial instruments

Financiol risk management, polficies and strategies
The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, finance leases, cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of

these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various otherfinanclal assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables and payables, which arise directly from operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate tisk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and credit risk.
The Beard reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The Group's exposutre to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change Inimterestrates, with all other variables held constant,
on the Group's profit before tax at 31 January 2019, based on pericd-end balances and rates.

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily
indicative of the actual impacts that would be experienced because the Group's actual exposure to market rates changes as the
Group's portfolio of debt and cash changes. In addition, the effect of a change in a particular market variable on fair values or cash
flows is calculated without considering interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken
by the Group. The changes in valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market variables and are not a prediction of future

events or anticipated gains or losses.

Movement 2019 2018

In basis paints £'000 £'000

Group +200 (524) 77
Liquidity risk

The Group manages its risk to a shotage of funds with 8 mixture of long and short-term committed facilities.

On 5 February 2018 the Group extended its faciliies agreement with HSBC to include a loan of £20m in addition to the revolving
loan credit facility {RCF') of £40m (available in multiple currencies) which is available until 5 July 2022, The £20m loan was drawn
down on 9 February 2018 and is repayable in equal annual instalments. The last repayment is due in December 2021 and the loan
bears interest at the same margin plus LIBOR as the RCF. The interest rate is variable dependent on the net debt: EBITDA ratio. The

Group also has a $7m facitity available in the US.
At 31 January 2012 the Group had an undrawn amount of £28,753,013 (2018: £4,968,341} on the RCF in the UK and 4,412,637 available
on the $7m US facility (this allows for the letters of credit in place).

The following table summarises the maturity profile based on the remaining period between the balance sheet date and the contractual
maturity date of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 January 2019 and 31January 2018, based on contractual undiscounted payments:

Within Between twa More than

ane year and five years five years Total
£'000 £'000 000 £'000
At 31 January 2019
Financial liabilities 50,802 52,9286 5,596 109,324
At 31 Japuary 2018
39,845 56,812 3,968 100,626

Financiai liabilities




19 Finangial instruments continued

Currency risk

As a result of sigrificant global operations, the Group's balance sheet can be affected significantly by movements in the foreign
exchange rates sgainst sterling. This is largely through the translation of balances denominated in 8 currency other than the functional
currency of an entity. The Group has transactional currency exposures in the US, Europe and the Asia Pacificregion, including foreign
currency bank accounts and intercompany recharges. The Group considers the use of currency derivatives 1o protect significant
US dollar and euro currency exposures against changes in exchange rates; however, the Group has not held derivative financial
instruments at the end of gither period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to reasonably possible chenges in exchange rates, with slt other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax based on period-end balances, year average and period-end rates:

Weakening 2019 2018

agalnst sterfing £000 £0C0

US doltar 20% (3.118) (2,428)
Euro 20% (477) (393)
Australian dollar 20% {263) {387)
Indian rupee 20% 71 (123}

s

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to reasonabie possible changes in exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's net assets on period-end balances and rates:

Weakening 2018 2018

agalnst sterling £'000 £'000

S doliar 20% (4,076} {5,.371)
Euro 20% © {904) [g/e])]
Australian dollar 20% (423) (634)
Indian rupee 20% (110) 4n)

Credit risk

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and trade and other receivables which represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in refation to financial assets, The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. ltis the Group's
policy that customers who wish to trade on credit terms be subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an eagoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts has not been significant. The amounts
presented in the balance sheet are net of provisions for impairment of rade receivables, estimated by the Group's management
based an an expected credit loss model driven by historical experience and factors specific to certain debtors.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies, aithough the Board recognises that in the current economic climate these indicators cannot be
refied upon exclusively.

Maximumm exposure to credit risk

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Total trade and other raceivables ' 66123 49,538
Cash and cash equivalents 20,501 24,283
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18 Financial instruments continued

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisaticon of the debt and equity balance. Total capital of the Group is calculated as totsl equity as shown
in the Consolidaled Balance Sheet, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings and finance leases, less cash and cash
equivalents. This measure of net debt excludes any acquisition-related contingent liabilities or share purchase obligations. The quantum
of these obligations is dependent on estimations of forecast profitabiiity. Settlement dates are variable and range from 2019 to 2024.

2013 2018
£'000 £000
Total loans and borrowings' 26,678 35,871
Obligations under finance leases - 5
Less: cash and cash equivalents (20,501} (24,283)
Net debt 5177 11,593
Total equity 111,453 76,321
Total capital 116,630 87,914
1 Tolal loans and borrowings s made up of current obligatlons (£5,000.000) and non-currert abligations {£20,678,000).
2019 2018
£'000 €000
Net debt 5177 1,593
Share purchase obligation 1,736 855
Contingent consideration 24,712 18,639
Deferred consideration 4,646 6,039
Net debt plus earn-out liabilities 36,271 37226
The movement in net debt is as follows:
Forelgn Forelgn
Acquisitions  exchange, fair Cash flow Acqulsitions  exchange, falr
At Cash flow and value and At Cash flow from and value and At
| February from cantingent non-cash  1February from share centingent non-cash 1 February
2017 operations  conslderation movements 2018 operations placing consideration movemenis 2019
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £00¢ £000 £000 €000 £000 £000
Total loans
and borrowings 33,458 —_ 4,484 2,07 35,87 {10,922) — — 729 25,678
Qbligations
under finance
leases 26 17 — {4) 5 (5} — — — —
Less: cash
and cash
equivalents (22,072) (18,498} 15,350 937  (24,283) (5,729) (19,461 29,554 {582) (20,501}
" Met debt 1412 (18515 15,834 (138) 1593 T (6656) {19451 29,554 147 5377

Externally imposed capital requirement

Under the terms of the Group's banking covenants the Group must meet certain criteria based on the ratio of net debt to adjusted
EBITDA; net debt plus earn-out liabilities (note 17) to adjusted EBITDA,; and adjusted net finance charges to adjusted EBITDA.
The Group maintains long-term cash forecasts which incorporate forecast covenant positions as part of the Group's capital and cash
management. There have been no breaches of the banking ¢ovenants in the current or prior period.

Fair values of financiol assets and liobilities
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument can be exchanged in an arm's-length transaction between informed and

willing parties, other than a forced or liquidation sale.

The book value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities equals the fair value of such items as at 31 January 2019, with the
exception of obligations under finance leases. The book value of cbligations under finance leases is £Nil (2018: £5,000) and the fair
value is £Nil (2018: £5,000). The fair value of obligations under finance leases is estimated by discounting future cash flows to net
present value and is Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.



19 Financial instruments continued

Financial instruments — detailed disclosures

Financia! instruments recognised in the balance sheet

The IFRS 9 categories of financial assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet and the line in which they are included are
as follows:

At fair
value through
profit Financial Financial
ot loss ~ liabilities at assets at
mandatorily amortised amortised
measured FVTOCH cost cost Total
At 31 January 2013 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £0900
Non-current financial assets
Investment in equity instruments — 1,587 - - 1587
Oiher receijvables — - — 803 803
— 1,687 - 803 2,390
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents ‘ - —_ - 20,501 20,504
Trade and other receivables - - - 62,100 62,100
— - - 82,601 82,601
Current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings — — 5,000 — 5,000
Trade and other payables — — 36,98 — 35198
Provicions — - 1118 — 118
Contingent cansideration' 4,565 - — — 4,565
Share purehase obligation’ 1,608 — — — 1,648
Deferred consideration’ — - 2,82 - 2,82
6,173 - 44,498 -_ 50,671
Non-current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings - - 20,678 - 20,678
Provisions —_— -— 1,828 — 1825
Other payables - — - 4,622 — 4,622
Contingent consideration’ 20,47 - — — 20147
Share purchase obligation' 128 - — — 128
Deferred consideration' — — 2,464 — 2,464

20,275 - 29,589 — 49,864

1 Seenotet?

The Group has no fair value Level 1 instruments (2018; none). The investments in equity instruments are Level 2 instruments. Level 2
fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices, such as historical quoted prices.

All other instrumants at fair value through profit or loss were Level 3 instruments as per the table above in the current year and were
as per the table overleaf in the prior year. Level 3 financial instruments are valued using the discounted cash fiow method 1o capture
the present value of the expected future economic benefits that will flow out of the Group arising from the contingent consideration
or share purchase obligation. Unrealised gains or losses are recognised within finance income/expense; see notes 6 and 7. They are
not based on observable market data.
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19 Financial instruments continued

Fingncial instruments — detailed disclosures continued

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet continued
The table below has not been restated for the application of IFRS 9.

At falr Flnancial Financial
value through labikities at assets at
picfi or loss  amortised cost  amartised cost Total
At 31 January 2018 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Non-current financial assets
QOther receivables —_ - 535 535
- — 535 535
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents — — 24,283 24,283
Trade and other receivables - — 46,047 46,047
— — 70,330 70,330
Current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings — 1,406 — 1406
Trade and other payables — 27412 — 2742
Provisions - 1,405 — 1,405
Contingent consideration' 5,368 - - 5,368
Deferred consideration’ — 4,255 — 4,255
5,368 34478 — 39,846
Non-current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings — 34,465 —_ 34,465
Provisions —_— 141 - 141
Qther payables — 4,280 — 4,290
Contingent consideration’ 13,271 - - 13,271
Share purchase obligation’ 955 — —_ 955
Deferred consideratian’ — 1784 - 1784
14,226 40,680 — 54,906
1 See note 17.
interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The table below provides a summary of the Group's Joans and borrowing as at 31 January 2019:
Effective 2019 2018
Interest rale- £'000 £'000
Current
Variable rate bank loan HSBC Bank base rate + 1.50% (2018: 3.56%) 5,000 1,406
Obligations under finance leases 8.00% — 5
Non-current
Variable rate bank loan HSBC Bank base rate + 1.50% 20,678 34,465
Obligations under finance leases 8.00% — -

Hedge of net investment in foreign entity

A proportion of the Group's US dollar-denominated borrowings amounting to US$6,100,000 is designated as a hedge of the net
investment in the Group's US subsidiary M Booth & Associates LL.C. An additional US$300,000 has been designated as a hedge of

the net investment in the Group's US subsidiary Text 100 LLC.



19 Financial instruments continued

Hedge of net investment in foreign entity continued

The fair value of the borrowings at 31 January 2019 is US$6.400,000 {£4.866,000} (2018: US$10,400.000 (£7,313,000)). The foreign
exchange loss of £700,000 {2018: gain of £1190,000) on translation of the borrowing to functional currency atthe end ofthe reporting
period is recognised in a hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity. As a result of ineffectiveness, £Nil was transferred during the
perfod from the hedging reserve to the income statement (2018 £Nil}.

20 Share capital
Called up share capital
Ordinary Shares of 2.5p each:

2019 2018
Number Number

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
At start of period 75,685,350 73352214
Issued in the year in respect of contingent and deferred censideration and share purchase obligations 97,6 726,081
Issued in the year in satisfaction of vested LTIPs {note 27} 489,491 1366,792
Issued in the year in respect of growth share sales 2,206,905 240,263
Issuad in the year In respect of share placing 4,210,626 —
At end of period 83,563,988 75685350

Fully paid Ordinary Shares carry one vote per share and the right to dividends.

21 Share-based payments

. The Group uses the Black-Scholes modei to calculate the fair value of options on grant date for new issues and modifications for
I TIP=s. At each period end the cumulative expense is adjusted to take into account any changes in the estimate of the likely number
of shares expected to vest, Details of the relevant LTIP schemes are given in the following note. All the share-based payment
plans are subject to nan-market performance conditions such as adjusted earnings per share targets and continued employment.
All schemes are equity-settled. The Group uses a weighted average probeability model ta value the brand appreciation rights as
permitted under IFRS 2.

In the period ended 31 January 2019 the Group recognised a charge of£3,332,000 (2018: £4,355,000} made up of £1,533,000 (2018:
£1,305,000) in respect of employment-related LTIP shares; £1,799,000 (2018: £3,05(,000j given in respect of the grant of growth
participating interests of 3.5% in M Booth & Associates LLC, 40% in ODD London Limited, 2.5% in Savanta Group Limited, 5% in
Twogether Creative Limited and 3% in Encore Digital Media Limited {2018: 1% in OutCast LLC, 2% in Bite LL.C, 1% in Text 100 LLC and
32% in Encore Rigital Media Limited), as well as employment-linked acquisition-refated payments.

Movement on aptions and performance shares granted {represented in Ordinary Shares):

QOutstanding Qutstanding Exercisable

3t January 31 January 3t January

2018 Granted Lapsed Exercised 2019 2019

Number Number Number Number Number Number

[rooe) {'0C0) (O00) (Co0) (000} (00Q)

Long-Term Incentive Plan — performance shares 1,499 349 (74) (489} 1,285 587

The fair value of performance shares granted in the period calculated wsing the Black-Scholes mode) was as follows:

Apil 2018 Apri) 2018
Fair value of performance shares granted under the LTIP (p) 406 385
Share price at date of grant (p) 423 423
Risk-free rate (%) 194 1.94
Expected life (years) : 3 5
Expected volatility (%) 272 272
Dividend yield (%) 136 136
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21 Share-based payments continued
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company's share price, over a period equal to the

expected life of the options.

Performance sharesissued by the Company under the Next Fifteen Communications Group plc Long-Term Incentive Plan are granted
at a nil exercise price. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised in the year was 450p
{2018: 400p). For share options cutstanding at the end of the year the weighted average remaining contractual life is one year (2018:

one year).

22 Performance shares

The Company has issued options over its shares to employees that remain ouistanding as follows:

Number Performance Performance Performance
Performance shares of shares period start date period end date share grant date
Next Fifteen Communications Group plc
tong-Term Inceative Plan 21500 1 February 2015 3iJanuary 2019 6 May 2015
575,000 1 February 2016 3t January 2019 17 October 2016
308,704 1February 2017 31 January 2020 2 May 2017
47593 1February 2017 31 January 2022 2 May 2017
251,295 1 February 2018 31 January 2021 10 April 2018
80,798 1 February 2018 31 January 2023 10 April 2018
1,284,890

During the period the Company issued 489,491 shares to satisfy the vesting under the Next 15 LTIPs. These were inltially subscribed
for by the ESOP. No shares are now held in treasury (see note 23).

For all awards granted under the 2005 LTIP {note that no awards have been granted under the 2005 LTIP since 30 June 2015),
performance will be measured over a perfod of four cansecutive financia! years of the Group, commencing with the financial year
in which the award was granted. The conditions are based upon two measures — an adjusted earnings per share (EPS) measure
and a budgeted profit measure. The level of vesting will be determined using the best three of the four years’ performance for each
performance measure, The growth of adjusted EPS of the Group must exceed the UK Consumer Price Index (CPI') by an average of
10% or more per annum over the performance pericd for 50% of the award to vest. if the growth of adjusted EPS over CPlis between
an average of 3% and 10% per annum over the performance period, between 10% and 50% of the award will vest on a straight-line
basis. The remaining 50% of an award may vest if the profit of the particular business in which a participant is employed meets its
budgeted prefit targets over the performance period. To the extent that the budgeted profit targets are not met, for every 1% below
budget, 5% of the award will lapse on a straight-ling basis, Employees who work in Group roles will be measured by reference to

whole Group performance, rather than any particular business unit.

The Company's current Long-Term Incentive Plan is the 2015 LTIP, which was approved by shareholders at the Company’s 2015
AGM. Under the 2015 LTIP performance shares or share options may be awarded. The performance is measured over a period of
either three of five consecutive financial years of the Group, commencing with the financial year in which the award was granted.
The Committee has decided that, initially, there will be two performance conditions:

{a) an earnings pershare {EPS’) target, which will determiine 70% of the total vesting. Diluted adjusted EPS growth is caiculated from
the information published in the Group's accounts and is based on the adjusted EPS measure. If the growth in the Company's
earnings per share in the relevant year is at least 15%, 100% of 70% of the total award wiil vest. If the compound growth in EPS in
the relevant year is between 5% and 15% then between 25% and 100% of 70% of the total award will vest on a straight-ine basis.
If EPS does not grow at an average of 5% or more, the full award will lapse; and

(b) & key performance indicator {*KPI') target, which will determine 30% of the total vesting. Each participant will have a number of
KPls relating to his or her role. The Remuneration Committee will determine the extent to which the KPls have been met in each
relevant vear. 100% of 30% of the total award will vest if the KPls have been met in full. A smaller percentage of 30% of the total
award will vest if the Committee determines that the KPIs have been substantially met.



23 Investment in own shares

Employee share ownership plan {'ESOP’)

The purpose of the ESOP is to enable the Company 1o offer participation in the ownership of its shares to Group employees, principally
as a reward and incentive scheme. Arrangements for the distribution of benefits to employees, which may be the ownership of shares
in the Company or the granting of oplions over shares in the Company held by the ESOP, are made at the ESOP's discretion in such
manner as the ESOP considers appropriate. Administration costs of the ESOP are accounted far in the profit and loss account of the
Company as they are incurred.

At 31 January 2019 the ESOP held Nil (2018: Nil} Ordinary Shares in the Comparty.

SIUBLWBIRIG |25URUI4

The ESOP subscribed for 489,491 newly issued shares which were allotted and immedistely disposed of in order to satisfy LTIP vesting
of 489,491 shares for £Nil consideration (2018: 1,578,271 shares for £Nil consideration). Nii shares were subscribed for, allotted and
immediately disposed ofin respect of satisfaction of a restricted stock arrangement for £Nil proceeds (2018: Nit shares for €Nil proceeds).

Treasury shares
Al 31 January 2019, the Group held Nil treasury shares (2018: Nil} at a cost of ENil (2018: £N#).

24 Other reserves

Merger ESOP Hedging Total

reserve reserve’ resenve others reserves

£000 £'000 £000 £000

At 31 January 2017 3,075 - {2,546) 523
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 1,380 1190
Purchase and take on of shares — (39} — (39
Movement due to ESQP LTIP and growth shares exercises - 338 — 39
At 31 January 2018 3,075 — {1,356) 1,719
Total comprehensive expense far the year e — (700} (700}
Purchase and take on of shares — (12} — {12}
Movement due to ESOP LTIP and growth shares exercises — 12 — 12
At 31 January 20198 3,075 — (2,056) 1,018

1 The ESOP Trust's Investment in the Group's shares Is deducted fram equity in the Consolldated Balance Sheet as If they were treasury shares and presented in the
ESOP reserve.

25 Commitments and contingent liabilities
Operating leases ~ Group os lessee
As at 31 January 2018, the Group's total future minimur lease rentals are as follows:

2019 2018
Land and Land and
bulldings Other buidings Otker
£000 £000 £000 £'000
In respect of operating leases which will be paid in the following periods: .
Within one year 10,869 70 8,595 27
In two to five years 39,371 136 29,459 40
After five years 12,664 — 13,360 -
62,904 206 51414 67
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26 Acquisitions and equity transactions
During the year the following material transactions tock place:

1. the acquisition of UK-based Brandwidth Group Limited;

2. the acquisition of UK-based Technical Publicity Limited;

3. the acquisition of US-based Activate Marketing Holdings LLC; and
4. the acquisition of UK-based Planning-Inc Limited.

More details on each transaction are provided below.

1. Brandwidth Group Limited
On 6 February 2018, Next 15 purchased the entire share capital of Brandwidth Group Limited and its subsidiaries {Brandwidth’),
a UK-based digital innovation agency bringing significant digital skills to the Group.

- Goodwill of £2,212,000 arises from anticipated profitability and future aperating synergies fram the acquisition.

Inthe post-acquisiticn period Brandwidth has contributed £6132,000 to net revenue and £353,000 to profit befare tax. The following
table sets out the estimated book values of the identifiable assets acquired and their fair value to the Group.

Book vaiue Fairvalue Falr value
at acquisition adjustments to the Group
£000 £'000 £'000
Non-current assets

Acquired intangible assets 72 3,497 3,569
Property, plant and equipment 81 — 81

Current assels
Cash and cash equivalents 1,204 — 1,204
Other current assets' 2,878 — 2,878
Current liabilities (2,309) — (2,30%)
Deferred tax liability — {619} {619}
Net assets acquired 1,926 2.878 4 804
Goodwil! ] 2,212
7016

Consideration
Initial consideration settled in cash? 5,943
Initial consideration settled in Ordinary Shares of the Parent 1,236
Total discounted contingent consideration {1683}
7,016

1 The falr vaive of recelvables acquired Is £2,282,000.
2 This includes Initial consideration pald for the business and cash pald for working capltal,

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Deal costs {inciuded in other aperating costs) amount to £162,000.
Further consideration is payable based on the profit befare interest and tax of Brandwidth for the year to 30 June 2018.
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26 Acquisitions and equity transactions continued

2. Technical Publicity Limited

On 12 July 2018, Next 15 purchased Technical Associates Group (TAG') through the entire share capital of Technical Publicity Limited
{' Technical’), a specialist technical content and digital marketing business focused on the industrial engineering sector.

Goodwill of £847.000 arises from anticipated profitability and future aperating synergies from the acquisition.

In the post-acquisition period TAG has contribuied £1,847,000 to net revenue and £622,000 to profit before tax. If acquired on
1 February 2018 TAG would have contributed net revenue of £3165,000 and profit before tax of £1,066,000 to the Group resuits.
The following table sets out the estimated book values of the identifiable assets acquired and their fair value to the Group.

Book value Fair value Fair value
at acquisition adjustments 10 the Group
€000 €000 ¢'000
Nan-current assefs
Acquired intangible assets - 1,943 1,943
Property, plant and equipment 38 — 38
Current assets ]
Cash and cash equivalents 756 — 756
Other current assets' 1,050 — 1,050
Current liabilities (1174) — 174)
Deferred tax liability — (347) {347
Net assets acquired 670 1,596 2,266
Goodwill ) 847
3In3
Consideration
Initial consideration settied in cash? 2189
Initial consideration settled in Ordinary Shares of the Parent 333
Total discounted contingent consideration 5H
3n3

1 The fair value of receivables acquired Is £726,000.
2 This Includes initia! conslderation paid for the business and cash paid for working capital,

None ofthe goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Oeal costs (included in operating costs) amount to £142,000. Further
deferred consideration of £591,000 is payable in April 2020. Contingent cansideration based on the combined EBIT performance
of TAG and Publitek, an existing Next 15 business, is also payable in April 2020.

SIUBWRIRIS |2IDURLIY
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26 Acquisitions and equity transactions continued
3. Activate Marketing Holdings LLC

On 1 November 2018, Next 15 purchased the entire share capital of Activate Marketing Holdings LLC (Activate’), a B2B demand
generation company previding marketing services to technology companies based in San Francisco and New York. Goodwill of
£5,785,000 {$7.394,000) arises from anticipated profitability and future operating synergies from the acquisition.

In the post-acquisition period Activate has contributed £1,869,000 to net revenue and £709,000 to profit before tax. If acquired
on 1 February 2018 Activate would have contributed net revenue of £7478,000 and profit before tax of £2,836,000 to the Group
results. The following table sets out the estimated book values of the identifiable assets acquired and their fair value to the Group.

Book value Falt value Falr value
at acquisition adjustments o the Group
£'000 £'000 000
Non-current assets

Acqguired intangible assets — 11,811 1,91
Property, plant and equipment 2 — 2

Current asseis
Cash and cash equivalents 197 — 197
Other current assets' 2,762 — 2,762
Current liabitities {1,838} — {1,838)
Met assets acquired 1123 11,91 13,034
Goodwili® 5786
18,820

Consideration
Initial consideration settled in cash? 7.045
Total deferred consideration n775
18,820

1 The falr value of receivables acquired Is £2,754.000,
2 This Includes initial cansideratton paid for the business and cash pald for warking capltat.
3 Goodwill Is denominated in LISD and therefore the exchange rafe &t the pe!nt of acquisition has been used.

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Deal costs (included in operating costs) amount to £51,000.

Deferred top-up contingent consideration is payable in 2019 based on performance targets for Activate for the nine months ending
31 July 2019. Further contingent consideration is payable over the next five years dependent on Activate's profitability and a multiple

driven by margin and revenue growth post the acquisition.
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26 Acquisitions and equity transactions continued

4. Planning-inc Limited

On 10 January 2018, Next 15 purchased the entire share capital of Pianning-Inc Limited (Planning-inc’), a UK-based predictive analytics
and data marketing business. Goodwill of £1,906,000 arises from anticipated profitability and future cperating synergies from
the acquisition.

In the post-acquisition period Planning-in¢ has contributed £506,000 ta net revenue and £142,000 io profit before tax, If acquired
on 1February 2018 Planning-inc would have contributed net revenue of £6,069,000 and profit before tax of £1,701,000 to the Group
results. The following table sets aut the estimated book values of the identifiable assets acquired and their fair value to the Group. The
due diligence over the identifiable assels acquired is stilt in pragress; therefore the fair value of the assets used below are provisional,

Book valve Fair value Fafr value
at acquilsition adjustments {a the Group
£000 £000 £'000
Non-current assets

Acquired intangible assets —_ 6,837 5,837
Property, plant and equipmem 198 — 198

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,086 — 2,086
Other current assets’ 1457 — 1457
Current fiabilities (1,072) — (1,072}
Deferred tax liabllity —_ {1,189) {1189)
Net assets acquired 2,669 5,648 8,317
Goodwill 1,906
10,223

Consideration
Initia} consideration settled in cash? 6,998
Initia] consideration settled in Ordinary Shares of the Parent 935
Total discounted contingent consideration 2,290
10,223

1 The falr value of recelvables acquired Is £1,211,000.
2 This includes initial consideration paid for the business and cash paid for working capitat,

None of the goodwill is expeacted o be deductible for tax purposes. Deal costs lincluded in operating costs} amount to £38,000,

Further deferred contingent consideration may be payable around April 2019 with a top-up payment based onthe EBITDA performance
of Planning-inc for the year ended 31 Dacember 2018, and around Apil 2021 and April 2023 based on the EBIT performance of
Pianning-inc in the two-year pericds ending 31 January 2021 and 31 January 2023 respectively.

‘The following table summarises the net cash outflow and value of shares issued on acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ending
3 January 2019;

Cash and cash

equivalent Total
Consideration balances net cash Value of
setitad in cash acquired outiaw shares issted
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Brandwidth 5,943 {1,204) 4,739 1,236
Techsnical 2,189 {#56) 1433 333
Aclivate 7.045 (197) 6,848 —
Planning-inc 5,998 (2,088} 4,912 935
Othey* 1,381 (32} 1,349 —
23,556 (4,275) 15,281 2,504

1 Other represents amounts in relation to a number of acquisitions, none of which Is Individually significant to the Group.
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27 Subsidiaries

The Group's subsidiaries at 31 January 2019 are listed below.

Direclly  Percentage
owned voling
Country of by the rights held

Name Incorporation  Company by Group Address

Activate Markeling Services LLC USA 100 CT Corp System, 818 West Sevenih Street, Suite 930,

Los Angeles, CA 90017

Agent3 Limited United Kingdom v 584 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF

Agent3 LLC Usa 58.4 CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,

Los Angeles, CA 90017

August.Cne Communications United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
International Limited

Beijjing Text 100 Consulting Chira 100 7F, Room 819, Tower 2, No. 22 Guanghua Road,

Services Limited Chaoyang District, Beijing, 100020 China

BYND Limited United Kingdom v 934 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF

BYND LLC USA 100 CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 530,

Los Angeles, CA 90017

Bite Communications LLC USA 100  The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Crange Street

— Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,

Wilmington, DE 13801

Bite Communications Group Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF

Bite Communications Limited United Kingdom 1100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF

Bite Consuiting GmbH Germany 300 Nymphenburger Strale 168, 80634 Minchen

Brandwidth Group Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, Longon SE1 3XF

Brandwidth Marketing Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF

Brandwidth LLC USA 100 CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,

..os Angeles, CA 90017

Bullet Marketing Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermoendsey Street, London SE13XF

The Blueshirt Group LLC UsA 893 CT Corp Systerm, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,

’ Los Angeles, CA 90017

Circle Research Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF

Charterhcuse Research Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF

Connectiens Media LLC USA 100 CT Corporation System, 1015 15th Street, NW, Suite

1000, Washington, DC 20005

Elvis Communications Limited United Kingdom v 160 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF

Encore Digital Media Limited United Kingdom v 802 1 Spiersbricge Way, Spiersbridge Business Park,

Thomliebank, Glasgow G46 BNG

HPI Research Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF

Hypertext Communications Private Ltd India 100 Unit 506, 5th Floor, Tower B, Miflennium Plaza, Sector

27, Gurgaon ~ 122002, Haryana

Hypertext Ple Ltd Singapore i00 600 North Bridge Road, #23-01, Parkview Square,

Singapore 188 778

IF Agency LLC USA 100  The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Sireet

- Carporation Trust Center, New Castle County.

Wilmington, DE 19801

The Lexis Agency Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Streel, London SE13XF

USA 100  The Carparation Trust Company, 1202 Orange Street

M Booth & Associates LLC

— Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801




27 Subsidiaries continued

Directly  Peccentage

owned vating

Country of by the rights held
Name incorporation  Company by Group Address
MIG Global Consuiting Inc. Canada 100 700 West Georgia Sireet, Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada V7Y 188
Marration LLC UsSA 00 The Corparation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street
~ Corporation Trust Center, New Castie County,
Wilmington, DE 19801
Next Fifteen Communications Corporation USA v 100 The Corporation Trust Company, 1208 Orange Street
— Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County.
Wilmington, DE 19801
Next Fifteen Communications Hong Kong v 100 Unit 1102-04, WF, 299GRC, 297-292 Queen's Road
Hong Kong Limited Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
Next Fifteen Communications Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Next Fifteen Holdcol Limited United Kingdom 100 11 Beif Street, Glasgow G4 0TQ
CDD Communications Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
00D London Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
The QutCast Agency LLC UsA 100 CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Partnermarketing.com Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Planning-inc Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
PMC Investments Limited United Kingdom 100 7% Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Pubiitek GmbH Germany 190 Nymphenburger Strae 168, 80634 Miinchen
Publitek Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Publitek LLC Usa 100 CT Corporation System, 780 Commercial Street SE,
Suite 100, Salem, OR 97301
Pinnacle Marketing United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE! 3XF

Communications Limited

Savanta Group Limited United Kingdom v 712 3 Melville Streel, Edinburgh, Scotland EH3 7PE
Savanta Group LLC USA 100 CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Streel, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
TechAD Limited United Kingdom 160 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Technical Publicity Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Text 100 (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 100 Sandton Close, 2nd Floor Block A, Cnr 5th Street &
Norwich Close, Sandton, Johannesburg
Text 100 AB Sweden 100 Vistmannagatan 4, 11 24 Stockholm
Text 10G BY Nethertands 130 Sitodam 10, 1013 AL Amsterdam, Netherlands
Text 100 Communications Pty Ltd Australia 100 10-14 Waterloo Street, Surry Hills, NSW 2010
Text 100 LLC USA 100  The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Streel
~ Cerporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 12801
Text 100 GmbiH Germany 100 Nymphenburéer Strafte 168, 80634 Minchen
Text 100 International Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Text 100 italy S.R.L aly 100 Piazzale Principessa Clotilde, 8 20121 Milano
Text 100 Limited United Kingdom 100 6th Floor, 110 High Holborn, London WC1V 6JS

SlUaWaBs fepueuly
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Notes to the accounts continued

for the year ended 31 January 2019

27 Subsidiaries continued

Directty  Percentage

owned veting

Country of by the rights held
Name incorporation  Company by Group Address
Text 100 Malaysia SDN. BHD Malaysia 100 Suite 21.01, The Gardens South Tower, Mid Valley City,
Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 KL, Malaysia
Text 100 Pte Limited Singapore 100 36 Prinsep Street #05-01/02, Singapore 188 648
Text 100 Pty Limited Austratia 100 10-14 Waterlco Street, Surry Riils, NSW 2010
Text 100 SARL France 100 17 rue de fa Banque, 75002 Paris
Text 100 S.L Spain 100 cf Prim, 19 5° Planta, Madrid 28004
Text Hundred India Private Limited India 00 2nd Floor, TDI Centre, Plot No7, Jasola,
. New Delhi — 10025
Twogether Creative Limited United Kingdom v 95 75 Bermondsey Street, London SEt 3XF
Twogether Creative LLC USA 100  CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Velocity Partners Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Velocity Partners US Inc. Usa 100 CT Corporation System, 28 Liberty Street, New York,
NY 10005
Viga Research LLC usa 100  The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Crange Street
- Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wwilmington, DE 19801
Vox Pubiic Relations india Private Limited ndia 100 2nd Floor, TOI Centre, Plol No.7, Jasala,
New Delhi - 110025
Vrge Strategies LLC USA 00  The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Crange Street

- Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801

All shares held are a class of Ordinary Shares with the exception of the US LLCs where LLC units are held,

The principal activity of the subsidiary undertakings is digital communications consultancy specialising predominantly in the technotogy
and consumer sectors.

All subsidiary undertakings operate in the country in which they have been incarporated. All subsidisry undertakings listed are
included in the consolidated results. None of the Group's subsidiaries have a non-controlling interest that is individually material
to the Group. As a result the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest under IFRS 12 are not
considered necessary.

The following companies are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit of individual accounts for the year/pericd ended
31 January 2019 by virtue of section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006: Bite Communications Group Limited {04131879), Next Fifteen
Holdcol Limited (SC364548), HP! Research Limited (05816194}, The Lexis Agency Limited (04404752}, ODD Communications Limited
(07861569), Text 100 International Limited (02433862}, August.One Communications internationat Limited (03224261), Partnermarketing.
com Limited (07545480), Bullet Marketing Limited (04842820}, Brandwidth Group Limited (09599858) and Bite Communications
Limited {03023521).
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28 Related-party transactions
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The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Next Fifteen Communications Group plc {incorporated in the United Kingdom and
registered in England and Wales). The Company has a related-party relationship with its subsidiaries (note 27) and with its Directors.
Transactlons between the Company and Its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disciosed in this note.

During the period to 31 January 2019 there were the following related-party transactiens:

Incame Asset Income Assel

impact at year end impact at year end

2019 2019 2018 2018

Brand Services Related party £000 £'000 €'C00 £'000
Biueshirt Consultancy Blueshirt Capital Advisors

Is an associate of Next 15 22 22 29 —

Dividends were paid to Directors of the Company during the year in proportion to their shareholdings in the Cempany. Tim Dyson,
Peter Harris and Richard Eyre received dividends of £338,195, £16,142 and £6,660 respectively (2018: £281,829, £4,152 and £10,125).

Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in note 3.

29 Operating lease rental receivables

As at 31 January, the Group's total future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

2018 2018
£000 £000

In respect of operating leases which wiill be receivable in the period:
Within one year 428 854
In bwo ta five years 1,198 1768
1,626 2,322

30 Events after the balance sheet date
There are no significant post-balance sheet events.
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Company balance sheet
as at 31 January 2019 and 31 January 2018
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2019 2019 2018 2018
Note £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Non-current assets {
Intangible assels 2 910 <00
Tangible assets 3 1,253 1,543
Investments in subsidiaries 4 163,496 130,784
Investment in financial assets 1,335 1142
Deferred tax assets ] 47 —
167,041 } 134,369
Current assets X
Trade and other receivables 5 23,068 23,938
Current tax asset ] 1,991 685
25,059 24,623
Current labilities
Borrowings 5,000 —
Trade and other payables 6 22706 2113
Provisions ] 491 -
Contingent consideration 1,871 3,899
Deferred consideration 2182 4,255
(32,250)| (29.267)
Net current liabilities {7.191) l {4,644)
Total assets less current liabilities 159,850 129725
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 7 20,678 34,465
Other financial liablities 7 10,819 13,941
Provisions 784 —
Deferred tax liability *] — 3
(32,281} {48,409}
Net assets 127,569 81316
Equity
Share capital 10 2,089 1,892
Share premium actount 62,993 28,61
Merger reserve 3,078 3,075
Share-based payment reserve 7925 6,404
Other reserve 26,871 27571
Retained earnings 24,616 13,763
Equity attributable toc owners of the Company 127,569 81,316

The following notes are an integral part of this Company Balance Sheet.

The Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 January 2019 of £16,910,000 (2018: £11,930,000}.

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 2 April 2019.

fel

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer

Company number 01579589




Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 January 2019 and 31 January 2018

Share-
Share based
Share premium Merger paymen! + ESQP Other Retained
capital account reserve reserve resgrve reserve earnings Total
Note £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'o00 £'000 5000
At 31 fanuary 2017 1,834 25,681 3,075 5174 — 26,381 5954 68099
Profit for the period — — — — — — 1,930 1,930
Dividends 10 — — - - - - (3121 (4127
Shares Issued in satisfaclion
of vested share opticns
and performance shares 40 — — {75} — — — {(35)
Shares issved on acquisition 18 2,830 - — - — — 2,948
Movement in hedging reserve - — — — — 1,180 — 1190
Movement in relation to
share-based payments - — - 1,305 — - - 1,305
Movement due to ESOP
share purchases — —_ — — 39) - - (3%)
Movement due to ESOP
sharg option exercises -— — — — 39 - — a9
At 31 January 2018
(as previously reported) 1,892 28,61 3,075 6,404 — 27571 13,763 81,316
Change in accounting policy i
{restated for IFRS 9)' — — - - - — 121 (121
At 1 February 2018 {(as restated) 1,892 28,6M 3,075 6,404 - 2757 13,642 B1195
Profit for the period — — — — —_ — 16,910 16,210
Fair value foss on invesiments
in equity instruments designated
as FVTOC! - — — — — - (693) (693)
Dividends 10 - — - - - — (5243  (5243)
Shares issued in satisfaction
of vested share aptions
and performance shares 68 10,593 - 12} — — — 10,649
Shares issued gn acquisition 24 4,433 — — — —_ oS 4,457
Shares issued on placing 105 19,356 - — — —_ — 19,461
Mavement in hedging reserve — — - - — {700} - {700}
Movement in relation to
share-based payments — — — 1,533 —_ —_ —_ 1.533
Movement due to ESOP ' '
share purchases — — — - (12) - - (12)
Movement due {0 ESQP
share option exercises —_ — — — 12 — - 12
At 31 January 2019 2,089 62,993 3,075 7925 - 26,871 24,616 127569

1 Refer to nate 1 lor the restatement required following adoption of IFRS 9.

The following notes are an integral part of this Company Statement of Changes in Equity.

SIUBWIBIEIS [BIDURUILY
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Notes forming part of the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 January 2019

1 Accounting policies

A. Basis of preparation
Next Fifteen Communications Group plcis 8 company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act. The address of

the registered office is given on page 1i2. The nature of the Campany's operations and its principal activities are set out in the Strategic
Report on pages 1to 21. The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100)
issued by the Financial Reporting Council. These financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial Reporting
Standard 101) ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reparting Councll incorporating the amendments to
FRS 101 issued by the FRC in July 2015 and July 2016.

Tha separate financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial
instruments measured at fair value at the end of each reporting pericd, and are in sccordance with applicable accounting standards
inthe United Kingdom. The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 1to the consolidated financial

statements except as noted below.

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account or
statement of comprehensive income for the year. The profit attributable to the Company is disclosed inthe footnote to the Company's

balance sheet.
The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 4 to the consalidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted tFRS 15 and IFRS 9 in the period, further details of which are disclosed in note 1to the consolidated
financial statements. The impact of adoption of IFRS 9 for the Company in the period is a £121,000 reducticn in retained earnings
relating to the revaluation of the Company's investment in financial assets.

The new standargs and amendments which have net yet been adopted are disclosed in note 1, section U, to the consolidated
financial statements. ’

As permiited by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to
business combinations, share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentaticn of comparative information
in respect of certain sssets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets and related-party
transactions. Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the Group accounts of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc.
The Group accounts of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc are avaitable te the public and are at the beginning of this section.

B. Investments in subsidiaries
An investment in a subsidiary is recognised at cost less any provision for impairment.

C. Going concern )
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position, are set

out in the Strategic Report section of the annual report, which also describes the financial position of the Company; its cash flows,
liquidity position and barrowing facilities; the Company's objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk
management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Directors have a reasanable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

D. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimotion uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies
Thete are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the Directors

have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period that may have

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carying amounts of assets and fabllities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.



1 Accounting puolicies continued

D. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncerlginty continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

[ impaoirment of investments in subsidiaries

Determining whether the Company's investments in subsidiaries have been impaired requires estimations of the investments’ velues
in use. The value-in-use calculations require the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the investments and
suilable discount rates in order to calculate present values. The carrying amount of invastments in subsidiaries at the balance sheet
date was £163m.

. Contingent considerotion, share purchase obligation ond valuation of put options

Contingent consideration and share purchase obligaticns relating to acquisitions have been included based on discounted management
estimates of the most likely outcome. The difference between the fair value ofthe liabilities and the actual amounts payable is charged
to the Consolidated Income Statement as notional finance costs over the life of the associated liability. Changes in the estimates
of contingent consideration payable and the share purchase obligation are recognised in finance income/expense. These require
judgements around future revenue growth, profit margins and discount rates, which, If inappropriate, would resull in a material
adjustment to the value of these liabilities within the next financial year. Further details are contained in note 17 in the Group financial
statements and note 7 in the Company financial statements.

2 Intangible assets

Computer
sofiware
£000
Cost
At 1 February 2018 3,260
Additions Ele)
At 31 January 2019 . 3,561
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 February 2018 2,360
Charge for the year- 29
At 31 January 2019 2,651
Net book value
At 31 January 2019 210
At 31 January 2018 900
3 Tangible assets
Short leasehald Qffice
impravemenis equipment Total
£000 £000 £'900
Cost
At 1 February 2018 } ) 1795 635 2430
Additions — 59 59
At 31 January 2019 1,795 694 2,489
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 February 2018 500 387 887
Charge for the year 218 131 349
At 31 January 2019 718 518 1,236
Net book value
At 31 January 2019 1,077 176 1,263
At 31 January 2018 1,295 248 1,543

SIUSLUALEIS jeIdURUIL

105



Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

4 |Investments

Total
£000

Cost
At 1 February 2018 130,784
Acquisitions’ 12,239
Disposals -—
Increase in investment of subsidiary 15,473
163,496

At 31 January 2019

1 On&February 2018, the Company purchased 100% of the issued share caplial of Brandwidih Group Limited, On 26 QOctober 2018, the Company made an additional investment
In Next Fifteen Communications Corgoration. On 30 November 2018, the Compary made an additional Investment in Next Fifieen Communications Corporation. On 10 Janwary 2019,
the Campany purchnased 100% of the shara capital of Planalitg-inc timited, Refer o nate 26 in the Group financisl statements for further detalls of the acquisitions made

In the year.
The Directors consider the value of investments in subsidiary undertakings to be not less than that stated in the balance sheet of

the Company.

The Company's subsidiaries are those as listed in note 27 of the consolidated financial statements.

5 Trade and other receivables

Company Company
2048 2018
£000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts due frem subsidiary underakings 20,883 21477
Other debtors 1,642 1,954
Prepayments and accrued Income 532 s
Other taxation 1 132
Total trade and other receivables 23,068 23,938

6 Trade and other payables )

Company Company
2018 2018
£'000 £000
Overdraft 8,961 3,877
Trade creditors 513 223
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 1126 14,678
Other taxation and social security 92 N
QOther creditors 22 89
Accruals and deferred income 1,992 2,055
22,706 2113

Total trade and ather payables
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7 Non-current liabilities 2

Company Company “
2019 208
£000 £000
Bank loan' 20,678 34,465
Between one and two years 5,000 —_
Between two and five years 15,678 34,465
After five years —_ —
Contingent consideration 8,227 12,157
Belween one and two years 4,247 2,989
Between two and five years 3,980 9168
After five years — —
Deferred consideration 2,464 1,784
Between one and two years 2,464 380
Between two and five years _— 1424
After five years — —
Share purchase obligation 128 —
Belween cne and two years — —
Between two and five years 128 —
After five years — —
31,497 48 406

Total

1 The entire bank facility is secured on guaraniees from the guarantor poal.

The bank loans are valued at the net proceeds drawn down at the exchange rates prevailing at the time they are drawn. The foreign

currency element of the loans is revalued at the prevailing rate at 31 January 2019

The Company has no fair value Level 1instruments {2018: none). The Company’s investments in financial assets are Level 2 instrumentis
and are measured at historic quoted prices. All other instruments at fair value through profit or loss are Level 3 instruments being the

contingent consideration and share purchase obligation liabilities.

Level 3 financial instruments are valued using the discounted cash flow method to capture the present vaiue of the expected future
economic benefits that will flow out of the Group arising from the contingent consideration or share purchase obligation. They are

not based on observable market data.

8 Provisions

Employment-

related

acquisition
ifabliiles Total
€000 £'000
At 31 January 2018 — —
Additions 1275 1,275
At 31 January 2019 1,275 1,275
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Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 January 2019

9 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided as follows:

Accelerated
capital
allawances Tax losses Other Totat
£000 £000 £000 £000
At 31 January 2017 {52) &7 2 17
Credit{charge) i income 46 (67) 1 (20)
At 31 January 2018 5] — - 3 3)
Credit to income H 17 22 50
At 31 January 2019 5 7 25 a7
10 Share capital and reserves
2019 2018
£000 £000
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
83,563,988 Ordinary Shares of 2.5p each ' 2,089 1,892

For details on ¢hanges 1o issued share capital in the year, please refer to note 20 in the Group financial statements. For details of
the dividends declared and paid in the year, please refer to note 9 in the Group financial statements.

11 Operating leases .
As at 31 January 2019, the Company's total future minimurm Iease rentals are as follows:

2019 . 2018

Land and Land and
buitdings Other buiidings Other
£'000 £000 £:000 £000

In respect of operating leases which will be paid in the following periods:

Within one year ' 1,204 - 916 -
In two to five years 5,053 _— 3,664 —
After five years 1,001 - 913 —
7,258 — 5,493 —

Cperating leases relate to the rental of office space for the Group in the UK.
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12 Related-party transactiens
During the period the Company received the follawing amounts in respect of head office costs and intercompany interest from

undertakings which were not wholly owned at the balance sheet date:

Intercompany interest Rechasges
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January 3 January 31 January
2019 2018 2019 2018
£°600 £000 £'000 £000
Agent3 Limiteg — - 806 5623
Blueshirt Group LLC - — 196 191

AL 31 January the Company had the following intercompany amounts receivable from/{payable tc} the subsidiaries below:

Year ended Year ended

31 January 31 January

2019 2018

£000 £000

Agem3 Limited 2,246 2,020
S (14}

Blueshirt Group LLC

SIHLWBIRIS |eIDUBLIL
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Five-year financial information

for the 12-month period ended 31 January (unaudited}

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
2018 208 2017 2016 2015
IERS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
£'000 000 £'C00 £000 £'00C
Profit and Joss .
Billings 291,037 243485 200,745 151,658 126,159
Net revenue 224,093 196,811 171,013 129,757 109194
Staff costs 153,247 136,346 126,756 274 77108
Operating profit 20,677 17,225 7,914 8,425 (555)
Net finance expense (1.917) {3,955) (4.742) {2,846) {2.577)
Profit before income 1ax 18,825 13,296 2,800 5578 (2.864)
Income tax expense 4,299) {4.000) (1,232) (1116} 1,486
Profit for the year 14,526 9,296 1,668 4,462 1,378}
Non-controfling interests 639 664 530 470 589
Profit attributable to owners of the Parent 13,887 8,632 1138 3,892 (1,867
Balance sheet
Non-current assels 155,028 120,082 107.410 71430 57458
Net current assets 10,792 15,014 15,243 16,159 8,893
Non-current liabilities (54,367) {58.775) (54,156} (34,798) {29,149}
Total equity attributable 10 owners of the Parent 112,529 76,964 67,57} 52,048 37974
Nen-controlling interests (1,076) (643) 926 743 {773}
Total equity 111,453 76,321 68,497 52,791 37202
Cash flow
Profit for the year 14,526 9,296 1,668 4462 (1,378)
Non-cash adjustments and working capital movements 23,856 18569 31176 11,826 5600
Net cash generated from operations 38,382 28,865 32,844 16,288 17,960
fncome tax paid (6,237) (4,284} (1,978) {2,954) (2,316)
Net cash from operating activities 32,45 24,581 30,866 13,334 15,644
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired (19,281) {9,824) (14,548} 4190} {5,544}
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ({5,648) {2,974) (8.284) {6,411) (3.225)
Net cash cutflow from investing activities (37.154) (19,399) (30.592} {20,158) (14,842}
Net cash movement in bank borrowings {10,822) 4,484 11,589 2.871 5,300
Dividends paid 1o ownars of the Parent (5,243) {4121 {3,264} {2,447 (3,008}
Net cash inflowf{outflow) from financing activities 645 {2,034) 8,500 1,459 2,042
(Decrease)increase in cash for the year {4,364) 3148 6,774 4,635 2,844
Dividend per share (p) 756 6.30 525 a2 3.50
Basic earnings per share (p) 17.5 n6 1.6 8.0 (3.23)
Diluted earnings per share (p) 16.3 10.5 15 5.6 {2.91)
Key performancé indicators and other non-statutory measures
Headline staff costs as a % of net revenue! 65.9 67.0 676 £9.3 68.9
Headline EBITDA? 44,733 34,388 28,964 19,176 14,609
Headline profit before income tax® 36,004 29,338 24,200 16.082 12,635
Diluted headline earnings per shave (pj* 331 278 234 16.9 13.2
Net debt® (5177 (1,593) 1.412) (6,618) (8,567)
1 Staff costs exctuding restracturing costs and charges assodated with equity transactions accounted for as share-based payments. See note S of the financiat statements,
2 Operating profit before depreciation, amostisation, acquisition-retated consideration movements, the fmpact of fraudulent activity and other non-recurring items.
3 See note 5 of the financlal statemants.
4 See note \Q of the financial statements.
5 Net debt excludes contingent consideration and share purchase obligations. See nate 19 of the financial statements.



Shareholder information

Financial calendar

Preliminary results

2019 full-year results announcement 2 Apiit 2019
Annual General Meeting 26 June 2019
2020 half-year results announcement October 2019

Year end 31 January 2020
2020 full-year resulls announcement April 2020
Final dividend

Ex-dividend date 13 June 2019

14 June 2019
28 June 2019

Record date
Last date for DRIP election

Payment of 2019 final dividend 26 July 2019
Interim dividend

Ex-dividend date Octoher 2019
Record date October 2019
Last date for DRIP election November 2019

Payment of 2020 interim dividend November 2019

These dates are provisional and may be subject to change.

Annual Genera! Meeting
Flease see page 45 for further details.

Managing your shares and sharehelder communications
The Cormpany's Shareholder register is maintained by its registrar,
Link Asset Services. Information on howto manage your shareholdings
can be found atwww,signalshares.com. Shareholders can contact
Link Asset Services in relation to all administrative enquiries relating
to their shares, such as a change of persona) details, the loss of 8
share certificate, out-of-date dividend cheques, change of dividend
payment methods and to apply for the Dividend Reinvestment Plan.
Shareholders who have not yet elected 1o receive shareholder
documentation in electronic form can sign up by registering at
www.signaishares.com. Should shareholders who have elected
for electronic communications require a paper copy of any of the
Company’s shareholder documentation, or wish to change their
instructions, they should contact Link Asset Services.

Registrar

Link Asset Services
The Registry

34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham

Kent

BR3 47U

Teiephone from the UK: 0871 664 0300

Calls cost 12p per minute plus your phane company’s access
charge. Lines are open Monday to Friday (3.00 a.m.-5.30 p.m.).

Telephone fromt overseas: +44 {0)371 664 0300
Calls cutside the UK will be charged at the appiicable international rate.

E-mail: enquirtes@linkgroup.co.uk

Dividends

Dividends can be paid directly into your bank account. This is
the easiest way for shargholders to receive dividend payments
and avoids the risk of lost or out-of-date cheques. A dividend
mandate form is available fram Link Asset Services or at
www.signalshares.com.

For dividends payable cn or after 6 April 2018 the dividend nil rale
will only apply to the first £2,000 of a person’s dividend income.
Piease refer to HMRC's website www.gov.uk/tax-on-dividends or
seek advice from v prolessiuviigltax adviser if you have any doubt
about how this impacts your tax position.

Link Asset Services is also able to pay dividends to shareholder bank
accounts in many currencies worldwide through the International
Payment Service. An administrative fee will be deducted from
each dividend payment. Further details can be obtained from
Link Asset Sedvices or at hitp:/fips.linkassetservices.com/,

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company operates a Dividend Reinvestment Pian (DRIP)
which enables sharehoiders to buy the Company’s shares on
the London Stock Exchange with their cash dividend. Further
information about the DRIP is available from Link Asset Services.
) shareholders would like thelr final 2019 and future dividends to
qualify for the DRIP, completed application forms must be returned
to the registrar by 28 June 2019, -

Shareholder fraud )
Fraud is on tha increase and many shareholders are targeted
every year. if you have any reason to believe that yau may have
been the target of fraud, or attempted fraud, in relation to your
shareholding, please contact Link Asset Services immediately.

More detailed information can be found on the FCA website
at: www.fsa.gov.uk/consumerinformation/scamsandswindles/
investment_scams/ooiler_room,
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Advisers

Nominated adviser and brokers
Numis Securities

10 Paternoster Square

tondon EC4M 74T

External Auditor
Deloitte LLP

Hill House
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London EC4A 3TR

Bankers
HSBC Bank pic
8 Canada Sguare

- London £14 5HQ

Investor relations
Investor-relations@nextiS.com

Registered office

Next Fifteen Communications Group pic
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